
 
 
Agenda for a meeting of the Health and Social Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 
Thursday, 6 October 2022 at 4.30 pm in Council 
Chamber - City Hall, Bradford 
 
Members of the Committee – Councillors 
 
LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRATS 

Green 

R Jamil 
Humphreys 
Godwin 
Wood 
A Ahmed 
 

A E Coates 
J A Glentworth 
 

A Griffiths C R Hickson 

 
Alternates: 
LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE 
 

LIBERAL 
DEMOCRATS 

Green 

S Akhtar 
Shabir Hussain 
U H Khan 
J Lintern 
Mohammed 

P W Clarke 
P G Sullivan 

A Naylor  C Whitaker 

 
VOTING CO-OPTED MEMBERS: 
Susan Crowe - Bradford District Assembly Health and Well Being Forum 
Trevor Ramsay - i2i Patient Involvement Network, Bradford District NHS Foundation Care Trust  
Helen Rushworth - Healthwatch Bradford and District 
 
Notes: 
• This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 

contacting the Agenda contact shown below. 
• The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if 

Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of 
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be 
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's 
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure 
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded. 

• If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer 
named at the foot of that agenda item. 

From:      To: 
Asif Ibrahim 
Director of Legal and Governance 
Agenda Contact: Asad Shah 
Phone: 01274 432280 
E-Mail: asad.shah@bradford.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack



 

  
A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS 

 
  
1.   ALTERNATE MEMBERS  (Standing Order 34) 

 
The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.   
  
 

 

 
2.   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 
 (Members Code of Conduct – Part 4A of the Constitution) 
  
To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest. 
  
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting. 
  
Notes: 
  
(1)       Members must consider their interests, and act according to the 

following: 
  

Type of Interest You must: 
    
Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests 

Disclose the interest; not participate in the 
discussion or vote; and leave the meeting 
unless you have a dispensation. 

    
Other Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 
OR 
Non-Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 

Disclose the interest; speak on the item 
only if the public are also allowed to speak 
but otherwise not participate in the 
discussion or vote; and leave the meeting 
unless you have a dispensation. 

  
  

  

Other Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 
OR 
Non-Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 

Disclose the interest; remain in the 
meeting, participate and vote unless the 
matter affects the financial interest or well-
being 

 (a) to a greater extent than it affects the 
financial interests of a majority of 
inhabitants of the affected ward, and  
(b) a reasonable member of the public 
knowing all the facts would believe that it 
would affect your view of the wider public 
interest; 

 



 

in which case speak on the item only if the 
public are also allowed to speak but 
otherwise not do not participate in the 
discussion or vote; and leave the meeting 
unless you have a dispensation. 

  
(2)       Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to the Member concerned 

or their spouse/partner. 
  
(3)       Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 

must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.   

  
(4)       Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 
 Standing Order 44. 
  
 
  

3.   INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution) 
  
Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.   
  
Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.   
  
If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.   
  
Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.   

 (Asad Shah - 01274 432280) 
  
 
 

 

 
4.   REFERRALS TO THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Any referrals that have been made to this Committee up to and including 
the date of publication of this agenda will be reported at the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



 

B. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ACTIVITIES 
 
  
5.   UPDATE ON PRIMARY CARE - GENERAL PRACTICE 

 
The Associate Director Primary Care will submit a report (Document 
“H”) which provides members with an update on Primary Care – 
General Practice since the last report provided to this committee in 
September 2021. 
 
Recommended – 
 
Members of the Health and Social Care Overview Scrutiny 
Committee are asked to note the contents of Document “H” 
detailing the current developments in primary care both nationally 
and locally. 
 

(Parveen Akhtar Associate Director – Primary Care) 
 
 
 

1 - 38 

 
6.   ASSESSMENT AND DIAGNOSIS OF AUTISM IN ADULTS IN 

BRADFORD DISTRICT AND CRAVEN: UPDATE ON PROGRESS 
AND CHALLENGES 
 
The Bradford and Airedale Neurodevelopment Service (BANDS) was 
commissioned to provide triage, assessment and diagnosis for both 
ASD and ADHD for adults (over 18) in Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale 
and Craven.   
 
The Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership will 
submit a report (Document “I”) which provides an update to the report 
delivered to this Committee in March 2022.  The March 22 report 
described the Adult Autism pathway, shared experiences of patients 
through case studies, and summarised the plan for improvements to 
the assessment and diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in 
adults in Bradford, District and Craven. 
 
Recommended – 
 
Members are asked to note the revised plan for a sustainable 
BANDS adult autism service which responds to issues of 
recruitment difficulties, referral issues and rapidly increasing 
demand. 
 

(Walter O’Neill) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

39 - 66 

 



 

7.   HOME SUPPORT REVIEW: UPDATE AND COMMISSIONING 
INTENTIONS 
 
The Strategic Director of Health and Wellbeing Adult Services will 
submit a report (Document “J”) which provides an update on the 
Home Support Review, and an overview of the department’s intentions 
to commissioning intentions. 
 
Recommended – 
 
We would welcome the view of members and their constituents 
either at the meeting or the following workshop in late October. 
 

(Alex Lorrison – Joint Commissioning Manager) 
 
 
 

67 - 116 

 
8.   HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 
 
The report of the Interim City Solicitor (Document “K”) presents the 
Committee’s work programme 2022/23. 
 
Recommended – 
 
(1) That the Committee notes the information in Appendix A 

and considers any amendments or additions it may wish to 
make. 

 
(2) That the Work Programme 2022/23 continues to be 

regularly reviewed during the year. 
 

(Caroline Coombs – 01274 432313) 
 

117 - 
122 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 

Report of the Bradford District and Craven Health and 
Care Partnership to the meeting of the Health and 
Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee to be held 
on 6 October 2022              H 
 
 
Subject:  Update on Primary Care - General Practice 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This report and appendices provide HOSC members with an update on Primary Care – 
General Practice since the last report provided to this committee in September 2021.  
 
The report contains an update on the following key areas: 
 

• Summary 
• Background 
• Core local systems and nation planning priorities 
• National Primary Care Review (The Fuller Report) 
• Covid 19 update 
• Primary Care Enhanced Access 
• General Practice Primary Care Core Access 
• Primary Care General Practice Workforce 
• Workforce Development and Care Navigation 
• Primary Care Workforce Health and Wellbeing 
• Community Partnerships 
• Addressing Health Inequalities 

 
We would also like to acknowledge the tremendous efforts our General Practice and 
system partners are making to continue to deliver primary care services, including moving 
back to business as usual, whilst delivering the Covid-19 autumn booster programme, 
within the current workforce challenges and increase in patient needs for access to 
primary care.  

 Portfolio:   
 
Healthy People and Places 
 

Report Contact: Parveen Akhtar 
Associate Director – Primary Care 
Phone: 07795346286 
E-mail: parveen.akhtar@bradford.nhs.uk  

   
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5/

mailto:parveen.akhtar@bradford.nhs.uk


Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

1. Summary 
 

This report and appendices provide HOSC members with an update on Primary Care 
– General Practice since the last update provided to this committee in September 
2021.  

 
The report contains an update on the following key areas: 

 
• Summary 
• Background 
• Core local systems and nation planning priorities 
• National Primary Care Review (The Fuller Report) 
• Covid 19 update 
• Primary Care Enhanced Access 
• General Practice Primary Care Core Access 
• Primary Care General Practice Workforce 
• Workforce Development and Care Navigation 
• Primary Care Workforce Health and Wellbeing 
• Community Partnerships 
• Addressing Health Inequalities 

 
 
2. Background 

 
2.1. Since the last primary care update to HOSC, under the new Health and Care Act 

2022, CCGs were abolished, and Integrated Care Systems (ICS) became live from 
the 1st of July 2022. Under these new arrangements Bradford District and Craven 
Health and Care Partnership has been established and is delegated by our West 
Yorkshire ICS to lead at Place level. Both systems have an explicit purpose to 
improve health outcomes for their whole populations. The new legislative framework 
is designed to enable decisions to be taken as close as possible to their local 
populations for maximum benefits and outcomes delivered by working through multi-
partnership arrangements. 

 
 Previously primary care – general practice was delegated by NHSE to the CCGs, 

under the new arrangements these primary care – general practice delegations have 
been assigned to the West Yorkshire ICS (WYICS) who in turn have delegated this 
responsibility to Bradford and Craven Health and Care Partnership. 

 
 The Health and Care Act 2022 has also directed that Pharmacy, Optometry and 

Dentistry (POD) should also be delegated to the ICS from 1st April 2023. Work is on 
going via design workshops on how and what functions of the PODs will be 
delegated from NHSE to WYICS and then down to Place.  

 (This report does not detail in full the WYICS arrangements as these have been 
presented to the committee in previous reports.) 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 2



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

3. Core local systems and national planning priorities 
 
3.1. National 

 
The NHSE Planning Guidance published for 2022-23 identified the following 10 key 
priorities: 
 

1. Workforce investment, including “strengthening the compassionate and inclusive 
culture needed to deliver outstanding care”. 

2. Responding to covid-19. 

3. Delivering “significantly more elective care to tackle the elective backlog”. 

4. Improving “the responsiveness of urgent and emergency care and community care 
capacity.” 

5. Increasing timely access to primary care, “maximising the impact of the investment 
in primary medical care and primary care networks”. 

6. Maintaining “continued growth in mental health investment to transform and expand 
community health services and improve access”. 

7. Using data and analytics to “redesign care pathways and measure outcomes with a 
focus on improving access and health equity for underserved communities”. 

8. Achieving “a core level of digitisation in every service across systems”. 

9. Returning to and better “pre-pandemic levels of productivity”. 

10. Establishing integrated care boards and collaborative system working, and “working 
together with local authorities and other partners across their ICS to develop a five-
year strategic plan for their system and places”. 

These priorities have been embedded into the CCGs and now the ICSs delivery plans. All 
these priorities link back into primary care, but key focus will be on numbers 5 and 10. 

 
3.2. Local 

 
Bradford District and Craven, Health and Care Partnership have set with partners 5 
key strategic priorities for 2022 – 2024. 
 
Based around the following: 
 
• Purpose - Inverting the Power to Act 
• Population – Recovery from Covid  
• Place – Prevention of ill health 

Page 3



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

• Partnership – Workforce and Organisational Development 
• Spotlight – Children and Young People 

 
These strategic priorities will support us and our system partners to focus on local 
areas to improve health outcomes. By working in partnership, we can share a 
common purpose and get greater value through the best use of resources and 
reduce duplication. Therefore, the health and care partnership have ambitions to an 
agreed 1% shift of funding to invest towards early intervention and prevention. 
 
Review all our programmes including Act as One programmes, such as, Aging well, 
diabetes, better births, children and young people’s wellbeing, healthy hearts, 
Access to health and care. We will be reviewing these programmes to ensure that 
they are still aligned with our key strategic priorities and that they do not overlap or 
duplicate other work programmes. 

 
4. National Primary Care Review (The Fuller Report) 

 
Amanda Pritchard – Chief Executive of the NHS commissioned Professor Claire 
Fuller to lead on the review of primary care and how it could be supported within the 
Integrated Care Systems (ICS). 
 
Following the review, a report was published titled “Next steps for integrating primary 
care: Fuller Stocktake report in May 2022. 
 
An overview of the report findings is detailed below: 
 
Dr Fuller has set out a vision for the future of primary care, with practical actions that 
ICS and national leaders can take to work with primary care to make the changes 
needed to deliver this vision. The vision focuses on four main areas: 
 
• neighbourhood teams aligned to local communities.  
• streamlined and flexible access for people who require same-day urgent access.  
• proactive, personalised care with support from a multi-disciplinary team in 

neighbourhoods for people with more complex needs, and more ambitious and 
joined-up approach to prevention at all levels. 
 

Informed by wide-reaching engagement, the vision builds on what is already working 
in primary care, while recognising work is needed to create stability within general 
practice to deliver change. It outlines the need for a system-wide approach to 
workforce, data, and estates to make more effective use of capacity and capability. 
 
The vision for the future of primary care: 
 
Integrated neighbourhood teams 
 
Systems should support primary care to build on the primary care network (PCN) 
structure by coming together with other health and care providers within a local 
community to develop integrated neighbourhood teams at the 30,000-50,000 
population level. This will help to realign services and workforce to communities and 
drive a shift to a more holistic approach to care. 

Page 4



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

This means putting in place the appropriate infrastructure and support needed to 
build these multi-disciplinary teams, so they can proactively tailor care to meet the 
needs of particular communities and individuals in their local population, with a 
particular focus on the most deprived 20 per cent of their population (Core20PLUS5). 
 
Streamlined access 
 
To improve access, primary care should be supported to offer streamlined access to 
urgent, same-day care and advice from an expanded multi-disciplinary team and 
given the flexibility to adapt their service to local need. Data and digital technology 
should be optimised by systems to connect existing fragmented and siloed urgent 
same-day services, empowering primary care to build an access model for their 
community that gives patients with different needs access to the service that is right 
for them. This will also create resilience around GP practices by connecting patients 
to the practitioner who meets their need, rather than increasing GP referrals to 
additional services, increasing practices’ capacity to deliver continuity of care.  
Personalised care for those who need it, people should be able to access more 
proactive, personalised support from a named clinician working as part of a multi-
professional team. To achieve this, development of neighbourhood teams providing 
joined-up holistic care to people who would most benefit from continuity of care in 
general practice (such as those with long-term conditions) should be supported and 
delivered in partnership with system partners and primary care.  
This model of care should offer greater shared decision-making with patients and 
carers and maximise the role of non-medical care staff, such as social prescribers, 
so people get the care they need as close to home as possible. 
 
Helping people to stay well for longer 
 
There should be a more ambitious and joined-up approach to prevention for the 
whole of health and care with a focus on the communities that need it most. System 
partners should work collectively across neighbourhood and place to share expertise 
to understand what factors lead to poor health and wellbeing and agree how to work 
together proactively to tackle these. 
 
This means building on what primary care is already doing well to improve local 
community health: working with communities, effective use of data, and relationships 
with local authorities while harnessing the wider primary care team including 
community pharmacy, dentistry, optometry, and audiology, as well as non-clinical 
roles. 
 
Creating the environment for change 
 
The report also includes steps that can be taken to create the right environment for 
change: 
 
Locally driven change 
 
• Local decision-making should be maximised to enable the delivery of improved 

support at a local level. NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSEI) should 
consider what investment could be devolved to ICSs as part of the 
implementation of the wider recommendations. 

Page 5

https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/core20plus5/


Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

• NHSEI should also consider combining and simplifying central programme and 
transformation budgets for primary care. 

• Creating the capacity 
 

Workforce 
 
• Workforce capacity remains a huge pressure on primary care. There must be a 

continued focus on recruiting and retaining GPs and the wider primary care 
workforce, alongside optimising current capacity with a long-term, system-wide 
workforce strategy that includes primary care. 

• The report welcomed progress made in recruitment through the Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS). However, it recognised there needs to be 
improvements in supervision, development, and career progression. Systems 
and national leaders also need to support PCNs to deliver the ARRS offer post-
2024. 

• More work is also required to make primary care more attractive to staff by 
addressing work-life balance, parity with other NHS career paths, and making a 
portfolio career more accessible. Training and education to encourage career 
development should be rolled out across primary care, from clinical to 
managerial and reception roles. 
 

Estates 
 
• Estates that are not fit for purpose can impact how well providers can 

collaborate. Therefore, there needs to be greater weighting of capital investment 
to primary care estates, informed by a detailed review of physical space within 
systems to build a one public estate approach. 

• NHSEI and the Department of Health and Social Care should consider what 
flexibilities and permissions should be afforded to systems to build estates 
capability. 
 

Data and digital 
 
• Shared data and digital capabilities can play a big part in joining up services and 

help the whole health and care system to deliver care informed by local 
knowledge. 

• A shared patient record, interoperability and system-level data analysis 
capabilities are essential to planning and delivering service in a coherent way. 

• ICSs should develop coherent plans to data sharing and cross-system IT 
infrastructure, supported by NHSEI. 

• Building sustainability 
 
Infrastructure 
 
• To ensure the right environment for improvement, there needs to be stability in 

general practice across all parts of the country. This can be achieved by: 
o utilising at-scale providers, such as GP federations, to enable general 

practice to work with other providers 
o providing support where there are gaps in provision or services which are 

deemed inadequate by the Care Quality Commission. 

Page 6



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

o back-office support such as HR, finance and organisation development to 
be delivered by at-scale providers such as GP federations or NHS trusts. 

 
• At a national level, there should be consideration of the contractual and funding 

levers needed to create the right environment for integration and improving local 
health outcomes. 

• At a system level, there needs to be accountability for delivery of integrated 
primary care reflected in the ICS accountability framework. This should include 
tailored support to practices to improve and, where appropriate, actively 
commission new providers of integrated list-based primary care that includes a 
focus on quality improvement. 
 

Leadership and representation 
 
• The report outlines the importance of primary care leadership and representation 

across the whole system. It states that investing in  
•  
• leadership at PCN, place and system level will be the difference between 

success and failure in integrating primary care. 
 
The report finishes with a framework for shared actions focusing on 15 areas that 
holds both NHS England and ICSs to account for delivery. These are detailed in 
Appendix K - (The Fuller Review of Primary Care and framework for actions) 
 
 

5. Covid 19 - Update 
 
5.1. Phase 3 Covid -19 update- Bradford District and Craven Strategic Approach: 

 
5.2. As reported in previous reports primary care – general practice and our 12 PCNs 

have played an integral part in supporting the Covid-19 vaccination and booster 
programmes. Though Covid-19 infections are down nationally to combat the risk of 
another widespread epidemic it is important that we continue to deliver the autumn 
Covid-19 booster programme, *3rd covid -19 vaccinations along with the winter flu 
vaccinations. 
*3rd covid vaccination is for those aged 5 and over who had a severely weakened 
immune system when they had their first 2 doses, will be offered a 3rd dose before 
any booster doses. 
 
The JCVI has identified the following priority groups for the Covid-19 booster: 
 
• Residents in a care home for older adults and staff working in care homes for 

older adults. 
 

• Frontline health and social care workers 
 

• All adults over 50 years of age 
 

• Persons aged 5 to 49 years in a clinical risk group 
 

Page 7



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

• Persons aged 5 to 49 years who are household contacts of people with 
immunosuppression  
 

• Persons aged 16 to 49 years who are carers 
 
All our PCNs have either opted in or are working in collaboration with another PCN to 
deliver this year’s booster programme. 
 
Appendix A – Outlines our PCNs arrangements and location of the sites for the 
delivery of the booster programme. 
 
Appendix B – Shows that as a system we have administered a total of 284,353 
covid-19 boosters or 3rd vaccinations indicating 73.2% of our eligible population, with 
approximately 97% representing all patient cohorts that have received a vaccination. 

 
5.3. Long Covid: 
 

Long Covid continues to have an impact on our population. As per 
NICE/SIGN/RCGP guidance, ‘Long COVID’ is a commonly used term to describe: 
 
• ongoing symptomatic Covid-19: signs and symptoms of Covid-19 from 4 to 12 

weeks  
• post-Covid-19 syndrome: signs and symptoms that develop during or after 

Covid-19   and continue for more than 12 weeks and are not explained by an 
alternative diagnosis 

  

NHSE in July 2021 up to March 2022, introduced to primary care – general practice 
an Enhanced Service with financial support to manage patients presenting with Long 
Covid symptoms, including developing pathways and learning from these complex 
conditions. NHSE have renewed the Long Covid Enhanced Service from the 1st  April 
2022 for 12 months and all our practices have signed up to deliver this service. 
 
Currently, our data systems have identified 88 patients with a diagnosis of Long 
Covid, however we are aware from local conversations that the patient numbers are 
likely to be higher than reported and data will improve as practices get used to the 
new clinical coding. 

 

5.4. Practice Closures during Covid-19 
 

We previously reported that 4 of our practices (branch sites) were still unable to open 
due to either workforce capacity or operating under safe covid conditions. We are 
pleased to report that all our practices and branch sites are now open and accessible 
to patients. 

 
5.5. Support to care home residents 
 

We know that older residents are more vulnerable and at risk of covid-19 and 
breakouts in care homes can have a devastating affect not only on individuals, their 
families but also place urgent care and hospital admissions under strain. This year 

Page 8



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

NHSE have asked PCNs to prioritise care home residents for the booster 
programme and complete by the 29th of November 2022 to reduce the risk of a Covid-
19 breakout in our care homes, keep residents safe as well as supporting the winter 
impact and pressures on urgent care. 

 
6. Primary Care – Enhanced Access 
 
6.1. In March 2022 NHS England and Improvement (NHSEI) published requirements for 

the contractual arrangements providing access to primary medical care services 
outside of core hours (8:00am to 6:30pm) to transition to Primary Care Networks 
(PCNs) from 1 October 2022. 
 
This requires a transition from previous commissioning arrangements for equivalent 
services. In Bradford District and Craven, the existing contractual arrangements for 
appointments outside of core hours consist of: 

 
a) CCG Commissioned Extended Access Service (defined as 7 days a week 

before 8.00am and between 6.30pm to 8.00pm) 
 

b) PCN Funded Extended Hours Access Service (defined as working week 
before 8.00am and between 6.30pm to 8.00pm) 

 
Locally these two services have been merged and delivered as a single access 
scheme providing a 7-day GP appointments service. This includes appointments 
offered before 8am or from 6:30pm to 8pm on weekdays and is inclusive of service 
provision on weekends and Bank Holidays. 

 
The new national requirements formally merge these arrangements into the single 
Enhanced Access service to be delivered by PCN’s in Network Standard Hours i.e., 
6.30pm to 8pm Mondays to Fridays and 9am to 5pm on Saturdays, from the 1st 
October 2022. 

 
6.2. New PCN Enhanced Access Requirements 

 
Enhanced Access has been introduced to the PCN DES from October 2022. 
Requirements for the PCNs from 1st October 2022 can be summarised as: 

 
a) 6.30pm and 8pm Mondays to Fridays and between 9am and 5pm on Saturdays 

(network standard hours).  
b) A minimum of 60 minutes of appointments per 1,000 PCN adjusted populations 

per week. 
c) GP cover during the network standard hours. 
d) Appointments must be bookable in advance and same day. 
e) Must deliver a mixture of in person face to face and remote. 
f) PCNs must deliver general practice services, including appointments for planned 

care like screening, vaccinations (including COVID-19 vaccinations and 
boosters) and immunisations, health checks and PCN services. 

Page 9



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

g) Appointments must be delivered by a multi-disciplinary team of healthcare 
professionals. 

h) Must make available to NHS 111 any unused on the day slots during the 
Network Standard Hours.  

i) PCNs must actively communicate availability of Enhanced Access appointments 
to patients.  

j) Sites at which face-to-face services are to be provided must be at locations 
convenient to access for patients. 

 
These criteria are important to note again now as some of the new requirements will 
see a change to access, particularly on Sundays and Bank Holidays that no longer 
form part of the PCN Network Standard Hours. Nationally feedback has been DNA 
rates are high during these periods leading to the change in national policy. 

 
Appendix C – Details new Enhanced Access arrangements from the 1st October 
2022. 

 
7. General Practice - Primary Car Access during core hours 
 
7.1. General practices are contractually required to deliver core primary care services 

and makes these accessible to their patients from the hours 8.00am to 6.30pm 
Monday to Friday. 

 
7.2. This includes same day urgent and pre-bookable appointments. Since the pandemic 

primary care -general practice has seen a significant increase in demand. However, 
following a return to pre-pandemic appointment levels for 2021 / 2022, the number of 
GP appointments delivered shows a moderate increase into 2022 / 2023. 
 
As of June 2022 (359,297) appointments were delivered in Bradford District and 
Craven an increase of (14,767) on the previous year and an increase of almost 
60,000 appointments in comparison to pre-pandemic levels  

 
The mode of delivery for appointments also shows an increase in Face-to-Face 
appointments. 231,057 appointments have been delivered Face-to-Face an increase 
of 10,338 appointments, approximately 60% of total appointments are currently 
delivered Face-to-Face.  

 
Practices are currently transitioning from NHSE’s directive of ‘Total Triage’ as 
established in the Covid response, i.e., remote appointments as a precursor to Face-
to-Face appointments, to models of service delivery that accommodate increased 
patient preference for direct in person appointments, whilst still maintaining covid 
safe environments. 

 
Workforce pressures to meet service demand remains a pressure point for Primary 
Care. Though appointment levels have increased by approximately 60,000 
appointments in comparison to pre-pandemic the Full Time Equivalent GP staffing 
rates have remained at 0.6 per 1,000 patients for the same period.  
 

Page 10



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

E-consults continue to be used more so by the younger cohort of patients and have 
achieved a steady state since first introduced during the beginning of the Covid 
pandemic. ICS is looking to procure a new e-consult software model later in the year. 
 
The following Appendices D to I and Appendix J gives a further breakdown of the 
various types of access data: 
 
• Appendix D GP appointment 
Appendix D – shows total appointments delivered within primary care as of June 
2022, which is the last published national data set. Though we have seen an overall 
increase of additional (14,767) appointments compared to last year (7,904) of these 
appointments delivered from December 2021 to March 2022 were because of 
additional *winter access funding being made available centrally, which enabled GP 
practices to take on additional staff and locum GPs. 
*There is no indication at the time of writing this report that any further winter 

access funding will be made available to primary care for 2022. 
 

• Appendix E Mode of GP Appointments 
Appendix E –  shows mode of GP appointment types, over 60% of all appointments 
were delivered face to face, followed by telephone consultations. As per patient 
demand and change in national direction of offering all patients a face to face if they 
so wish we are seeing a steady increase. 
  
• Appendix F Time Taken from Booking to Receiving an Appointment 
Appendix F -  details time taken from patients requesting and booking an GP 
appointment. A significant number of our patients can book a same day 
appointment, whilst those waiting over the 2 weeks wait time is below a 1000. 
 
• Appendix G GP Online Consultation / e-Consult Data 
Appendix G – Shows e-consult usage and rates per 1000 population, there has 
been some decline compared to last summer, this in part is due to more patients 
requesting and seen by either face to face or telephone appointment. 
 
• Appendix H Consults by age 
Appendix H – shows patients using e-consult by age. Those aged between 25 to 64 
appear to by the highest users of this method of contacting general practice and 
receiving information via e-consult. We will be exploring this further, but it could be 
due to younger age group being more comfortable using technology and working 
age patients who may find it more convenient to fit around their working hours. 
 
• Appendix J – Patient 111 Calls (April 21 to June 22 Data) 
Appendix J – Shows call made to the 111 service, 53.2% of these calls are non -
urgent and patients referred into primary care. 
As part of the new access arrangements, we are working 111 call handlers to be 
able to directly book patients into general practice appointments slots as well as our 
enhanced access providers systems. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

8. Primary Care general practice workforce 
 

8.1. Primary Care general practice workforce continues to be a challenge. Despite 
national and regional recruitment campaigns there are not enough GPs coming into 
the system and those that are do not see our Place as an attractive proposition. 
Table 1 below shows the GP to Patient Ratio on the previous CCG footprints.  
 
Compared to the same time last year Bradford District and Craven is down by 2 GPs. 
However, these figures are taken from a national data set which we are aware has 
recording issues, as well as including locums into these overall figures.  
 
Table 1 

 
 

Table 2 below also demonstrates that the more deprived a PCN the less likely it is 
able to attract and retain full time GPs 

 
 
Table 2 
 
GPs per PCN 

 

 

Page 12



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

We have commissioned our local Health Education England, Training Hub team over 
the next 12 months to carry out a review of our current GPs and Practice Managers, 
modelling how many are likely to leave general practice through retirement or other 
planned moves. This will then enable us to work with system colleagues and primary 
care on future workforce capacity and develop future development and recruitment 
plans. 

 
  
8.2. Additional Role Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) 
 

Under the Primary Care Network DES, PCNs are able to recruit to additional new 
roles under the ARRS to further boost and compliment the primary care workforce 
and free up GP time for those patients that need to be seen by a GP, whilst the wider 
ARRS workforce can focus on patients with low level needs. 

 
The following ARRS are shared amongst the practices within a PCN and are 
nationally funded at 100% apart from Mental Health Practioners which are 50% 
nationally funded via the ARRS scheme and 50% via the Mental Health Foundation 
Trust.  

 
• Clinical Pharmacist 

 
• Pharmacy Technician 

 
• Social Prescribing Link Worker 

 
• Health and Wellbeing Coach 

 
• Care Co-ordinator 

 
• Physician Associate 

 
• First Contact Physiotherapists 

 
• Dieticians 

 
• Podiatrists 

 
• Occupational therapists 

 
• Mental Health Practitioner 

 
• Paramedic 

 
• Nursing Associate 

 
Our ARRS allocation based upon our PCNs population size is approximately £7.8m, 
the table 3 below shows current ARRS roles that are employed within our PCNs, with 
data taken from the national ARRS reporting portal which is usually a few months 
behind actuals. 

Page 13



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

 
Table 3 
 

 
 

However, despite the additional investment PCNs are struggling to find enough 
capacity in the labour workforce market to meet demand. Primary care estates are 
another key issue in being able to accommodate the ARRS roles. 
 
We are working PCNs and at ICS level to develop our future estates strategies that 
can support a future integrated primary and community care service. 

 
 
8.3. Promoting Additional Primary Care Roles and news ways to access 
 

Making use of Winter Access funding from NHS England, the Access to Primary 
Care communications campaign is an insight-led campaign across Bradford District 
and Craven to support colleagues working in primary care by increasing public 
awareness of the ARRS and range of services at GP practices, and how they can be 
accessed.  The campaign aims to support general practice teams and improve 
patient care by increasing the public’s understanding of the different services offered 
by healthcare professionals at GP practices and encouraging patients to access 
these services via the most suitable routes.  

 
The campaign has been developed with colleagues at Magpie, a creative behaviour 
change agency. Together, we have worked with patient groups and primary care 
staff across Bradford District and Craven to co-create the most effective campaign 
approach and messaging. 
 
 Patients identified that the campaign needs to; 
 
• Show the different ways in which GP practices can be accessed 

 
• Remove the mysticism around how triaging works 

 
• Frame Primary Care staff as a team of specialists 

 
• Show real routes to care that meant people avoided taking time away from work 

or children out of school 
 

• Reinforce the expertise of Primary Care staff and raise awareness of some of the 
common medical problems that they’re trained to deal with 
 

• Address our audience in an empathetic tone 
 
Patients participating in the research overwhelmingly used (and preferred) the 
phrase ‘GP Practice’. The resulting campaign, ‘It’s a GP Practice thing’, which 

Role/FTE
Social 

Prescriber 
Link Worker

Pharmacist Physio
Physicians 
Associate Paramedic

Pharmacy 
Technician Podiatrist

Occupational 
Therapist

Nursing 
Associates

Trainee 
Nurse 

Associate

Practice 
Manager

Practice 
Nurses

Bradford District & Craven 4.0 28.1 2.8 8.3 5.7 2.0 0.0 2.5 1.0 3.0 112.7 136.0

Page 14



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

showcases the multi-disciplinary roles within GP practices and how each role can 
help patients, has been built on behavioural science.   

 

The campaign will launch in early October 2022 and will feature images of local staff 
to reflect the local communities.  Materials which will be made available to practices 
will include posters and leaflets, as well as digital images and a video how-to guide 
for accessing practice online services, which will be shared via social media, 
websites and screens in practice waiting areas.  The materials have been carefully 
designed to ensure accessibility for varying levels of literacy and for those whose first 
language is not English and will be translated into a number of key local community 
languages.   

 

9. Workforce Development and Care Navigation 
  

Making use of Winter Access funding from NHS England, Conexus, a GP federation 
in Wakefield, were commissioned to review Care Navigation across Bradford District 
and Craven and identify future training needs to ensure a consistent approach 
across all practices.  Since 2016, Conexus has successfully developed a safe, 
sustainable, and scalable care navigation model that has been rolled out nationwide.  
Care navigation is a tried and tested model of care that improves access to primary 
care services for patients whilst also reducing pressure on GPs. It allows frontline 
staff to provide patients with more information about local health and wellbeing 
services, both within and outside of primary care, in a safe, effective way. Care 
navigation offers the patient ‘choice, not triage’ to access the most appropriate 
service first, which - as is well evidenced - is not always the GP. Over 30% of 
practices in England and 27% of practices in Wales have care navigators who have 
been trained by Conexus Healthcare. 
 
Conexus began with an initial stocktake, using a survey shared with practices and 
data from the Care Navigation dashboard to understand how Care Navigation was 
being implemented across Bradford District and Craven Place.  Following this, and in 
consultation with Primary Care colleagues, Conexus has developed a bespoke 
package of training to refresh and enhance previous Care Navigation training and 
up-skill frontline General Practice primary care staff.   
 
Conexus are currently working with PCNs to determine a delivery plan with training 
commencing from October 2022, to suit practice and PCN needs.  The training 
available is designed to empower all staff and practices to deliver care navigation 
consistently and robustly and will include provision of essential skills training i.e., how 
to support and advise patients, conflict resolution and management, assertiveness 
skills, communications skills etc.   

 

Conexus will also work with PCNs to validate and update Care Navigation templates 
to facilitate Care Navigators in sign-posting and referring patients to the most 
appropriate service to meet their needs in a timely and efficient manner.  Using Care 
Navigation rather than referring all patients directly to a GP by default improves 
patient care by making best se of the wider clinical workforce in primary care, 
ensuring access to the member of staff with the most suitable skills to meet patient  

Page 15



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

needs and is often quicker than waiting for a GP appointment.  It will also support 
and develop particularly our front-line staff on how to communicate more effectively 
with patients, being mindful of the patient’s circumstances, whilst making best use of 
available both clinical and other resources.   
 
As part of our PCN and Primary Care Organisational Development Plan we will 
further build on this work to create a more sustainable and resilient workforce. 

 

 

10. Primary Care workforce – Health and Wellbeing 
 
Primary Care faces the challenges of staff being absent due to the affects of Covid, 
as well the stress and pressures of working within primary care general practice. 
Both locally and nationally incidents of abuse and violence to staff from patients is on 
the increase and at an WYICS level and national there has been a targeted 
campaign of “zero tolerance to NHS staff”. 
 
We have also worked with YORLMC colleagues to develop health and wellbeing 
offers for GPs and practice nurses and are exploring other ways of supporting 
general practice staff. 
 
Nationally the number of referrals to the “Health Practioner Programme” (this is a 
programme) to support GPs who are struggling to continue to practice has increased 
by a third over the last 16 months.  
 
We are consistently working with our Local Medical Committee (LMC) colleagues to 
look at ways we can protect and support our staff. 

 

11. Community Partnerships 
 

Community Partnerships were established across Bradford and Craven in 2017/18, 
bringing together representatives from statutory health and care providers, voluntary 
sector organisations, Local Authority neighbourhood teams and others. The intention 
was to work on prevention, bring focus to the wider determinants of health and adopt 
an asset-based approach in local communities.  
 
There are 12 Community Partnerships within the Bradford district (plus 1 in Craven). 
They are based on groups of GP Practice populations of around 50k and are co-
terminus with Primary Care Networks (PCN’s). 
 
Community Partnerships have a clear potential to address Health Inequalities at the 
level of local populations and the conclusions of two recently commissioned local 
reports (Hambleton and Farrer) support this approach. In addition, the Fuller 
Stocktake into Primary Care advocates the development of neighbourhood 
approaches by PCN’s. At the same time, the Core 20 + 5 framework for tackling 
health inequalities (which recognises the impact of deprivation on health outcomes 
alongside the needs of particular groups) together with the redefined 5 Place Based 
Partnership priorities (including Healthy Communities) provide the overarching 
context for prioritisation and planning in the coming months. 

Page 16



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

 
Whilst this is all consistent with the work undertaken in the past 12/15 months, there 
is now an opportunity to pick up the pace. The next steps will, therefore, involve the 
following: 
 
Work to further develop Community Partnerships will be overseen by the new 
Healthy Communities Board and will sit alongside other community initiatives 
including those, such as Care Coordination, where PCN’s will be key players. 
 
• Close working with enabling programmes, such as Living Well and Reducing 

Inequalities Alliance, as well as other priority areas such as MHLDN.  
 

• The development of Locality based collaboratives building on existing work to 
align Community Partnerships with Locality footprints. This will create greater 
potential for both more integrated service planning and delivery as well as local 
accountability. It will offer greater opportunities for enhanced partnership working 
at scale around defined shared priorities and the ability to connect better with the 
wider determinants of health and wellbeing through Locality Planning 
arrangements. 

 
• A series of Locality based workshops is being organised, beginning in October. 

These will follow on from the initial meeting of the new Healthy Communities 
Board. They will bring together the key health, care and VCS stakeholders in 
each Locality and will give impetus to joint prioritisation and planning 
arrangements. 
 

There is additional resource to support this work in the form of Core 20 + 5 
implementor posts for the 6 Community Partnerships with the most deprived 
populations and Community Partnership/Locality development posts for each of the 5 
Localities. 

 
 
12. Addressing Health Inequalities 
 

12.1. Health Inequalities Premium 
 
As part of the ‘Fairer Funding’ review of all locally commissioned services, the Health 
Inequalities Premium (HIP) contract and service specification were recently 
refreshed and renewed with practices.  The thirty-five practices which were identified 
as having the greatest risk of health inequalities were included in the HIP contract to 
incentivise initiatives to reduce health inequalities.  The practices were identified 
using a calculation based on Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) scores, as well as a 
funding matrix which considers factors not included in the Carr Hill formula (this is 
the national formula on price per a patient in general practice), such as deprivation, 
ethnicity, life expectancy, poverty, long term condition prevalence, polypharmacy and 
Covid 19.   
 

Page 17



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Practices may choose to focus on any of the metrics from the Bradford District and 
Craven priority list.  A mapping exercise has been carried out to identify alignment 
and overlap between local HIP priorities and other ICS and national primary care 
metrics.  Practices have been encouraged to focus on a HIP initiative which aligns 
with Core20Plus5 priorities, which is a national NHS England and NHS Improvement 
approach to support the reduction of health inequalities, focussing on the 20% most 
deprived population, plus other key minority groups, for example, people with a 
learning disability and autistic people, people experiencing homelessness.   
Core20Plus5 identifies 5 areas of clinical focus:  

• Maternity 
• Severe Mental Illness 
•  Chronic Respiratory Disease 
•  Early Cancer Diagnosis 
•  Hypertension 
•  and a local priority indicator focused on children and young people. 

 
The aim of the HIP is to improve patient care by encouraging practice to work even 
more closely with its most vulnerable communities and provide additional support to 
individuals to improve health outcomes.  Some examples of initiatives that have been 
proposed by practices are: 
 
• Increasing cervical screening rates 
• Reducing rates of smoking in pregnancy 
• Increasing uptake of flu, pneumococcal and covid-19 vaccines 
• Support improvements for patients with diabetes  

• Increasing annual health checks for people with serious mental illness or 
learning disabilities. 

 
Community Partnerships and PCNs across the patch are at different stages of their 
development and how they work with each other and localities to reduce health 
inequalities, improve health outcomes and life expectancy in our most deprived 
areas. 
 
The PCNs delivery plan up to 2023  in Appendix I lists its 5 overall objectives 
including its priority is to focus on addressing health inequalities.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Table 4 below details our 12 PCNs and population size covered. 
 
Table 4 
 

 
  

13. Members may wish to comment on the contents of the report. 
 
14. Recommendations 
 

Members of the Health and Social Care Overview Scrutiny committee are asked to: 
 

Note the contents of this report detailing the current developments in primary care 
both nationally and locally. 

 
15. Background documents 
 

None 
 
16. Not for publication documents 
 

None 
 
17. Appendices 
 
17.1. Appendix A: Autumn Winter Covid Campaign 
17.2. Appendix B: Covid Vaccinations 
17.3. Appendix C: 1st October PCN Enhanced Access Summary 
17.4. Appendix D: GP Appointments 
17.5. Appendix E: Mode of GP Appointments 
17.6. Appendix F: Time taken from booking to receiving an appointment 
17.7. Appendix G: GP Online Consultation /e-Consult Data 
17.8. Appendix H: Consults by age 
17.9. Appendix I: Summary of PCN Objectives 2021/22 and 2022/23 
17.10. Appendix J: Patient 111 Calls (April 21 to June 22 Data) 
17.11. Appendix K: Fuller Review and Framework for Shared Actions 

Page 19



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: A  
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 20



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: B  
 
 
 

 
 
 

P
age 21



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: C  
 1st October PCN Enhanced Access Summary 

PCN Model of 
delivery 

Minutes / 
Hours 
Required: 

Hub Locations: Primary Medical 
Care Services 
included in the 
delivery model: 

Indicative 
proportion of 
Face-to-Face 
appointments: 

Evidence of Patient 
Engagement: 

Non-Network 
Standard Hours 
Included: 

Affinity PCN Model 3,662.9mins 
/ 61.05 hrs 

Shipley Health Centre 
(North PCN) 
 
The Willows Medical 
Practice (West PCN) 
 
Sunnybank Medical 
Practice (South PCN) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 

50% PCN Patient Survey and 
Patient Council meetings. 

Potential to include 
non core hours 
provision 7am to 
8am. 

AWC 
Modality 

PCN Model 5,513.42 
mins / 91.89 
hrs 

Fisher Medical Centre 
(Craven) 
 
Farfield Group Practice 
(Airedale) 
 
Silsden Medical Practice 
(Wharfedale) 
 
Central Hall (Keighley 
Community Hub) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Community 
Outreach 

53% Health Inequalities award 
(engagement with faith 
centres, colleges, 
community centres). 
PCN Patient Survey SMS 
to all patients. 
Social Media posts. 

No P
age 22



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

WACA PCN Model 4,449.23 
mins / 74.15 
hrs 

Ilkley Medical Centre 
(Wharfedale) 

Townhead Surgery 
(Craven) 

Ling House Surgery 
(Airedale) 
Dyneley House Surgery 
(Craven) 
Varied additional 
community outreach 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Community 
Outreach 

50% PPG 
WACA Extended Access 
Patient Survey 
GP Patient Survey 

Sunday mornings 
included as 
alternative to 
Saturday afternoon. 
This provision 
confirms overall 
required minutes are 
met. 

PCN Model of 
delivery 

Minutes / 
Hours 
Required: 

Hub Locations: Primary Medical 
Care Services 
included in the 
delivery model: 

Indicative 
proportion of 
Face to Face 
appointments: 

Evidence of Patient 
Engagement: 

Non Network 
Standard Hours 
Included: 

Bingley 
Bubble 

BCA 
Subcontract 

2,544 mins / 
42.41 hrs 

Bingley Medical Practice 
 
Saltaire & Windhill (Idle 
Medical until 
renovations completed) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Physio 

55% Place based Patient 
Survey (results pending) 
 
Extended Access Patient 
survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

P
age 23



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

BD 4+ BCA 
Subcontract 

2,909.97 
mins / 48.50 
hrs 

Bowling Hall Medical 
Practice 
 
Hillside Bridge Medical 
Practice (weekends) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Physio 

68% Place based Patient 
Survey (results pending) 
 
Extended Access Patient 
survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

Bradford 
North West 

BCA 
Subcontract 

3,092.11 
mins / 51.54 
hrs 

Ashwell Medical 
Practice 
 
Picton Medical Practice 
(weekends) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Physio 

68% Place based Patient 
Survey (results pending) 
 
Extended Access Patient 
survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

PCN Model of 
delivery 

Minutes / 
Hours 
Required: 

Hub Locations: Primary Medical 
Care Services 
included in the 
delivery model: 

Indicative 
proportion of 
Face to Face 
appointments: 

Evidence of Patient 
Engagement: 

Non Network 
Standard Hours 
Included: 

P
age 24



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Five Lane 
Ends 

BCA 
Subcontract 

2,239.18 
mins / 37.32 
hrs 

Moorside Medical 
Practice 
 
Saltaire & Windhill (Idle 
Medical until 
renovations completed) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Physio 

60% Place based Patient 
Survey (results pending) 
 
Extended Access Patient 
survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

PCN 4 BCA 
Subcontract 

2,864.70 
mins / 47.75 
hrs 

Picton Medical 
PracticePicton Medical 
Practice (weekends) 

GPNurseScreening
PharmacyVaccinati
onsMental 
HealthPhysio 

64% Place based Patient 
Survey (results 
pending)Extended Access 
Patient survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

PCN 5 BCA 
Subcontract 

3,637.72 
mins / 60.63 
hrs 

Barkerend Medical 
Practice 
 
Hillside Bridge Medical 
Centre (weekdays and 
weekend) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Physio 

75% Place based Patient 
Survey (results pending) 
 
Extended Access Patient 
survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

P
age 25



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

PCN Model of 
delivery 

Minutes / 
Hours 
Required: 

Hub Locations: Primary Medical 
Care Services 
included in the 
delivery model: 

Indicative 
proportion of 
Face to Face 
appointments: 

Evidence of Patient 
Engagement: 

Non Network 
Standard Hours 
Included: 

PCN 6 BCA 
Subcontract 

3,178.79 
mins / 52.98 
hrs 

Park Grange Medical 
Practice 
 
Picton Medical Practice 
(weekends) 
 
Little Horton Lane 
Medical Centre (Core 
Hours)* 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Physio 
Paediatrics (core 
hours) 
Health Inequalities 
clinic (core hours) 

91% Place based Patient 
Survey (results pending) 
 
Extended Access Patient 
survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

Bradford 
South (PCN 
7) 

BCA 
Subcontract 

3,987.29 
mins / 66.45 
hrs 

The Ridge Medical 
Practice (main site) 
 
Picton Medical Centre 
(weekends) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Physio 

77% Place based Patient 
Survey (results pending) 
 
Extended Access Patient 
survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

WISHH 
(North 
Bradford 
PCN) 

BCA 
Subcontract 

2,172.60 
mins / 36.21 
hrs 

Saltaire & Windhill (Idle 
Medical until 
renovations completed), 
(weekdays and 
weekends) 

GP 
Nurse 
Screening 
Pharmacy 
Vaccinations 
Mental Health 
Physio 

64% Place based Patient 
Survey (results pending) 
 
Extended Access Patient 
survey 

Additional 60mins 
appointments on 
Sunday 10am to 
2pm. 

 

P
age 26



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: D  
 
NHS Digital GP appointment snapshot for Bradford District and Craven and GP appointment data presented in a bar chart (Source NHSD) 
 
 

 
 
 
*Data inclusive of additional 7,904 appointments delivered through Winter Access Funding applicable to Dec 21 to March 22  
 

P
age 27



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: E 
 
Mode of GP Appointments 
 

 
 
 

P
age 28



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: F 

Time Taken from Booking to Receiving an Appointment 

 

 
 

P
age 29



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

 Appendix: G 
GP Online Consultation / e-Consult Data 

1.) Usage (11,472) and Rate of Submissions (21.91): 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

*Data does not include AWC Modality PCN GP Online Consultation submissions 
 

P
age 30



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: H 
2.) Consults by Age: 

 
 

 
 

P
age 31



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: I 
 
Summary of PCN Objectives 2021/22 and 2022/23 
 
The table below sets out the 5 key objectives for PCNs in 2021/22 and 2022/23, and how different elements of the Network Contract DES will 
support them. 
 
Key Objectives. 
Aligned to general practice priorities, LTP 
priorities and NHS response to Covid-19 

Service requirements 
New requirements introduced in 
a phased way will support the 
key 
objectives 

IIF Indicator areas of focus 
Financial indicators to improve and reward performance 
against DES Service requirements and wider NHS priorities 

1. Improving prevention and tackling health 
inequalities in the delivery of primary care – 
PCNs will be required to identify high need local 
populations and tailor services to them, as well 
as address inequalities in rates of diagnosis for 
cardiovascular disease and cancer. 

• Tackling Neighbourhood 
Inequalities 

• CVD Diagnosis and 
Prevention 

• Early Cancer Diagnosis 
• Personalised Care 

• Progress towards the national ambitions for: 
o Learning Disability Health Checks 
o Flu vaccinations to at-risk groups 
o Closing the hypertension diagnosis gap 
o Personalised care interventions e.g. social prescribing 

• More complete recording of ethnicity in patient records 
2. Support better patient outcomes in the 
community through proactive primary care – 
including delivery of the Enhanced Health in 
Care Homes and Anticipatory Care services 
through multidisciplinary teams, offering more 
personalised services which will help people 
avoid unnecessary hospital admissions 

• Tackling Neighbourhood 
Inequalities 

• Anticipatory Care 
• Enhanced Health in Care 

Homes (EHCH) 
• Personalised Care 

• Delivery of key elements of the EHCH model and 
associated moderation of care home resident 
emergency admissions 

• Moderated admissions for ambulatory care sensitive 
conditions (ACSCs) 

3. Support improved patient access to primary 
care services – implementing a PCN-based 
approach to extended access provision, and 
rewarding PCNs who improve the experience of 
their patients, avoid long waits for routine 
appointments and tackle the backlog of care 
resulting from the Covid-19pandemic 

• Extended Access service 
requirements 

• Delivery of all new services 
will support improved 
access for particular 
cohorts. 

• Improved patient experience of accessing general 
practice 

• Reduction in the proportion of patients waiting longer 
than two weeks for a routine general practice 
appointment 

• Improved provision of online consultations 
• Increased utilisation of Specialist Advice services, and 

P
age 32



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

community pharmacist consultations 

4. Deliver better outcomes for patients on 
medication – including through the delivery of 
Structured Medication Reviews to priority patient 
cohorts, and through targeting prescribing 
behaviours known to improve patient safety. 

• Structured Medication 
Reviews and Medicines 
Optimisation 

• Improved provision of SMRs to priority groups 
• Targeted prescribing behaviours known to improve 

patient safety 
• Supporting more preventive treatment of asthma 

through increased use of inhaled corticosteroids. 
5. Help create a more sustainable NHS - 
through reducing the carbon emissions 
generated by asthma inhalers. 

• Structured Medication 
Reviews and Medicines 
Optimisation 

• Encouraging clinically appropriate inhaler switching to 
low-carbon alternatives 

 

P
age 33



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: J 
 
 

 

P
age 34



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

Appendix: K 

 Fuller Review and Framework for Shared Actions 

 

Page 35



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

 

Page 36



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Report of the Bradford District and Craven Health and 
Care Partnership to the meeting of the Health and 
Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee to be held 
on 6 October 2022 

I 
 
 
Subject:  
 
Assessment and Diagnosis of Autism in Adults in Bradford 
district and Craven: Update on progress and challenges 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
The Bradford and Airedale Neurodevelopment Service (BANDS) was commissioned to 
provide triage, assessment and diagnosis for both ASD and ADHD for adults (over 18) in 
Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven.   
 
This report and appendices provide an update to the report delivered to this Committee in 
March 2022.  The March 22 report described the Adult Autism pathway, shared 
experiences of patients through case studies, and summarised the plan for improvements 
to the assessment and diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in adults in Bradford, 
District and Craven. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 Portfolio:   
 
Healthy People and Places 
 

Report Contact: Walter O’Neill 
Phone: (07432 721557 
E-mail: walter.oneill@bradford.nhs.uk 

   
 
 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6/



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

  

1. Summary 
 
The Bradford and Airedale Neurodevelopment Service (BANDS) was commissioned to 
provide triage, assessment and diagnosis for both ASD and ADHD for adults (over 18) in 
Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven.   
 
This report and appendices provide an update to the report delivered to this Committee in 
March 2022.  The March 22 report described the Adult Autism pathway, shared 
experiences of patients through case studies, and summarised the plan for improvements 
to the assessment and diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in adults in Bradford, 
District and Craven. 
 
In particular, the report detailed the plan agreed at the MH, LD and ND Programme Board 
which focussed on 3 key areas: 

1. Continue to strengthen the Autism Assessment Pathway (adults) through 
expanding existing BANDS service to increase capacity and patient throughput 

2. Engage with NHS and independent providers for rapid, short term, expansion in 
capacity for clinical assessments 

3. Engage with ICS to explore system approaches to ASD assessment and diagnosis 
 
At the Committee meeting it was agreed that, by March 2023 the BANDS service would 
deliver: 

• 100 assessments through SWYFT 
• 100 assessments through the Independent sector 
• 56 assessments through core BANDS service 

It was also agreed that commissioners and BANDS managers will return to this 
Committee to share progress and/or changes to the plan; 

• Oct 2022 - informal session and briefing note 
• March 23- Report to full committees on performance – demonstrate at least 80% of 

projected assessments are completed.  Demonstrate a plan for sustainability and 
continued improvement of service. 
 

This update to the Committee provides details on the progress, challenges and revisions 
made to plans since March 2022.  Recognising the Committee has new members and a 
new Chair, some information from previous reports is included for information and context. 
 
 
2. Background 
 
Autism is a lifelong neurodevelopmental condition, the core features of which are 
persistent difficulties in social interaction and communication and the presence of 
stereotypic (rigid and repetitive) behaviours, resistance to change or restricted interests. 
The way that autism is expressed in individual people differs at different stages of life, in 
response to interventions, and with the presence of coexisting conditions such as learning 
disabilities (also called 'intellectual disabilities').  
People with autism also commonly experience difficulty with cognitive and behavioural 
flexibility, altered sensory sensitivity, sensory processing difficulties and emotional 
regulation difficulties. The features of autism may range from mild to severe and may 
fluctuate over time or in response to changes in circumstances. (NICE Clinical guideline 
[CG142]) 
 

Page 40



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

1% of the general population is estimated to have autism and 50% of those to have 
intellectual disability. For Bradford the autistic only population is calculated at 3,147 by 
2025 (Pansi dataset). 
 
In response to section 2 of the Autism Act 2009, the Department of Health published 
‘Fulfilling and Rewarding Lives’, The Strategy for adults with autism in England (2010) 
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20170207052351/https://www.nao.org.u
k/wp-content/uploads/2009/06/0809556.pdf  
The Government’s vision is that ‘All adults with autism are able to live fulfilling and 
rewarding 
lives within a society that accepts and understands them. They can get a diagnosis and 
access support if they need it, and they can depend on mainstream public services to treat 
them fairly as individuals, helping them makes the most of their talents”. It outlines five 
quality outcomes: 
 
1. Adults with autism achieve better health outcomes 
2. Adults with autism are included and economically active 
3. Adults with autism are living in accommodation that meets their needs 
4. Adults with autism are benefiting from the personalisation agenda in health and social 
care, and can access personal budgets 
5. Adults with autism are no longer managed inappropriately in the criminal justice system 
 
The Bradford and Airedale Neurodevelopment Service (BANDS) was commissioned in 
2015  to provide triage, assessment and diagnosis for both ASD and ADHD for adults 
(over 18) in Bradford, Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven.  The value of the contract has 
increased from £98,000 in 2015 to £152,000 in 2021.  N.B. The NHS commissioning 
budget for BANDS, Adult Autism assessment, diagnosis and support service is 50% of the 
total BANDS budget - £75,000 p.a.  Core staffing consists of: 
 
Lead Autism Clinician  x1     FTE 
Autism HCA    x1     FTE 
Admin    x 0.5 FTE 
 
Nice guidance states that the local autism partnership should lead on the development of 
a multi professional pathway and be responsible for ensuring people are trained (all front 
facing staff) and reasonable adjustments are made, etc.   Adult Social Care Services plan 
to bring together a new vision/plan for integrated care and support pathways/networks  
including good information and advice, Early Intervention and Prevention (EIP) services 
will support individuals as well as diagnosis and pathways into adult social care/ housing/ 
disability employment advisors, etc.   
 
The prevalence data contained in the 2019 Public Health report, LEARNING DISABILITY 
AND AUTISM IN BRADFORD -  A Health Needs Assessment   will be used to help 
understand potential demand for adult diagnosis services and will contextualise something 
of the challenge faced by commissioners and providers of services to support adults with 
needs linked to ASD. 
https://jsna.bradford.gov.uk/documents/Mental%20wellbeing/05%20Learning%20Disability
%20Health%20Needs%20Assessment/Learning%20Disability%20and%20Autism%20in%
20Bradford%20-%20April%202019.pdf 
 
The NHS Bradford District and Craven Health and Care Partnership Board (BDC HCP) 
also commissions services to support adults with autism with social, education and 

Page 41

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20170207052351/https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2009/06/0809556.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20170207052351/https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2009/06/0809556.pdf
https://jsna.bradford.gov.uk/documents/Mental%20wellbeing/05%20Learning%20Disability%20Health%20Needs%20Assessment/Learning%20Disability%20and%20Autism%20in%20Bradford%20-%20April%202019.pdf
https://jsna.bradford.gov.uk/documents/Mental%20wellbeing/05%20Learning%20Disability%20Health%20Needs%20Assessment/Learning%20Disability%20and%20Autism%20in%20Bradford%20-%20April%202019.pdf
https://jsna.bradford.gov.uk/documents/Mental%20wellbeing/05%20Learning%20Disability%20Health%20Needs%20Assessment/Learning%20Disability%20and%20Autism%20in%20Bradford%20-%20April%202019.pdf
https://jsna.bradford.gov.uk/documents/Mental%20wellbeing/05%20Learning%20Disability%20Health%20Needs%20Assessment/Learning%20Disability%20and%20Autism%20in%20Bradford%20-%20April%202019.pdf


Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

employment needs through Specialist Autism Services and Sacar, through an annual 
budget of £61,000 
 
3. Report issues 
 
Update on progress, challenges and revisions made to plans since March 2022  
 
Vision 
The Bradford and Airedale Neurodevelopment Service (BANDS) aims and objectives are 
to deliver a clinically led, resilient Adult Autism pathway providing clinical triage, 
assessment, diagnosis and support.  We will provide a service that has capacity to meet 
demand and can respond to new referrals within the NICE recommended timeline of 12 
weeks.  We will offer both clinical and social care services that support adults with ASD to 
have information and access training, employment and leisure across Bradford district and 
Craven (BdC).   
 
Planning and implementation  
The Bradford District and Craven ND project group meets monthly to design and manage 
improvements to adult autism and ADHD pathways (Appendix 5, Project Plan)  
Faced with setbacks around workforce and recruitment to plans to expand the BDCFT 
BANDS service, the project team took a resilient approach to develop an innovative plan 
for partnership between BANDS and SWYPFT, putting the principles of our newly formed 
Integrated commissioning System (ICS)  into action.  The new plan builds on SWYPFTS 
proven pathway and  ability to recruit.  The plan is ambitious in scope to create a 
sustainable model that can meet increased demand.  The new model also takes 
advantage of BANDS existing networks with BdC referrers and the wider system.  We 
have also worked to increase integration between health, social care and VCS services, 
ensuring that people can have information about, and be signposted to, the organisations 
that can help them. 
 
Resources (actual) 

• £374,000 non-recurring NHSE Transformation Fund Allocation, over 2 years.  Will 
part fund the new model of service and expansion of options for support.   

• £100,000 CCG and SWYPFT (joint funded) non-recurring funds to outsource 100 
assessments to SWYFT 

• £75,000 BDCFT/BANDS Adult Autism core funding (block contract) 
 
Resources (proposed) 

• £250,000 recurring funding is needed to fund a new, sustainable model for BANDS 
– a business case is to be presented to System Finance and Performance 
Committee in October 2022. Recurring funding will support the recruitment process, 
attracting more and better-quality applicants. 
 
 

Challenges and Responses The challenges we face in realising this vision are not 
unique to BdC but are also being experienced regionally and nationally.   
Capacity and demand - Referrals for assessments for autism assessment continue to rise 
across Bradford and West Yorkshire, substantially outstripping current capacity (see Table 
1) New referrals are as many as 50 per month, whilst the core capacity of the current 
model is 3 to 5 assessments per month. 
This will be addressed through a new model of service and an expanded pathway for 
adults with autism (see tables 2 & 3) which can process 50 referrals per month.  The new 

Page 42



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

model includes a process of clinical triage to provide early identification of those referrals 
where the information provided is not consistent with a presentation of a person who has 
Autism as described by the diagnostic criteria such as DSM-5.   
 
 
Table 1 - No of people waiting for first Appointment 
 

 
 
Table 2 – Capacity and demand gap 
 

 
 
Table 3 – new Bands adult autism referral process 
 

 
 
 
Workforce - Due to the small size of the BANDS team, BDCFT have been unable to 
recruit to new posts and, since May 2022, both existing staff have resigned. 
This is being addressed by entering a partnership with SWYPFT, who have a proven 
record of recruitment to their multi-disciplinary staff team of 35 people, providing services 
across 3 CCGs. 

Page 43



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Staff have already been recruited for the 100 assessments project and recruitment has 
started to replace core BANDS staff.   
 
Referrals – in the existing model, clinical time has been used asking referrers for 
additional information and the quality of assessment has been affected by insufficient 
information being available.  In the new model, an additional step is introduced to offer a 
30 minute face to face meeting with the patient to gather all the information and evidence 
available for assessment.   
 
Partnership 
The new model is built on developing the partnership between BDCFT/BANDS and 
SWYPFT, putting the principles of the WY Integrated Care System into practice.   
There is now joint recruitment to posts, building on SWYPFTs reputation and success, as 
well.  The revised model of service will increase clinical capacity and  end excessive 
waiting times. The expanded adult with ASC pathway will increase the quality of referrals 
which leads to better outcomes and improved options for support.  There will be education 
for staff within social care and health to recognise, assess and meet the needs of adults 
with ASC around education, leisure, and employment  
The 100 assessments project is ready to begin face to face assessments from Sept 2022 
and the new model will commence from  Feb/March 2023.  
Through increased co-working with a Bradford based VCS organisation, Specialist Autism 
Services, we hope to increase the support for young people with ASC in transition from 
children’s to adult services and into education and employment. 
 
Outcomes 

• Improve capacity of Adult Autism Pathway to meet demand 
• Waiting times to access service to be reduced to NICE guideline levels 
• Improved quality of referrals  
• Improved experience of the Adult Autism Pathway 

 
Revised Plan for the Assessment and Diagnosis of Autism in Adults in Bradford 
district and Craven 
 
Action Update 
  
Outsourcing 100 
assessments 
through SWYPFT 
 

• Estate secured for local, face to face delivery of assessments at Hillside 
Bridge  

• Data sharing agreement in place 
• Clinical triage of 126 people from waiting list complete 
• Staff recruitment complete 
• Initial communication to patients complete 
• Additional step introduced to improve quality of referrals – pre-

assessment meeting 
• Assessment activity to commence September  2022 
• see Appendix 1 for projected activity 
 

Outsourcing 100 
assessments 
through the 
independent 
sector 

• Change of focus to more sustainable and quality improvement to 
BANDS through partnership working with SWYPFT 

• Resource diverted to support contracted outsourcing of 250 ADHD 
assessments from Clinical Partners 

• 250 people removed from adult ADHD waiting list of 887 
• Activity begins Sept 2022 
 

Page 44



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

56 assessments 
through BANDS 
 

• This has not progressed as planned 
• Recruitment issue: Despite support from internal and external HR 

specialists, BANDS unable to recruit to advertised roles. 
• Resignations: 2 existing staff left the service in May 22 
• Resilient approach and revised plan to deliver a sustainable and high 

quality service:  
• Partnership with SWYPFT developed to include new service 

model, joint recruitment to posts and management support; 
• Clinical lead support from Dr Sara Humphrey 

 
New Service Model 
Phase 1 

Phase 1 recruitment – beginning Sept 2022 
• 1 x Band  8a Psychologist and 
• 1 x  Band 4 Psychology assistant  

 
• Joint recruitment to new posts from Sept 2022 
• on-going leadership, referral management and triage of 600 referrals for 

autism each year 
• Clear backlog of referrals  
• Reduce yearly waiting list increase from 560 to 50 
• total investment £166,752 per annum  
 

New Service Model 
Phase 2 

Phase 2 recruitment  
• 1 x Band 7 Psychology assistant  

• Revised Adult ASD Pathway, inc. improved quality of referrals, 
education, and non-clinical support 

 
 
The BDCFT/Bands and SWYPFT Partnership 
  
Provide 
emergency 
support to BANDS.  
May 22 – Dec 22 

• Review the backlog of referrals.  
• Apply a Clinical Triage approach to referrals 
• Stabilise the waiting list 
 

Support with the 
BANDS waiting 
list. 
May 22 – Mar 23 

• SWYPFT contributed  50% towards assessing 100 patients from the 
BANDS waiting list. 

• Deliver a face to face SWYPFT service in Bradford, in collaboration with 
BANDS 

• Communication wit patients – 126 people from waiting list have 
received a letter explaining the process (appendix 2) 

• new step to pathway introduced – initial face to face meeting to gather 
in depth referral information 

• Initial steps commenced, assessments begin September 2022 
 

Build up BANDS 
through 
partnership with 
SWYPFT 
Aug 22 – Dec 22 
 

• Advertising to joint posts based on core funding and transformation 
funding 

• Agree an  operational model  
• Clinical Lead, Dr Sara Humphrey 
• Revise GP ASSIST Pathway – pilot new referral process (Appendix 3) 
• Review and expand non-clinical support  
 

Expand BANDS to 
create a 
sustainable model 
Dec 22 – March 23 

• kick start the new service model through core and development funds 
• demonstrate a track record of success and develop a business case for 

sustainability 
• Apply to our Health and Care Partnership for recurring funding 
 

 

Page 45



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
BDMDC – Adult Social Care support and new developments in post-diagnosis and non-
clinical support for adults with ASD 
 
 Bradford Local 
Offer 

Information on current services and support available for both children and 
adults with Autism can be found on the Bradford Local Offer.  
https://localoffer.bradford.gov.uk/  
General information for adults with care and support needs can be found at 
Connect to Support. 
https://bradford.connecttosupport.org/ 
 

Support for 
families and carers 
 

Support for families and carers of children and young people (up to 25 
years) with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) is offered by 
the Parents’ Forum for Bradford and Airedale.  
 
The Carers’ Resource service provides support for carers who are defined 
as people who, without payment, provide help and support to a friend, 
neighbour or relative who could not manage otherwise because of frailty, 
illness or disability 

Workforce 
training: (new) 
 

• Introduction to Neurodiversity – all staff 
• Working with autistic people – social workers who work directly with 

people with autism;  
• Level 3 Certificate in understanding Autism (A level equivalent), which 

once complete will have trained 20 social workers – the course 
commences in September,  

• 48 places on a virtual Autism experience bus. This is an immersive 
training experience to allow participants to understand how autism 
affects people day to day and how to make adjustments to support 
autistic people. 
 

Outcomes for training 
• All staff are aware of autism and neurodiversity and how it might 

present in work, at home, in care settings and the community; Identify 
practical strategies to support neurodivergent individuals in a range of 
day to day situations; Understand how to support neurodiversity people 
and make reasonable adjustments  

• Staff who work directly with autistic people understand what Autism is 
and the varied presentation of autistic people understand the main 
characteristics which lead to a diagnosis of Autism; Understand the 
range of difficulties and challenges that autistic people can experience 
in everyday life; Have an understanding of policy and legislation that 
underpins good practice; Understand how to make practical adaptations 
and adjustments to make services accessible to autistic people 

 
Supported 
Employment: 
(new) 
 

• BDMDC has been awarded grant funding bid from DWP of £350k  
funding for a local supported employment initiative (LSE) for people with 
autism. 

• This new service will support 100 Autistic people into paid employment 
over the project which will commence next month and is funded until 
March 2025. 
 

Supported Employment Initiative: 
• Using a structured 5 stage supported employment model support 100 

Page 46



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

autistic people into sustainable paid employment; provide a job coach to 
work with individuals through the entire process of gaining employment; 
to support employers with reasonable adjustments, understanding the 
needs of autistic people and how they can be an asset to their 
business; at the end of the project have a sustainable model and robust 
evidence base to extend the programme post 2025 

 
 
 
Sacar/Specialist Autism Services, delivering post-diagnostic and non-clinical support for 
adults with ASD 
 
  
Autism 
Engagement   

• Increase opportunities for adults with an ASC across the district (social 
skills training) 

• Support social engagement 
• Support health and wellbeing 
• Increase awareness and understanding 
• Support to parents / carers of adults with an ASC by providing respite 

and encouraging independence / skills development 
 

Autism Works provides  a tailored supported employment programme to  increase 
confidence, employability and overall health and well-being 
•     Includes peer support , passport to work , work orientation visits,  
       volunteering, paid work opportunities  etc  
•     Supports health & wellbeing – person centred reviews, evaluate  
       progression and development. 
•     Increases the overall confidence of adults with an ASC through   
       increased social skills, employability, social inclusion and  
       independence.   
 

 
 
This plan will be shared with a number of BDC HCP boards between August and November 
2022 
 
Board Date Outcome 
   
Performance and Commissioning Forum 01/08/2022  Supported 
System Quality Committee 23/08/2022 and 03/2023 Supported 
Place Leadership Team                                       28/09/22 and 3 monthly  
HSCOSC Committee                                                           06/10/2022 and 02/2023  
System Finance and Performance Committee 27/10/2022  
   
 
 

4. Options 
 
Members may wish to comment on the revised plan for a sustainable BANDS adult 
autism service and to endorse the application for recurrent funding to the System 
Finance and Performance Committee. 

 
 
 
 

Page 47



Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

5. Contribution to corporate priorities 
 
This plan supports the BDC HCP priority; Parity of esteem for access and 
outcomes for people with Learning disability / neurodiversity  

 
 
6. Recommendations 

 
6.1 Members are asked to note the revised plan for a sustainable BANDS adult autism 

service which responds to issues of recruitment difficulties, referral issues and 
rapidly increasing demand 

 
7. Background documents 
 
➢ None 
 
8. Not for publication documents 
 
➢ None.   
 
9. Appendices 
 
Appendix 1    Projected activity for 100 assessments project 
Appendix 2   Letter to patients re next steps 
Appendix 3    BANDS adult autism assessment process 
Appendix 4    Summary of Adult Autism monthly dataset report, Nov. 21 to July 22 
Appendix 5    BdC ND Project Plan 
 
 

Page 48



Bradford Autism Project Outline Flow 2022

Physician Associate recruited to post. Complete

Assistant Psychologist interviews 11/07/2022 Complete

Assumptions: 51% 61% Starting Phase Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Week 4

Screening ADOS Further Ax Clinic hours Clinic days Physician Associate 2 2 2 2

50 26 16 276 46

DNA 110% 55 29 18 306 51

Leave 120% 66 35 22 369 62 Clinic days needed 2 2 2 2

Building Phase Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Week 4

Physician Associate 2 2 2 2

4 Week period Screening ADOS Further Ax Clinic hours Clinic days Assistant Psychologist 1 1 1 1

1 8 0 0 24 4 Starting Phase Diagnostician 1 1

2 8 4 2 42 7 Clinic days needed 2 2 2 2

3 8 4 2 42 7

4 8 4 2 42 7 Optimum Phase Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Week 4

5 8 6 4 54 9 Physician Associate 2 2 2 2

6 8 6 4 54 9 Assistant Psychologist 1 2 1 2

7 8 6 4 54 9 Diagnostician 1 1 1 1

8 8 6 4 54 9 Clinic days needed 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

64 36 22 366 61

Building Phase

Optimum Phase

This plan is contingent on recruitment to posts:

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



What happens when  
I’m referred for an adult 
autism assessment

You have been referred for an adult autism assessment 
 
You will be invited to a face-to-face appointment to 
gather more information for your referral.  This will take 
about 30 minutes

The adult autism service check the referral to see if:
a. You already have a diagnosis
b. There is enough information from the GP or social 

worker
c. The information suggests you MAY have autism

If it looks like you might have autism, you will be sent a 
pack with questions to answer and send back. 

An autism specialist called a ‘screening clinician’ looks at 
your answers and invites you to have a chat with them. 
This may take place over a few appointments. This part 
is called information gathering. 

The autism team look at all the information together and 
decide what the outcome is. The outcomes will be either:
a. They’re not sure and need to investigate a bit more
b. Yes, you have autism 
c. No, you don’t have autism (they might suggest you 

have a different condition) 

The autism team will let you and your social worker or GP 
know the outcome. They will both tell you what support 
is available if you want it. 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

JO
B

 N
O

 2731 A
U

G
 22

In partnership with:
Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust 
South West Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Leaflet co-produced by Kirklees Autism Group

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



23/09/22

1

BANDS - Adult Autism assessment process:

Request for 
referral 

received by 
service 

(System 1)

Referrals are 
clinically 

triaged based 
on information 

on referral 
form and notes

Offer 
screening 

assessment 
using 

history and 
AAA

30 minute 
face to face 

meeting 
with 

assistant 
clinical 

psychologist 
to produce 

referral.

Letter to referrer 
explaining why

Possible 
Autism

Possible 
Autism Offer ADOS

Autism 
on 

ADOS?

Full History, 
ADI-R etc

Autism

Refer to 
Social Care

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

YES YES YES YES

NO NONO NO

Request for 
referral 

received by 
service 

(System 1)

Referrals are 
clinically 

triaged based 
on information 

on referral 
form and notes

Offer 
screening 

assessment 
using 

history and 
AAA

30 minute 
face to face 

meeting 
with 

assistant 
clinical 

psychologist 
to produce 

referral.

Letter to referrer 
explaining why

Possible 
Autism

Possible 
Autism Offer ADOS

Autism 
on 

ADOS?

Full History, 
ADI-R etc

Autism

Refer to 
Social Care

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

YES YES YES YES

NO NONO NO

BANDS - Adult Autism assessment process:

Page 53



23/09/22

2

Request for 
referral 

received by 
service 

(System 1)

Referrals are 
clinically 

triaged based 
on information 

on referral 
form and notes

Offer 
screening 

assessment 
using 

history and 
AAA

30 minute 
face to face 

meeting 
with 

assistant 
clinical 

psychologist 
to produce 

referral.

Letter to referrer 
explaining why

Possible 
Autism

Possible 
Autism Offer ADOS

Autism 
on 

ADOS?

Full History, 
ADI-R etc

Autism

Refer to 
Social Care

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

YES YES YES YES

NO NONO NO

BANDS - Adult Autism assessment process:

Request for 
referral 

received by 
service 

(System 1)

Referrals are 
clinically 

triaged based 
on information 

on referral 
form and notes

Offer 
screening 

assessment 
using 

history and 
AAA

30 minute 
face to face 

meeting 
with 

assistant 
clinical 

psychologist 
to produce 

referral.

Letter to referrer 
explaining why

Possible 
Autism

Possible 
Autism Offer ADOS

Autism 
on 

ADOS?

Full History, 
ADI-R etc

Autism

Refer to 
Social Care

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

YES YES YES YES

NO NONO NO

BANDS - Adult Autism assessment process:

Page 54



23/09/22

3

Request for 
referral 

received by 
service 

(System 1)

Referrals are 
clinically 

triaged based 
on information 

on referral 
form and notes

Offer 
screening 

assessment 
using 

history and 
AAA

30 minute 
face to face 

meeting 
with 

assistant 
clinical 

psychologist 
to produce 

referral.

Letter to referrer 
explaining why

Possible 
Autism

Possible 
Autism Offer ADOS

Autism 
on 

ADOS?

Full History, 
ADI-R etc

Autism

Refer to 
Social Care

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

Report to referrer 
explaining why not -

signpost

YES YES YES YES

NO NONO NO

BANDS - Adult Autism assessment process:

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Metrics Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Jul-22

No referrals received 41 35 48 40 57 43 59 33 26

No of referrals accepted 22 26 35 29 34 28 44 30 18

Referrals rejected (breakdown of reason)

Refused By Service 16 8 12 9 21 10 2

Inappropriate Referral 1 1 2 1 2 8 1 1

No of people waiting for first Appointment 237 260 290 324 346 364 421 444 439

No of people receiving first appointment in period 3 5 2 1 8 3 - 1

No of people waitiing for  Diagnosis 243 267 297 332 357 366 421 445 440

Number of patients receiving confirmed diagnosis of autism 0 1 1 0 1 8 1 -

Number of patients receiving a  diagnosis of no autism 

spectrum disorder 3 4 2 2 0 4 0 -
Average time waited from referral to diagnosis of autism 

spectrum disorder (days) - 479 509 - 519 557 566 -

Source of referrals (Breakdown)

General Medical Practitioner 40 34 46 40 48 32 42 29 26
Internal Referral 1 1 2 2 3

Patient/Parent 7 7 17 4

self 1

Autism Diagnostic Assessment monthly totals

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ID Activity Responsible Start Date Planned Completion 

Date

Comments

Project Plan (Timeline) for Adult Autism

1 - Adult Autism Partnership:

SWYPFT and BDCFT to work in partnership to a 4 point plan

a. provide emergency support to BANDS. Review the backlog 

of referrals. 

b. Support with the BANDS waiting list. SWYPFT contributed  

50% towards taking 100 patients off the BANDS waiting list.

c.  Build up BANDS;  advertising to joint posts based on core 

funding already available to BANDS; agree an  operational 

model 

d.  Expand BANDS - demonstrate a track record of success in 

the first three steps and develop a business case for 

sustainability

WON/KB/MA 13/12/21 30/09/22 16/02/22; WON updated re SYFT

23/02/22;  CCG have discussion booked with SWYFT DOF to discuss plan

KF has updated plan for use of Transforming Care funds

16/03/22; Agreement made for 100 assessments, including triage

Initial plan shared to implement SWYT service

25/04/22  WON shared update - Action: WON to invite SWYT to future meeting to share plan for delivery of 100 assessments.           

22/06/2022 Wanting to see progress now on the 100 assessments. Marios to be added to this group from next week. Mel Pickup wants numbers regarding SWYFT.S1 and assist referrals, 

only referrals can be done on S1.                                                                                                                                                                                                                   29/06/2022  Action: Kelly to email 

Bernard/Marios to create a timeline around activity/progress. 

17/08/2022 Ellen from SWYFT shared costings with Walter around model of service and take 600 referrals per annum. Phase 1 is recruit 2 staff and have a waiting list of 50 pa, 2nd phase 

appoint a B7 also and  this will remove need for patients to go on a waiting list.  

Action: Walter/Kelly/Finance to arrange meeting to look at and review figures.     

Additional step to process introduced - short face to face meeting to improve quality of referral.   Deliver service from Hillside Bridge.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

1a - Adult Autism Partnership: a. provide emergency support to BANDS. Review 

the backlog of referrals. 

WON/KB/MA 01/06/22 30/09/22 10/06/2022; 70 referrals shared to be looked at. 

13/06/2022;  Marios checked the first 30  Autism referrals from BANDS and the referral management process  is working fine. Marios will  ask our Consultant Clinical Psychologist to take 

over this so we will be catching up quickly with backlog.  Otherwise, the referrals are of extremely poor clinical quality

The interphase between the BANDS pathways needs improving; there are letters of BANDS ADHD asking GP to make a referral to BANDS Autism. 

15/06/22: 50 referrals now checked

17/08/2022: providing leadership cover for BANDS and referral management cover. Work  to improve processes and have meetings with local stakeholders. 

1b - Adult Autism Partnership:  b. Support with the BANDS waiting list. SWYPFT 

contributed  50% towards taking 100 patients off the BANDS 

waiting list.

WON/KB/MA 01/06/22 30/09/22 08/06/2022 Bernard updated SWYFT have S1 access but need access to where waiting list is should be sorted this week. SWYFT writing to 100 people on the list and to see if they still want 

an assessment, giving them 2 weeks to respond. (SWYFT believe only 50 will respond if this is the case they will take another 50 and do the same.                                                   15/06/2022 

SWYFT waiting list S1 access has been resolved. Marios made a start, Referral form wants changing, shouldn’t take long to change the template. Marios made clear point that our referral 

process was poor. Kelly talked about the contractual position, may need MOU agreement in place as its just moving the same money around but in a new way not new money. MOU 

between CCG and SWYFT.Marios is triage new patients now as well, 70 on waiting list he has taken 30 of them already, checking and then passing onto his psychologist for handover, will just 

continue to do this going forward. Regular admin meetings are ongoing.

20/06/20; contract finalised

28/06/22; update from 100 letters  sent from the waiting list.

74/100 people have opted in to triage.

23/100 did not respond so will be discharged.

3/100 were discharged due to being OOA or an inpatient.  

Next Step;  BANDS admin to send another batch of letters from the waiting list until we hit the number 100. Then we can start our Triage.

4/7/22: Project Activity Plan shared (see Tab 4, Capacity Plan 100)

08/07/2022  Group reviewed and approved a leaflet SWYPFT will send to patients referred for appt

17/08/2022 : on track and recruitment for this has been completed. From this 126 people were removed from the BANDS waiting list and 100 are waiting triage before we end up with 50 

appointments. Option to introduce a new step to our pathway to ensure better quality referrals. Service ready to begin Sept 2022, from Hillside Bridge 

1c - Adult Autism Partnership: c.  Build up BANDS;  advertising to joint posts 

based on core funding already available to BANDS; agree an  

operational model                                                      Recruitment:

From June 2022, plan agreed to recruit to posts in partnership 

between BDCFT and SWYPFT - Phase 1

1 x Band  8a Psychologist and

1 x  Band 4 Psychology assistant 

WON/KB/MA 13/12/21 19/05/22: Discussed with WON and Ali Jan, can confirm to Kelly and Bernard they can recruit with SWYFT for the BANDS roles - KF to notify - initial plan involves recruit only to roles to 

replace core roles, BDCFT need to give SWYPFT written confirmation of funding for those roles.                                                                                                                                                      

25/05/2022 Discussed the above. Action: Bernard to send SWYFT written confirmation regarding joint recruitment to posts.                                                                                                                                                                                                 

08/06/2022 - Bernard working with SWYFT to sort out the logistics and contractual arrangements of doing this jointly. This will include the 187k for 2 years.

24/06/2022 - Meeting to discuss joint recruitment of BANDS posts o	1 x Band  8a Psychologist and Band 4 Psychology                                                                                        20/07/2022 - Marios 

update, Finishing draft job description, but on with it

17/08/2022  - Costings received from SWYPFT. total investment £166,752 per annum for Phase 1 recruitment and £77k per annum for Phase 2 recruitment 

1d - Adult Autism Partnership: d.  Expand BANDS - demonstrate a track record 

of success in the first three steps and develop a business case 

for sustainability

WON/KB/MA 01/06/22 30/09/22 17/08/2022  - Costings received from SWYPFT. total investment £166,752 per annum for Phase 1 recruitment and £77k per annum for Phase 2 recruitment 

2 - Adult Autism Performance;

Monthly BANDS dataset report 

WON/KB 13/10/21 On-going 25/05/2022 GK to receive dataset and then share with group on monthly basis.                                                                                                                                                          

29/06/2022 Set-up Meeting with both BI teams (Walter/Bernard/Darren/Raj) to discuss requirements                                                                                                                06/07/2022 Won 

requests the dataset start to include the work SWYFT are doing - Triage/Letters going out and numbers dropping off due to no replies.                            18/07/2022 Meeting held with both BI 

data teams, to discuss existing datasets and new requirements. Raj to amend dataset and to include agreed amendments.  Action: GK to set-up follow up meeting - 

Won/Kris/Bernard/Darren/Raj.                                                                                                                                                                                  

20/07/2022 - BH/Marios - Discussed how to include the work done by SWYT into the dataset, used to be done manually but want it doing automatically. Action Bernard to meet and see 

how this can be progressed.  Need to show how many people, month by month, will come off the waiting list.

06/09/2022: Won/Gareth/Darren/Ellen met to discuss including SWYFT data into the monthly data reports.

P
age 59



3 - Adult Autism Governance:

T&FG  continue to meet weekly to plan, manage and review 

service development

WON/GK 22/11/21 26/01/22; capacity issues impacting on consistent BDCFT attendance

A Taylor, CBMDC joined group

S Leonard, CBMDC to be invited to attend group

9/2/22: additional BDCFT and CBMDC reps have joined group                               

20/07/22: Angela added Carine Baker (Commissioning manager Autism/ND) to join T&FG.

4 - Adult Autism Governance:

Senior overview and support to be provided by T Patten, D 

Sims and AJ Haider

AJH 13/12/21 First meeting Jan 2022

3/8/22 - suggest meeting to plan for HOSC  

17/08/2022 Meeting is going ahead later today

5 - Adult Autism Referral Pathway

Adult ASD referral Pathway and GP Assist Pathway 

clarification update from WON. 

Support referrers with ASD awareness training

WON/BH 23/02/22 31/03/22 16/03/22  Top Tips has been sent to Val ? (GP) 

There is a recorded session on website and training material has been produced.

Action: Bernard will identify key materials and WON will circulate to GP practices through links

27/4/22 Discussions started to place referral on GP Assist - KF leading

22/06/2022 Info circulated by WON via email after meeting                                                                                                                                                                                             29/06/2022 Won 

update meeting with JP last week, discussed BDCfT not using GP Assist but reasons unclear why not. Action: Kelly to check with Tom Rycroft.             20/07/2022 Update from JP about GP 

assist and S1, can help with the new form to auto-populate and make it easier for GPs when referring. Sara Humphrey now involved in discussions to help and link with GPs.  MA/WON/S 

Humphrey met to plan and develop GP Assist pathway and support for referrers

3/8/22; New referral form to be placed on System1

Follow up meeting booked for 28/09 to build Adult Autism Pathway on ASSIST.  WON has requested J Parkinson to raise a ticket for development work on GP ASSIST

6 - Adult Autism Complaints KF/KB 12/01/22 On-going 27/4/22  Action: WON has responded to a recent complaint and will share narrative with KB. BDCFT and CCG Complaints teams to be copied in and request to liaise for any future 

complaints.

12 - Adult Autism ICS ND Deep Dive:

Engage with ICS work to explore system approaches to ASD 

assessment and diagnosis

T&FG 13/12/21 Ongoing 23/02/22;  BDCFT and CCG reps attended ICS Adult Neurodiversity Planning Session

27/04/22: BANDS and CCG reps will self nominate for ICS Deep Dive Steering and Operational Groups. Action: KF to share S Russell email re Deep Dive

3/8/22:  Programme Update

WY Violence Reduction Unit - has received £5.8m funding  https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/8513/report-neurodiversity-and-violence.pdf  

Unit has been researching  4 key areas around young peoples with ND experience of violence - findings and recommendations shared - clarity of ND terms, further research and training

Initial WY data shared - each place will have a meeting to confirm data - increase in all referrals accepted of 84% over 6 months - request for programme to address a consistent approach to 

reporting

Reciprocal Mentoring:  Nadia Hussain -  learning partners, not mentor, mentee - 

Dates for Workshops shared from Deep Dive for Right to choose – 13/10/2022 and Adult assessment pathway – 17/10/2022

13 - Adult Autism Pre and Post Diagnosis support

Clarify pre and post-diagnostic support and resources

Link with PCN Social Prescriber

BH/AT 13/12/21 Ongoing 3/8/22  PPDS T&FG formed - members Stacey Thomas, Carine Bake, W O’Neill - and workplan drafted

1.	map current support service – carine - add to the ND Pathway

2.	identify gaps 

3.	draft proposal for VCS led support services or individual workers

4.	produce a local proposal

QON met with C Brauns re Social Prescribers - need to raise awareness and provide training to SPs re needs of adults with ND

17/08/2022 WON/CB/SL visiting SAS/SACAR on 24/09/22 to gather information re services provided 

CBMDC have commissioned a range of training for our workforce: 

o	1. Introduction to Neurodiversity – all staff, 

o	2. Working with autistic people – social workers who work directly with people with autism; 

o	3. Level 3 Certificate in understanding Autism (A level equivalent), which once complete will have trained 20 social workers – the course commences in September, 

o	4. 48 places on a virtual Autism experience bus. This is an immersive training experience to allow participants to understand how autism affects people day to day and how to make 

adjustments to support autistic people.

•	In May we submitted a grant funding bid to DWP for £350k of funding for a local supported employment initiative (LSE) for people with autism. We were notified this week that our bid was 

successful. This new service will support 100 Autistic people into paid employment over the project which will commence next month and is funded until March 2025.

15 - Adult Autism Ongoing 18/05/2022 - Walter and Kelly to meet and discuss.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

25/05/2022 Ongoing still                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

22/06/2022 Plan changed so may need to update HOSC, wait until called back                                                                                                                                                               29/06/2022 Action: 

Won to draft an updated document and share with KB.                                                                                                                                                                  06/07/2022 Won has created slide to 

present to HOSC                                                                                                                                                                                                      20/07/2022 Update HOSC in September meeting, will be a 

good time because we can show the early progress and numbers coming off the waiting lists.

17/08/2022 Will include user stories for Autism once we can get patient feedback from the new pathway.

20 - Adult Autism Finances All 29/06/22 Ongoing 29/06/2022 - Create Finance schedule, All agreed use Transformation monies first, then use core funding to support other functions to help the service once they are identified.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

20/07/2022 - Meeting to arrange for Kris/Kelly/Walter/Marios

17/08/2022  - SWYPFT have shared costings for new model - Kelly and WON to meet with BDCFT finance 

Stakeholders - Update and present to:

A.Update Performance and Commissioning Forum - 01/08/2022 - Complete

B.  Update System Quality Committee -                        25/08

C. HOSC Chair’s briefing Weds  at 1530                      31/08

D. System Finance Deputies                                           14/09

D. Place Leadership Team -                                            28/09 and 3 monthly

E. HOSC Committee                                                          06/10  and Feb 2023

F. SF&P                                                                               27/10

P
age 60



22 - Adult Autism

23 - Adult Autism

24 - Adult Autism

25 - Adult Autism

26 - Adult Autism

COMPLETED

Adult Autism Outsourcing;

Engage with IS sector re outsourcing 

WON/KB 13/12/21 COMPLETE WON to share outcomes from engagement

28/01/22; Engagement outcomes shared

Some issues with use of available NR funding - Finance to discuss

9/2/22: WON shared outcomes of engagement and finance discussions

Action: BDCFT to engage with independent providers identified

25/04/22  WON shared update - Action: WON to invite SWYT to future meeting to share plan for delivery of 100 assessments.                                                                                                                                                                                      

18/05/2022 - SLAM offering a national referral for adults with ADHD / Autism, GK to arrange meeting GK emailed adhdasdadmin@slam.nhs.uk to set-up meeting.                                                                                                                    

25/05/2022 - GK/WON meeting with SLAM on 27th May to discuss referral pathways - https://slam.nhs.uk/referrals-adhd-and-asd                                                                                                                                                                                            

27/05/2022 - SLAM FT stopping their national referral due to local demands on their services, will keep us updated if this changes in the future.

20/07/2022 - project team decision to stand down outsourcing adult autism option to focus on partnership with SWYPFT- will move the 50 autism cases from Clinical partners and give them 

50 more ADHD cases to work on.

08/07/2022; BH continues to meet monthly with CP.  Agreed to increase to 250 patients.  First step will be screening letter to people on waiting list.  BANDS reviewing waiting list for 

complexity and co-morbidity - retain these within BANDS.  CP cant access S1 - referral forms will be sent securely.  Assessment process reviewed and approved .  Mobilisation 1 Sept to 

31 March.

Adult Autism Estate

Provide suitable estate in Bradford for the SWYT team x 2 

days weekly

			

WON 20/07/2022

COMPLETE

18/03/22 Enquiries made to Bilton, Westbourne and Hillside

27/04/22: Hillside Bridge now preferred venue - Action: WON to book 

25/05/2022 WON to book estate at Hillside Bridge

1/06/2022: 1 room x 2 days weekly booked at Hillside Bridge                                                                                                                                                                                    20/07/2022 - 
Adult Autism Direct management support to be provided to service DS/TP 20/07/2022

COMPLETE

9/2/22: Band 8b x 1 FTE to be introduced, at risk to BDCFT, to support BANDS 

16/02/22; some clinical leadership included in Psychology role - B7 operational manager role also to be introduced
Adult Autism Self referral pathway to be introduced KB 13/10/21 COMPLETE 16/02/22; has completed testing and link available to be added to BANDS website.  Ready to go live from 1/3/22.  WON will support sharing comms/Top Tips with GPs. Dr Val Wilson has 

been involved 

16/03/22  Self referral is now live on BDCFT website

27/4/22 Discussions started to place referral on GP Assist - KF leading    18/05/22 SWYFT/IP's/SLAM don't offer self referrals, need to consider closing the self referral pathway and putting 

comms out to GP's about this.  25/05/2022 Discussed and agreed to close self referral pathway pending WY Deep Dive recommendations. Action: WON to draft and share communication Adult Autism National Autistic Society SL 25/05/22 Complete 25/05/2022 - Everyone was in agreement to ask NAS to help identify and map - Action: SL to set-up meeting with NAS                                                                                  20/07/2022 - Group 

agreed meeting no long required with NAS.

Adult Autism Set-up Adult Autism Action Plan/log, with a new 

operational/strategic group. (Doing similar action for Adult 

ADHD)

WON/KF 22/06/22 Complete 22/6/2022 Adult Autism action plan and adult ADHD action plans required, task and finish group to continue, but also set-up an operational/strategic group. Mel Pickup and Mark Hindmarsh 

to report issues to PLE because neurodiversity is now on the list of our priority areas, want to assign a main contact to lead on this. MH LD and neurodiversity board mentioned but not sure 

if there is a group set-up.  Comms keeping in touch with people whilst they are waiting to be seen.  29/06/2022 - Discussed above, may appoint VCS company to help people with daily life 

whilst on waiting list. discussed Healthy Minds website and updating this. Action: Angela to follow up with Stacey about new Local Offer Officer (Nigel Hammon).

Adult Autism Bi-weekly meetings to be set-up for 1 hour, incl. Marios and 

his team to meetings.

GK 29/06/22 Complete 29/06/2022 - Action: GK to arrange new 1 hour meeting slot every 2 weeks on Teams, Marios and his team to be included.                                                                                       08/07/2022 - 

New bi-weekly meeting set up, Wednesday 2pm from 20th July onwards - Teams invite sent out to everyone.

Prescribing 08/07/2022 - Issue re number of people requiring prescribing and may need to start a waiting list.  Dr Makunden requests support from GPs in prescribing  - WON to discuss with Dr S 

Humphrey 

P
age 61



P
age 62



Project Plan (Timeline) for Adult ADHD

ID Activity Start Date
Planned 

Completion Date
RAG Comments

1 - ADHD
Identify non recurrent funding to support short-term 

improvement to waiting times

£250k released from 2021/22 BDCFT underspend

Potential additional £130k from same source

Enquire if NHSE development funds can be used to support both ASD and ADHD.

2 - ADHD

Engage with independent sector re outsourcing – capacity 

and cost

BDCFT subcontracting with Clinical Partners for 200 ADHD assessments - To be completed September 2022 to March 2023

Engagement with IS and NHS providers is ongoing 

BH updated about Clinical Partners, data sharing agreement in place, working on getting referrals to them and other processes, beginning of the process to be confirmed in next meeting 

with BH/CP.    

22/06/2022 BH Update ADHD meeting fortnightly with clinical partners to look at process, contractual agreement drawn up and processes in place, different approaches, starting 1st 

September and sorting pathway and how passed back, yearly review. Clinical partners unease about GPs accepting returned, shared agreement may go in place so they sit with BANDS still 

under the yearly review. Clinical partners have got worded document from previous work with other NHS Org. Bernard to share with Walter once he gets this communication letter. referral 

form revised and then onto assist would be great.  

29/06/2022 - Invite Diane Daley to future BANDS meeting - Action: Kelly to ask Diane.

17/08/2022 - Bernard met with clinical partners, opt in letters sent out, 100 and further 150 to follow shortly (250), finalising the contract and costs. Hoping to start in September with 

patients been seen.

2 - ADHD

Identify recurrent funding to support short-term 

improvement to waiting times

Develop a business case for better use of Right to Choose costs - approx. 100k p.a.

4 - ADHD Recruitment to increase BANDS, ADHD, capacity level of funds available to be confirmed 

08/07/2022  BH shared proposal to recruit a Junior Dr to support the ANP it initiate and titrate meds, and 1 year review, up to 31/03/2023

5 - ADHD

New BANDS, ADHD dataset and monthly report to be 

implemented

New dataset and monthly report now in place .                                                                        

Review and improve dataset.    

20/07/2022 Meeting with performance reps, to understand and improve ADHD dataset
6 - ADHD Build on partnership with SWYPFT ADHD Service Identify and implement best practice

7 - ADHD
Engage and input to WY ICS Neuro Diversity Deep Dive Learn from best practice and implement a long term, sustainable and consistent service model across West Yorkshire

9 - ADHD
Senior overview and support to be provided by  D Sims, AJ 

Haider and PLT 

First meeting Jan 2022

10 - ADHD
Patients Right to Choose Guidance to be shared with GPs regarding patients right to choose referral to IS providers

16/03/2022 Guidance regarding right to choose with ADHD shared with GP Practices

11 - ADHD

Prescribing Clarify responsibilities between referrers and BANDS, inc.  Shared Care Agreements 

03/08/22; Issue flagged of capacity/demand re prescribing - request for support from GPs to continue prescribing until slot available for titration.  Action WON to facilitate engagement with 

GPs.

17/08/2022: Won updated about others in the area, Leeds waiting list then another list for prescribing. Look at the shared care agreement and see how we manage the pressures from a 

system wide position, along with Sarah Humpreys.

12 - ADHD
Post- diagnostic support Clarify patient wants and needs .  Identify community based support.

13 - ADHD

Set-up a new ADHD operational/strategic group. (Doing 

similar action for Adult Autism)

WON/KF 22/06/22 Initial workshop, with clinical engagement, held 13/05/2022

Joint ASD/ADHD project group commenced 

22/6/2022 Adult Autism action plan/logs and adult ADHD action plan/logs required, task and finish group to continue, but also set-up an operational/strategic group. Mel Pickup and Mark 

Hindmarsh to report issues to PLE because neurodiversity is now on the list of our priority areas, want to assign a main contact to lead on this. MH LD and neurodiversity board mentioned 

but not sure if there is a group set-up.  

20/07/2022 Group set-up from 20th July, bi-weekly meetings

14 - ADHD

ADHD Dataset to be reviewed with BI teams and amend - 

Similar with ASD dataset.

WON/BH Mid August

29/06/2022 - ADHD data confusing wasn't clear. clearer data to show increase and demand going forward to meet that demand - inputs/outputs. nonclinical support discussed create 

support pathway incl. role of LA.                                                                                                                                                                                                               20/07/2022 Meeting held 18th July with 

both BI data teams, to look at and amend data for future datasets. Follow up meeting planned early August.

15 - ADHD Complaints KF/KB 27/07/2022 Complaint received to Baildon MC and ICB, RTC David D'Arcy and Walter to investigate
16 - ADHD

17 - ADHD

18 - ADHD

19 - ADHD

20 - ADHD

21 - ADHD

22 - ADHD

23 - ADHD

24 - ADHD

25 - ADHD

26 - ADHD

27 - ADHD

28 - ADHD

29 - ADHD

P
age 63



ID Activity Action Description Status Date Identified Action Author Action Owner
Priority 

Rating

Anticipated 

Delivery  Date

Actual Delivery 

Date
Comments / Updates

a.1 National Autistic Society - Meeting to be set-up Complete 25/05/22 Stacey Stacey Medium

on hold, public engagement linked thru WT deep dive. Group 

agreed meeting no longer required with NAS

a.2 WON to book 25/05/2022 WON to book estate at Hillside Complete 25/05/22 Walter Walter Medium

Booked Hillside Bridge 23rd August to 31st March 2023, 

LGF33 Tues/Wed 9-5pm and Fridays 9-1pm

a.3 Set-up new Adult Autism operational/strategic group Complete 22/06/22 Walter

Task & Finish 

group High

Wednesday 2pm from 20th July - Bi-weekly meeting, GK sent 

Teams invite sent out ot everyone.

a.4

Clarify reasons for non-usage of GP ASSIST to support 

BANDS adult ASD referrals Complete 22/06/22 Walter/Gareth T&F group High

James Parkinson to set-up meeting/training, attended 

meeting on 20th July to update.

a.5

BANDS Adult ASD referral form to be revised by 

BANDS/SWYPFT Complete 22/06/22 Bernard/Marios T&F group High

New referral form done, need to replace the old form with the 

new one. Testing ongoing, once complete will remove old and 

replace with new form

a.6

Methods to improve quality of referrals from GPs to be 

explored and implemented Pending 22/06/22 T&F group T&F group High Sarah Humpreys to help and support with this

a.7 Mel Pickup/PLT want to see numbers regarding SWYFT Pending 22/06/22 T&F group T&F group High

To see current levels and projected future demand on this 

service. 29/6 Kelly to email Bernard/Marios to create. Marios 

shared action plan

a.8 Funds for CICONIARECOVERY assessments On-going 22/06/22 Angela/Kris Angela/Kris High

Was transformation funding for ADHD only? Or can we use it 

for Autism. Also check if funds are held with LA or CCG.

a.9 Dataset requirements - BI teams to meet up On-going 29/06/22 WON/BH Gareth Medium

Monday 18th 11-12pm, GK sent teams invite sent out. Raj to 

change dataset and make agreed changes from meeting.

a.10 Recruitment Complete agreement for roles and responsibilities On-going 29/06/22 WON/BH WON/BH draft SLA shared by Walter, still on-going

a.11 Recruitment Agree costs for posts On-going 29/06/22 WON/BH WON/BH waiting on costs from SWYFT

a.12 Recruitment Advertise and recruit On-going 29/06/22 WON/BH WON/BH

a.13 Finance Identify and track all available finances for ASD projects Complete 06/07/22 WON/Kelly/KF/AngelaWalter High set-up meeting for Won/KF/Kelly 4th Aug

a.14

Expand Pathway - signpost to difference VCS organisations 

to help people manage. Pending 06/07/22 Corine/Stacey/Walter GK Medium Carine/Stacey/Won meeting Friday 15th July to discuss

a.15 Presentation Slide created by Walter to present to HOSC Pending 06/07/22 WON Walter Medium WON has created a slide to present to HOSC

Adult Autism Action Log

P
age 64



ID Action Description Status Date Identified Action Author Action Owner
Priority 

Rating

Anticipated 

Delivery  Date

Actual Delivery 

Date
Comments / Updates

a.1

Set-up new Adult ADHD 

operational/strategic group Complete 22/06/22 WON WON High 20/07/22 20/07/22 Neuro Diversity Group - Bi weekly from 20th July onwards

a.2

Enquire if NHSE development funds 

can be used to support both ASD 

and ADHD. Complete 22/06/22 KR/AT KR/AT High Funds cannot be shared

a.3 On-going

a.4 On-going

a.5

a.6

a.7

a.8

a.9

a.10

a.11

a.12

a.13

a.14

a.15

a.16

a.17

a.18

a.19

a.20

a.21

a.22

a.23

a.24

a.25

ADHD Action Log

P
age 65



Bradford Autism Project Outline Flow 2022

Physician Associate recruited to post.

Assistant Psychologist interviews 11/07/2022

Assumptions: 51% 61% Starting Phase Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Week 4

Screening ADOS Further Ax Clinic hours Clinic days Physician Associate 2 2 2 2

50 26 16 276 46

DNA 110% 55 29 18 306 51

Leave 120% 66 35 22 369 62 Clinic days needed 2 2 2 2

Building Phase Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Week 4

Physician Associate 2 2 2 2

4 Week period Screening ADOS Further Ax Clinic hours Clinic days Assistant Psychologist 1 1 1 1

1 8 0 0 24 4 Starting Phase Diagnostician 1 1

2 8 4 2 42 7 Clinic days needed 2 2 2 2

3 8 4 2 42 7

4 8 4 2 42 7 Optimum Phase Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Week 4

5 8 6 4 54 9 Physician Associate 2 2 2 2

6 8 6 4 54 9 Assistant Psychologist 1 2 1 2

7 8 6 4 54 9 Diagnostician 1 1 1 1

8 8 6 4 54 9 Clinic days needed 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

64 36 22 366 61

This plan is contingent on recruitment to posts:

Building Phase

Optimum Phase

P
age 66



 
 

Report of the Strategic Director of Health and Wellbeing 
- Adult Services to the meeting of the Health and Social 
Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee to be held on 6th 
October 2022 

J 
 
 
Subject:   
 

 
Home Support Review: Update and Commissioning Intentions 
 
 
 
 
Summary statement: 
 
This document provides an update on the Home Support Review, and an overview 
of the department’s intentions to commissioning intentions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
Iain MacBeath 
Strategic Director of Health and Wellbeing 

Portfolio:   
 
 

Alex Lorrison – Joint Commissioning 
Manager – OP PD SI 
alexandra.lorrison@bradford.gov.uk 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Health and Wellbeing 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7/

mailto:alexandra.lorrison@bradford.gov.uk


 

1. SUMMARY 
This report provides an update of the Home Support Sector, the sector review and intended 
next steps.  

 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
Home support is the delivery of a range of personal care and domestic/community support 
services to individuals in their own homes. The support provided can range from a check 
to ensure that the individual has taken prescribed medication, for example, through to an 
extensive care package to meet their assessed needs including personal care i.e. support 
to get in/out of bed, bathing/toileting and meal preparation.  
 
A report to the meeting of the Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny committee on 
Thursday 23rd September 2021 updated members on the current position for Home Support, 
including implementation of the Locality approach, the market landscape and national and 
local issues. It also referenced that a full system-wide review of Home Support was being 
undertaken with a view to developing creative solutions to delivering good quality, effective 
and affordable home support with the District.  

 
Members requested an update on this review and a workshop. 

 
 
3. REPORT ISSUES 
 
3.1 Current landscape 
The Home Support Sector remains challenging and remains a priority for the department. 
The following sections detail the additional measures that have been put in place to support 
the market over the last year and until the new contracts are in place.  
 
 
3.1.1 Capacity Meetings  
 
Weekly Home Support Capacity meetings continue to take place with key colleagues to 
assist with the flow of home support packages to the external market. This includes, 
Bradford Enablement Support Team (BEST), Support Options Team, Home Support 
Reviewing Team, Independent Advice Hub and Multi Agency Integrated Discharge Team 
(MAIDT), Operational Services and Commissioning and Contracts Team. More recently, 
membership has been extended to include Provider representatives from Bradford Care 
Association (BCA). Each meeting focuses on incoming and outgoing home support 
packages, key issues/analysis and support/possible solutions, along with key provider 
updates. Some specific work has included: 
 

• Using available data differently so it is now possible to predict impending pressures 
on the system. For example, when the length of time people were being supported 
by BEST in Bradford South started to increase, this was identified early and 
resources targeted at that area. 

• Improving the independent sector’s access to equipment which means smoother, 
quicker and more successful discharges from hospital. 

• Using funding from covid grants to pay enhanced rates over the winter and where 
there are additional costs incurred by the provider, to make the patch more 
attractive 

Page 68



 

• Giving grants to providers for innovative “quick wins” that would help them solve a 
specific problem they were having, enabling them to pick up more packages in 
localities where there were particular pressures, such as in Wharfedale (see Winter 
pressures at 3.1.6). 

• Linking providers with local community groups to help them recruit people local to 
the area where the care is being delivered.  

• Creating ‘rounds’ of care packages, rather than just passing on individual cases, 
which are easier for providers to fit within their current delivery and easier to staff as 
can be picked up by staff who do not drive. New use of mapping tools was 
developed to help with this. 

• Working with providers to understand the specific issues in their area, for example 
when home care staff raised concerns about safety in an area, members of the 
group worked with Neighbourhoods to help manage some of those concerns. 

• BEST sharing details of how they recruit staff with providers 
 
 
3.1.2 Workforce 
There are a number of approaches being taken to improve recruitment and retention into 
the sector; these are across the department, the BCA and the wider council.  

• The BCA are working with the Council to develop a more strategic approach to 
recruitment. Initiatives to support recruitment and retention are being planned 
ahead of autumn and winter when service pressures are expected to increase.  

• A new portal ‘Bradford Cares’ has been developed which encompasses both council 
and independent sector vacancies as well as providing wider information.  

• Our links to colleges and universities have been strengthened, and we are targeting 
students (the next generation of workforce) about the benefits and rewards of working 
in social care. 

• We have developed promotional videos featuring colleagues across the service, 
discussing their work and the opportunities available. There have been a number of 
recruitment events across the district, enabling potential candidates to talk to 
professionals about careers in social care. 

• All of the BEST fleet cars are displaying magnetic advert plates promoting the service 
and to join our team. 

• There are apprenticeship opportunities and casual contracts for flexibility. 

3.1.3 Cost of Living 
To support with the increase in cost of living, we have offered workers in the sector two 
different grants 
 

• In March 2022, following a sharp rise in petrol and diesel costs, the Home Support 
Fuel Grant (HSFG) was launched utilising unused funding from the early NLW grants 
(through offsetting underspend from the Workforce Recruitment and Retention Fund 
and funding not claimed by providers). Providers received an additional 28p per hour 
to pass on to staff to help with fuel costs. A total of £269,534 has been awarded so 
far through this grant. 

 

Page 69



 

• In June 2022, the Council partnered with the Care Workers’ Charity to provide funding 
small crisis grants to care workers living and working within the Bradford District area. 
The grants can help people working in the care sector who’ve experienced an 
unexpected cost with paying bills, rent, car repairs, replacing washing machines and 
other white goods as well as help for other costs. The purpose of the grants is to help 
people experiencing these unexpected costs to remain in the care sector. Further 
information is available here: https://www.thecareworkerscharity.org.uk/crisis-grant/  

 
 
3.1.4 Fair Cost of Care  
As part of the government’s adult social care reform agenda, all local authorities are required 
to complete a fair cost of care exercise to arrive at a shared understanding with providers of 
the local cost of providing care. In addition, each Council is required to publish a Market 
Sustainability Plan detailing how they plan to move towards a fair cost of care over the next 
three years. As a Council, we have responsibility for understanding the costs providers incur 
in delivering care in a local area and this will be considered within any future fee setting 
approach and process.   
 
Over recent months we have therefore undertaken a significant piece of work with Home 
Support providers completing a detailed financial position questionnaire for their individual 
services. Although this was not mandatory for providers to participate, we have had an 
extremely good return rate and is one of the highest for local authorities in the Yorkshire and 
Humber region. We are now in the process of developing our local Market Sustainability 
Plan for submission to the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) in October this 
year. 
 
 
 
3.1.4 Bradford Council Enablement Support Team (BEST) and Home Support 
Reviewing Team (HSRT)  
The BEST and HSRT teams are Council services and use a strength based approach to 
review and assessment, building on the person’s own abilities and minimising the need for 
a commissioned home carer package. The team also oversee external cases and are 
working to ensure these are managed in a timely manner and that no one is over-supported. 
Work is also being done to identify where a person has a non-skilled care need and how to 
meet this, as well as development work to manage increases in a person’s need and 
accurate, stream-lined billing. This should also support providers to be paid for additional 
work in a timelier manner.  
 
 
3.1.6 Hospital Admissions and Discharge 
Bradford is ranked highly for Delayed Transfers of Care (see section 3.2.3) and work by 
the Council Trusted Assessors team strives for continuous improvement. Working out of 
Airedale Hospital and Bradford Royal Infirmary, the team have put in new processes 
regarding hospital admissions of individuals who have a package of care with external 
providers. The Trusted Assessor teams at will be notified of the date of the hospital 
admission by the providers so they can support with timely discharge planning.  This 
process will also support with some of the capacity issues all providers are currently 
experiencing due to recruitment issues and increased referrals.  

Page 70

https://www.thecareworkerscharity.org.uk/crisis-grant/


 

 
 
3.1.7 Winter Pressures 
In order to support the alleviation of Winter Pressures, a strategic, system-wide meeting 
with representatives from Home Support and Care Homes providers, the VCS CCG and 
Council Commissioning and Operations took place in November 2021. Here, proposals 
were discussed that focussed on improving in-hospital discharge into the Independent 
Sector through increasing capacity within services or improving workflow.  
 
In order to increase resilience over Winter, additional funding was made available to 
- Increase the hourly rate that Locality or ISF providers were paid so that they were on 

par with STEP, in order to encourage them to pick up short-term packages 
- Increase the hourly around the Wharfedale area where were having difficulties moving 

packages on 
- Pilot a new approach around Ilkley, using to cars and employing drivers to transport 

non-driving staff to and around the area. 
 
This was funded from central Discharge to Assess (DTA) money provided by the DHSC, 
which stopped on 31st March 2022, but can be stepped again should the need arise and 
funding available.  
 
Planning meetings to build resilience for winter started in the summer this year.  
 
3.1.8 ‘Quick Wins’ 
Members of the Service Improvement Board for the Home Support Services alongside 
internal colleagues, to discuss any ‘quick wins’ that might be available via the council. There 
were a number of suggestions brought forward, and successes included, parking passes for 
Home Support staff (on par with District Nurses), access to volunteer–driven 4X4 vehicles 
for emergencies and sharing of staff benefits 
 
 
3.2 Future Commissioning  
 
3.2.1 Home Support Sector Review 
Going forward, a complete rethink needs to be considered in order to address the long-term 
issues in the market. The starting point for this is to ensure that these are understood fully. 
Therefore, the department has been conducting a review of the Home Support Sector and 
which has recently concluded. The full details of this are available in a separate paper but 
covers the following areas: 
 

• Current Provision and Performance - The current contracting arrangements, spend 
and commissioned hours (see report for full description) 

• Current Demand and Trends – this is for both trajectories of demand and hours 
delivered but also workforce projections. (see report for full description) 

• Consultation results - This involved extensive consultation with key system leads 
across Health and Social Care, providers and service users. This was used to pull 
together a rich picture of the issues and good practice in Bradford.  

• Issues – national and local 
• Good practice – local – which will be retained in the new model and we will continue 

to build on these in the run up to the new contract. 
 

Page 71



 

 
3.2.2  New Ways of working 

The review also encompassed desktop research looking at new national models of care as 
well as speaking to other Councils both nationally and regionally.  
 
The four areas below summarise the key new areas of working  
 
Self- Governed Teams 

• These are teams of care workers, based in a locality that focus on more person-centred 
care and with more continuous staff who can build up a relationship with the service 
user.  

• The staff can work more flexibly to meet someone’s needs, with the support they want 
or need able to change as they fluctuate, rather than sticking to a rigid schedule/ set 
amount of time each day or week. It is a move away from time and task, to more of a 
focus on outcomes for the individuals, and what is important to them.  

• It will also incorporate a Community Led Support (CLS) approach and look to support 
people in their communities, including through non-paid for care and should further 
reduce travel time.  

• This approach will also look at time-banking, permanent contracts, the removal of split-
shifts. 

• It offers more autonomy for both the service user and the care giver.  
 
Integrated Teams 

• These would be based in the community for which they provide support and be 
integrated Health and Social Care Team.   

• These Locality boundaries are (for the most part) running close to Area Team 
boundaries.  

• The level of joint working could differ from co-location to fuller integration. 
• It will further strengthen the CLS approach and offer a more holistic, joined-up 

approach to the individual’s health and care needs.  
 
Skilled workforce/ career of choice 

• This is reimagining the workforce so that the Home Support staff can be skilled–
up/specialise in different areas. This may include some delegated nursing tasks that 
could command a higher hourly rate. 

• It is hoped that this will help make social care a more attractive career, with clearer 
routes for progression and support other roles in the district where there is a shortage.  

 
Technology 

• This is either increasing the use of technology in the sector, freeing up staff time. It 
will complement the current workforce, it will not replace it.  

• Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM), online training for staff, online access to care 
records to support service users 

• It can offer the individual more autonomy, for example medication prompts, support 
at access telecare 

 
 

Together it is likely that these will help us fully meet the requirements of the Ethical Care 
Charter.  

Page 72



 

 
 

3.3 Commissioning Intentions 

Two workshops have been held with senior managers to discuss the findings of the review, 
what was felt to be the priorities for Home Support and tested the appetite for change. The 
four themes above are felt to be the future direction of travel for Home Support and works 
to Home First principles, Community Led Support and a strength-based approach. It was 
agreed that the new model had to be ambitious, but that the stability of the market was 
paramount in both the short as well as the long-term. 
 
It was therefore agreed that a transformational contract approach be taken, with the current 
Locality approach broadly being retained, and a steady approach taken to build in pilots 
which will provide proof of concept, learn and refine before rolling out further in the district. 
This will be via a longer, transformational approach which will allow us to work together with 
providers to make changes incrementally without destabilising the market.  
 
 
3.3.2 Proof of concept 
 
It is proposed 3 pilots in the first years of the new contract to provide proof of concept which 
can then be rolled out to the wider district, reducing risk of large-scale change. 
 
1) Time Banking of Hours and Outcome Focussed Plans 
Providing flexibility to home support recipients to choose how and when their hours are used 
in line with the agreed care plan.  
This will provide learning for self-managed teams 
 
2) Shift System/ Established Contracts  
Providers staff have permanent contracts and guaranteed minimum hours. Any 5 in 7 
working is introduced to increase flexibility.  
This will provide the foundation for self- governing teams and evidence for staff recruitment 
and retention.  
 
3) Social Care Hub 
Fully integrated teams, co-located in a specific geographic area comprising, health 
colleagues, DN’s, PCN footprint, Physio, OT, SW. Local Single Point of Contact. 
This will provide learning for integrated teams, self-governing teams and career of choice.  
 
 
3.4 Engagement and Consultation 
 
3.4.1 Service Users 
We have randomly selected a sample of 400 service users and sent a service user feedback 
survey to them to gather their feedback on what they feel works well and what they feel 
could work better. The survey has been designed to try to capture the qualitative data we 
would usually obtain through service user led workshops. It is anticipated, based on usual 
survey responses, that there will be a 10-15% return rate which will give a representation 
approximately equal to the number who would attend a workshop discussion. The survey is 
currently open and responses are being collated ready for analysis which is due at the end 
of October 2022. 

Page 73



 

 
Going forward, we will involve Service Users in the design of the new ways of working, 
notably during the pilot phase where feedback from all parties will be critical.  
 
3.4.2 Market Engagement  
An Expression of Interest (EOI) has been published – this alerts the market to our intentions 
and allows us to discuss future commissioning. An engagement event has been scheduled 
for 27th September so that we can share information with providers as early in the process 
as possible and lay the ground for partnership working. It is essential that we work together 
throughout the process, and at this date we will set out full opportunities to shape the model.  

 
 

3.4.3 Workshop with HSCOSC members add dates and future plans 
A workshop has been proposed for the 27th October, following the update to HSCOSC, to 
share more detail on the new model of working and allow for a more in-depth discussion.  
 
 
 
4. FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL 
 
The Council continues to see a significant increase in spend in home support provision 
linked to increased demand as previously described. The review will consider the necessary 
finance and resource needs in detail and make recommendations for future provision. 
 
It will take into consideration the outcome of the Fair Cost of Care ‘ People at the Heart of 
Care: Adult Social Care Reform White Paper’ 

 
 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
The sustainability of the home support market is a concern at both a local and national level. 
There is a large focus on supporting the market to be able to meet the support needs of 
people in the district in the work of the Commissioning & Integration section in the 
Department of Health & Wellbeing.  
 
The review and subsequent remodel will take into account the whole system around home 
support including Locality, ISF, DTA and reablement pathways.  
 
6. LEGAL APPRAISAL 
 
The procurement and implementation of Home Support services is to ensure the Council is 
meeting its statutory duties under the Care Act 2014, the Health and Social Care Act 2008 
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014 and the Mental Capacity Act 2005, and to cater for 
future demand. 
 
The Local Authority must also have regard to its public sector equality duties under section 
149 of the Equality Act 2010 when exercising its functions and making any decisions.   
 
 
 

Page 74



 

7.1 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 
The Department will undertake an Equality Impact Assessment as part of the re-commission 
of Home Support where requirements necessitate and is incorporated into the specific 
work/procurement plan. All work undertaken will address issues of equality and diversity as 
they apply to protected characteristics groups. 
 
7.2 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The re-commissioning of home support services in contributing to sustainability strategies 
will be considered as part of the tender process to ensure that the Departments functions 
and services maintain their capability and quality through the transition process and beyond. 
 
7.3 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS 
 
The proposal to retain specific small geographical localities will enable provider staff visiting 
people to reduce the organisations carbon footprint and emissions from a reduction in the 
use of vehicles. In some instances, staff are able and encouraged to walk between visits. 

 
 
7.4 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 
 
7.5 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 provides a legal basis for concepts fundamental to the well-
being of older people and others who are in need of home support. The Act provides a legal 
framework for service providers to abide by and to empower service users to demand that 
they be treated with respect for their dignity. 

 
7.6 TRADE UNION  
 
Officers have liaised with the Trade Union (Unison) in respect of the implementation of 
Unison Ethical Care Charter which forms part of the new contract arrangements.   
 
7.7 WARD IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct implications in respect of any specific Ward. 
 
 
7.8 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING 
 
There are no Corporate Parenting issues arising from the implementation of the Home 
Support Locality Contracts. 
 
7.9 ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT 
 
Specific areas of GDPR and information security will form part of the tender and evaluation 
process. It is recognised that the transfer of personal data is significant. 
 

Page 75



 

8. NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS 
 
None 
 
9. OPTIONS 
 
 None 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
             
 We would welcome the view of members and their constituents either at the meeting or the 
following workshop in late October.  
 
              
 
11. APPENDICES 
 
Home Support Sector Review 
 
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Previous report - 
https://bradford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=145&MId=7628&Ver=4 

 
 

Page 76



1 
 

  

Dept. of Health & Wellbeing  
 

Service Review Report 
Name of Service: Home Support 
 
1. Introduction  
 
Home support is the delivery of a wide range of personal care and domestic/community support services to 
people in their own homes. Support may range from a short visit to ensure that a person has taken prescribed 
medication through to a significant care package meeting assessed needs for personal care such as support 
to get in and out of bed, bathing/toileting and meal preparation. 
 
People identified with an assessed need for home support provision will be eligible for the service. This includes 
older and those with a physical disability, sensory impairment, mental health or learning disability. 
 
The majority of this support is delivered by the independent market, the exception being reablement. The 
contracts for these are due to end on 31 March 2023, therefore the department needs to now undertake a 
service review. The review will take into consideration the full range of home support currently available in the 
District, and will co-produced with partners, providers, people who use services, their families and carers. 
 
2. Current Provision and Performance   
Current Provision- Overall 
Market 
At present the contracts database shows 218 contracts/arrangements including locality are in place with 82 
providers delivering against these. More detail of the different arrangements can be found below.  
 
Spend and Hours 
The total home support hours commissioned externally are: 28,364.75 (not including CCG, MH or LD). The total 
weekly spend is £549,000 (not including CCG, MH or LD) and estimated annual spend is projected at £28.6 
million for 2022/2023. 
 
Quality 
The quality of services in Bradford District shows above the average for England for Good and Outstanding 
CQC ratings by 2%, with Bradford at 89.7% (England average is 87.7%). However, only a small number of 
providers in Bradford District have been subject to inspection in recent years, with five services being inspected 
and rated in 2021, and two services being inspected and rated in 2022 to date. The COVID-19 pandemic 
impacted on the regulator method of inspection, and which reduced the overall number of inspections taking 
place nationally- therefore the England average for Good and Outstanding homes may also change. 
 

Page 77



2 
 

 
Data as of August 2022 
 
Locality Contracts 
In April 2019, home support locality contracts were introduced, which comprises of 35 geographical areas 
according to ward, population size and demographic data. These are currently delivered by 16 providers. The 
locality contract providers do not cover all support packages within their designated areas, for a host of different 
reasons, such as early contract implementation issues due to lack of TUPE transfers, existing service users not 
transferring across when provided with option to ‘leave or remain’, through providers already in place based on 
individual spot contracts, pre-existing framework call-offs or option to choose an Individual Service Fund 1. 
 
Since the commencement of the locality contracts ten retenders have taken place. The majority of these 
retenders have been due to poor performance attributed to staffing difficulties, and with a small portion of 
providers leaving the market due to personal reasons or change in business strategy. All care packages have 
been transferred successfully without provider market failure but the challenges presented due to staffing i.e. 
leavers/sickness, has meant prompt timescales for undertaking tender and contract transfer. 
 
STEP Contract 
The council introduced Short Tern Enhanced Provision (STEP) contracts in January 2020, on a 2-year short 
term contract basis, to support the short term needs of people requiring early intervention and immediate home 
support assistance. Five geographical areas were created with five individual organisations delivering against 
each of these. At present, four out of the five areas have a provider which is due to one organisation failing to 
meet CQC regulatory requirements and the Council subsequently ceasing the placement of new packages/ 
withdrawal of existing packages. 
 
STEP services have been consistently overstretched due to the high number of enablement cases and limited 
workforce numbers. This is applicable to all four areas with a STEP provider in situ. In addition, the 
commissioned services have operated on a task and time basis which has meant reliance upon a consistent 
volume of work however it has always been subject to frequent changes due to its pattern of increase/decrease 
by needs.  
 
Alongside the introduction of the above STEP services, support with hospital discharge was also commissioned. 
This came in the form of two separate geographical areas delivered by two individual organisations, with each 
main hospital (Bradford Royal Infirmary and Airedale General Hospital) assigned a STEP provider. The 
utilisation of these services has been mixed as the Council’s BEST/hospital team have been able to refer directly 
to the provider delivering support to people from BRI, whilst the provider delivering support to people from AGH 
only except referrals from health professionals based at the hospital.  
 

Page 78



3 
 

IPSAC Spot Contracts* and ISF Framework* 
At the same time as introducing the Locality model, the Commissioning Team introduced Individual Service 
Fund 1. This was to enable individual choice allowing individuals to stay with their current provider) and also to 
make in-roads to full Individual Service Funds e.g. full choice and control for service users about their support 
arrangements whilst not facing the challenge of making payment arrangements. This enabled people to remain 
with their Provider who had been commissioned via the previous IPSAC framework, but is increasingly used by 
people who wish their long-term care to be provided by the STEP provider or SPOT provider.  
 
Cross- reference with section 3.1 below to see the relative increase in ISFs.  
 
Health 
Colleagues from the Personalised Commissioning Team at the ICB (formally CCG) also make placements using 
BMDC commissioned services when seeking support provision for people with complex healthcare 
requirements, including split funded packages. In the event BMDC commissioned services are unable to meet 
the needs of a particular package, then SPOT purchases will be made with Health’s own list of Providers. These 
placements are with organisations that have not been through a Council accreditation, however are on the 
Council’s system for payment purposes. This can present issues when individuals’ packages change from fully 
funded to split funded or ICB funding is no longer required (see Issues, section 4). Currently data shows five 
organisations funded by ICB only. 
 
 
Locality map – current hours  
 

 
 
 
Bradford Enablement Support team (BEST)* 
The Bradford Enablement and Support Team (BEST) are in-house team that provide short term personal care 
and support to people at home. Whilst BEST are not commissioned, it is important to understand their role 
within the system.  
 
BEST provide support to individuals under the following client group categories; Older People, Physical 
Disabilities, Sensory Impairment, Mental Health and Learning Disability. BEST may deliver a service when the 

Page 79



4 
 

individual has been discharged from hospital, the individual’s health has deteriorated, family are no longer able 
to provide the required support, or in response to a social care crisis.  
 
BEST works with the individual in creating a person-centred service that maximises their independence. This 
is usually provided for about 4 weeks, up to a maximum of 6 weeks, without being charged. Once the individual 
has progressed sufficiently an/d or met their outcomes, the service will become chargeable unless the 
individual’s review has not taken place. After this time, if there are still needs, this is usually provided by a 
commissioned service.  
 
Currently, there are 158 care package line items for re-ablement services from BEST. On average, 82% 
of care package line items at BEST are re-enablement services.  
 
3. Current Demand and Future Projections- Older People and Physical Disabilities 
 
3.1 Overall picture of the district  
Picture of the District 
There are 30 wards in Bradford District, which range from the more rural, less densely populated wards like 
Wharfedale and Worth Valley in the north and west of the District to the more urban densely populated wards 
like City and Little Horton in the inner city. For the purpose of this tender and accessible service provision some 
areas differ from the recognised electoral wards. 
 
- City ward has the highest population total with 24,260 people and Wharfedale has the lowest population 

total with 11,850 people 
- Bradford District has 1.9% of empty homes and 6.2% of homes which are overcrowded. City ward has the 

highest percentage of empty homes (4.2%) and Baildon ward has the lowest percentage (0.7%). 
Manningham ward has the highest percentage of overcrowded homes (17.8%) and Wharfedale ward has 
the lowest percentage (1.2%) 

- Life expectancy in Bradford District is 81.5 years for females and 77.5 years for males. Keighley Central 
ward has the lowest life expectancy for females (76.8 years) and Wharfedale ward has the highest life 
expectancy for females 85.3 years). Manningham has the lowest life expectancy for males (72.3 years) 
and Wharfedale has the highest life expectancy for males (84.7 years) 

- Bradford District has 12 wards which were identified as being within the 10% deprived in England, 
according to the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 - Manningham, Bowling & Barkerend, Little Horton, 
Bradford Moor, Tong, Keighley Central, Toller, City, Great Horton, Eccleshill, Bolton & Undercliffe and 
Royds. Ilkley ward and Wharfedale ward are within the 10% least deprived wards in England. 

 
 
Homecare Packages of Support 
Demand for services are high across the Bradford district. The graph below shows that as of June 2022 currently 
2,464 people are receiving 2,686 services through homecare or ISF homecare within the Bradford District. 
 
1,315 of the individuals receiving a package of support are those who are in the 85+ age bracket. 
 

Page 80



5 
 

 
Note - Lighter areas show higher numbers in the map above 
 
The STEP contracts are delivered in limited areas and not district wide due to capacity issues within the 
providers. This results in the locality providers addressing the gaps, in particular the gaps in the areas of highest 
demand 
 

 
Note - Lighter areas show higher numbers in the map above 
 
 

Page 81



6 
 

 
Snapshot taken July 2022 
 
3.2 Demand and trends* 
There has been a year on year increase in the total number of home support hours commissioned. This is 
reflected in the weekly cost of home support to the Council. 
 
Approximately 2,100 hours (July 2022) of home support is commissioned from externally commissioned 
providers a week. 29% of the hours are supported through the Locality Contracts. The percentage of hours 
being picked up by locality contracts is decreasing over time which is balanced through the increase in ISF 
contracts which has now increased to 34%.  During the same time Direct Payments have been increasing over 
time to now 11% of the market share 
 
Individual choice and demand is increasing as evidence by the number of requests from people to choose a 
specific provider increasing, this is largely where people have been placed with a Short Term Enhanced 
Provision provider (or ‘STEP’ provision) rather than move onto a Locality Provider for their area of residence. 
 

  

 
 
BEST has continued to place packages externally over the last two years. A consistent trend has been the 
continuous week on week placements to the external provider market. Discharge to Assess pathways have 
increased the requirement upon Bradford Enablement Support Team to utilise external providers. It is 
anticipated that service demand will significantly increase based on historic trends of more demand for support 
at home.  

BEST STEP ISF 1 Non IPSAC IPSAC Locality

Contract Types by weekly Hours

Page 82



7 
 

 
The graph below provides a trend line relating to the number of clients who have received support from BEST 
per month, from 2017 - 2022.  

 
 
Approximately 45% of all home support provision requires 2 carers per visit (known as ‘double handed’ visits) 
 
The data will be analysed to establish the trajectory and trends of double handed visits in terms of how many 
are temporary due to enablement and how many go on to become single handed and if there are any trends to 
this. 
 
PowerBI data reports that on average each person receives 14 hours of support per week. The average size of 
packages has been increasing since the start on 2020, but are still below 2018 levels. The graph and table 
below maps the average weekly home care hours per client, from 2017 – 2022.  
. 
 
 

 
 
 
Table of Commissioned Home Care Hours (Weekly) per Client, per Calendar Year 
 
 

Year  

Average Home Care 
hours (weekly) per 
client 

2017 15.3 

2018 14.9 

13.6

13.8

14

14.2

14.4

14.6

14.8

15

15.2

15.4

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Average Home Care Hours (Weekly) per Client

Ho
m

e 
Ca

re
 H

ou
rs

 (W
ee

kl
y)

Year

Page 83



8 
 

2019 13.71 

2020 13.84 

2021 14.39 

2022 14.29 
 
 
 
The table below shows the number of hours commissioned annually, which is increasing year on year. 
 
 
Table of Commissioned Home Care Hours (Weekly) per Calendar Year 
 

Year  Home Care Hours (weekly) 

2017 34277.08 

2018 34625.76 

2019 29730.09 

2020 29600.08 

2021 32251.76 

2022 33588.52 
 
 
However, whilst the hours may not be back to 2018 level, the cost has surpassed this and continues its upwards 
trajectory.  
 

1 
2 
 

 
1 The average commissioned home care hours and weekly cost for 2022 is based on data collected from 1 January 
2022 to 1 August 2022.   
2 The average commissioned home care hours per client and weekly cost per client for 2022 is based on data 
collected from 1 January 2022 to 1 August 2022.   

Page 84



9 
 

3At June 2022, the trajectory for the annual cost of Long Term Care Homecare predicts an overspend of 
£3.3m.  The number of commissioned hours for Home Care dropped significantly during 2019/20 and is 
gradually rising again against a backdrop of significantly increasing costs to provide the service. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Data from PowerBI reports that commissioned home care hours have increased by 3,461 hours between May 
and June 2022. Current levels are 113,075 versus a target of 102,603 for the end of the year 2021/22. 
 
 

 
 
 
Workforce and Provision 
The ONS estimate that in 2034 there will be 344 people of pensionable age for every 1,000 of working age, 
rising from 310 in 2014.4 This may make it harder to recruit the paid carers needed to meet the growing demand 
for care. These projections are sensitive to long term assumptions about net migration. As inward migrants are 
generally young, lower net migration means an older population. 
 
Deloitte Insights5 have published a paper on transforming social care outlining that being more efficient or cost 
effective measures will no longer be sufficient to produce meaningful change in social care. The focus must 
move to early intervention and create paths to greater self-sufficiency and resilience. 

 Annual Net 
Budget      £m 

Annual Forecast   
£m 

Forecast 
Variance   £m 

Homecare 
(including ISF1) 

9.2 12.5 3.3 

 
 
4 This assumes disability rates remain constant and current patterns of care are maintained. However, recent trends 
suggest that the prevalence of disability in older groups may be increasing 
5 Future of social care | Deloitte Insights 

Page 85

https://www2.deloitte.com/xe/en/insights/industry/public-sector/future-of-social-care.html


10 
 

 
The fragility of the home support market has been raised as a concern by the CQC, which has highlighted large 
churn among providers registering and deregistering (many of which have not been inspected). Home support 
providers employ around 147,000 people in Yorkshire and the Humber and there are around 6,800 vacancies 
across social care at any one time. More than half of care workers are employed on a zero-hours contract and 
turnover for domiciliary care staff is at 33.8 per cent. 6 
 
In Bradford there are 11,500 jobs in the independent sector and an additional 950 jobs working for direct 
payment recipients. It is reasonable to extrapolate that the Bradford district carries approximately 5% vacancies 
(575) in line with the Yorkshire and Humber statistics. 
 
Forecasts show that if the adult social care workforce grows proportionally to the projected number of people 
aged 65 and over in the population between 2020 and 2035, an increase of 28% (3,220 extra jobs) would be 
required by 2035. 
 
Employers with favourable workforce metrics (such as high levels of learning and development), on average, 
had better outcomes (lower staff turnover and/or high CQC ratings). 
 
 
4. Consultation  
Consultation has been undertaken and is continuing with Service Users, Independent Providers and 
Departmental Staff. A summary of the consultations undertaken to date or planned is listed below. 
 
Due to the large amount of data, ‘themes’ from this have been pulled together and can be found in section 
Appendices 1 and 2, and have been used to partly inform the ‘Issues’ section at 5.2 and ‘Good practice’ at 
6.5.  
 
4.1 Service Users 
Provider Feedback 
The provider 121 discussion included a question about any themes or trends that providers are aware of 
around service delivery and Home Support. 
 
Service User Feedback 
We are developing and trialling an electronic workshop format to ascertain the views of service users.  This 
will be completed via an electronic and paper based survey to a sample a cohort of 300 -  400 users with an 
anticipated 10 - 15% response rate.  
 
Review of the Commissioning Team Customer Care Log (CCL)* 

Year (April-April) Number of 
Concerns 

Number of Safeguarding 
Referrals 

Numbers of 
Complaints 

2022-present 103 174 17 

2021-2022 326 309 48 

2020-2021 351 157 31 

2019-2020 284 169 36 

2018-2019 226 143 80 

 

 
6 https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Adult-Social-Care-Workforce-Data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/regional-
information/Yorkshire-Humber/Yorkshire-Humber.aspx 

Page 86

https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Adult-Social-Care-Workforce-Data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/regional-information/Yorkshire-Humber/Yorkshire-Humber.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Adult-Social-Care-Workforce-Data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/regional-information/Yorkshire-Humber/Yorkshire-Humber.aspx


11 
 

 

Upon review of the Customer Care Log, the key issues identified in relation to concerns or complaints raised 
against providers are about the length of visits, specifically, calls are not delivered within call times, such as 
30 minutes, due to carers rushing; calls are not delivered at set times, i.e. 8am morning call and medication 
errors. Themes show that providers that are the most responsive to the requests of the Council Brokerage 
Teams package uptake often incur higher frequencies of referrals. The trend reflects that the more packages 
being picked up by a provider the higher the chance of a referral being made. 
 
4.2 Independent Providers 
 
121 discussions  
Six providers have been approached to take part in 121 meetings to discuss in more depth the challenges and 
positives in their area in context of Home Support. Key areas we are looking to understand more fully are 
- What contract types they currently deliver and what are the advantages and challenges with each of them? 
- What are the areas that cause a disproportionate amount of work to complete? 
- The impact that the lack of capacity (or anything else) has on their work area 
- What are the messages/themes they are hearing from service users about the challenges and positives? 
 
Shadowing 
Shadowing both on rounds and in office, covering in particular rota planning is in the early planning stage and 
will be looked in to further in line with current COVID restrictions and limitations in place. 
 
Snap Survey 
A Snap Survey has been circulated to all providers who have contracts for Locality Areas, IPSAC, Non IPSAC, 
ISF and STEP to understand the priorities, challenges and positives they experience within contract delivery 
across the various contracts.  The Bradford Care Association also circulated the email to provider encouraging 
them to respond to the survey. Of the 82 providers who currently deliver services for Home Support and we had 
25 responses, giving a 30% response rate.  The analysis is in Appendix 2.  
 
The feedback supported the information already collated internally, however with additional detail around cost 
of living, recruitment and relationship with the department.  
 
Provider Contract Meetings 
A review of the home support provider monitoring reports carried out over the last 12 months was undertaken 
in order to capture provider’s future plans and developments. 
 
The vast majority of service providers are feeding back difficulties with identifying new staff and retaining 
existing staff due to market pressures. Specifically, it’s becoming increasingly challenging to compete alongside 
the supermarkets, health and beauty and courier sectors which are offering better pay and terms and conditions. 
Also, for people who want to work in health and social care, providers have given feedback to say it is becoming 
unaffordable for their staff. The greatest challenge is workforce for providers to be able to provide a level of 
service that meets existing demand levels, which reflects the fragility of the local market place.  
 
BCA staffing discussions 
Discussion take place frequently with the BCA which is informing our workforce strategy. See section 6.5 ‘Good 
practice’ 
 
Service Improvement Board/ Provider meetings 
Providers have identified a need for work to be done to improve communication streams between provider, 
social worker and service user to avoid cancellation of packages. The Support Options Team are currently in 
talks with care home managers to discuss capacity, communication breakdown and call times to try see how 
things could improve. 
 
Lessons Learnt meeting 
On 16 May 2022, Commissioning Managers and Contract and Quality managers held a meeting to discuss the 
current home support contracts and identify lessons learnt. Items that were identified for review include 

Page 87



12 
 

workforce pressures, contract layering, collecting information on providers’ performance and market 
engagement. These are reflected in the issues section below. 
 
Winter Pressures* 
In order to increase resilience over Winter, additional funding was made available to 
- increase the hourly rate that Locality or ISF providers were paid so that they were on par with STEP, in 

order to encourage them to pick up short-term packages 
- Increase the hourly around the Wharfedale area where were having difficulties moving packages on 
- Pilot a new approach around Ilkley, using to cars and employing drivers to transport non-driving staff to 

and around the area. 
This was funded from DTA money and stopped on 31st March. The initiatives are still being evaluated: on the 
surface they successful in terms of increase in packages in that area, however more work is needed to be done 
to unpick any ripple effect on other areas (e.g. a corresponding decrease in another part of the district) and the 
full cost of the pilot; this was expensive and may not be viable for full-time delivery.  
 
 
4.3 Departmental Staff 
 
Qualitative research with Health and Social Care Staff 
Throughout May and June, a series of discussions were held with 15 staff across areas that intersected with 
the delivery of Home Support. These focussed on building a picture of the role that Home Support plays within 
the different elements of the system and capturing both the positives and challenges their team were 
experiencing, as well as any suggestions for improvement. All the meetings were transcribed and themes were 
pulled in to a document Themes from Home Support Feedback are in Appendix 1 
 
Capacity meetings 
A weekly meeting is held with departmental staff, identifying difficulties in placing packages with providers due 
to issues with capacity. From these, trends are identified and system pressures discussed.  
 
Workshop with DMT/ Key System Partners/ Providers 
A workshop with DMT is scheduled for 29th June 
Further workshops with Key System Partners and Providers will follow - dates TBC 
A workshop with HOSC members is pencilled in for August, with a follow up report in September.  
 
 
5. Current issues  
 
5.1 National Issues 
 
5.1.1 Home Support nationally 
It is recognised nationally that Home Support it is critical to the longstanding strategic intention to enable people 
to ‘age in place’ and to deliver care as close as possible to people’s homes, however for many years the home 
support market across England has been fragile with both large national providers and smaller local providers 
struggling to maintain business. The ‘churn’ seen in the Bradford market is reflected nationally, with pre-
pandemic 39% of local authorities having had experience of home support providers ceasing to trade. 

 
Key issues seen nationally are7: 
- Difficulties recruiting and retaining staff 
- Difficulties delivering in rural, diverse or deprived areas 
- Insufficient funding 
- Extensive growth in the need for home support (the DHSC have predicted a 57% increase in people 

needing support between 2018 and 2038) 

 
7 https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-12/Home-care-in-England-report.pdf; 
https://www.homecare.co.uk/news/article.cfm/id/1653300/More-home-care-staff-quitting; 
https://www.homecare.co.uk/advice/home-care-facts-and-stats-number-of-providers-service-users-workforce  

Page 88

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-12/Home-care-in-England-report.pdf
https://www.homecare.co.uk/news/article.cfm/id/1653300/More-home-care-staff-quitting
https://www.homecare.co.uk/advice/home-care-facts-and-stats-number-of-providers-service-users-workforce


13 
 

- The lack of a long-term vision for social care 
 
5.1.2 Workforce recruitment and retention 
Recruitment and retention has become increasingly challenging than before the pandemic8. Locally home 
support providers are reporting more competition with other sectors, with recruitment/retention generally against 
supermarkets, health/beauty, and the hospitality sectors.  
 
High staff turnover and workforce instability impacts negatively on the experiences of people receiving home 
support; increases changes in support provision; causes delay in support pick up; reduces the quality of care 
and increases provider’s costs Skills for Care estimate that the cost of recruiting each care worker is over £3.5k. 
Replacing half the frontline workforce each year, around 950 care workers, would costs commissioned providers 
around £3.5m per annum 9  
 
5.1.3 Discharge to Assess 
Once people no longer need acute hospital care, being at home or in a community setting (such as a care 
home) is generally considered the best place for them to continue recovery. However, unnecessary delays in 
being discharged from hospital are a problem that too many people experience. NHS figures suggested that 
on 13 March 2022, 12.9% of all available acute hospital beds were occupied by patients who no longer 
needed to be there 
 
NHS North East and Yorkshire Region have identified discharge and flow issues, and the greatest pressure is 
home with reablement where demand is outstripping capacity in a significant way 
 
Below shows where people are being discharged to and where would be best for them10 

 
 
5.1.4 Changes to the way we arrange and pay for support  
The recent white paper People at the Heart of Care sets out funded initiatives to implement proposals put 
forward in the Care Act. These include a ‘cap’ on care costs i.e. the maximum amount a person can be 
expected to pay for social care costs in their lifetime. It also presents that the Local Authority will play much 

 
8 Home care worker recruitment and retention 'harder than ever before', UKHCA finds (homecareinsight.co.uk) 
9 Calculating the cost of recruitment (skillsforcare.org.uk) 
10 Produced by NHS England and NHS Improvement for NHSEI North East Yorks Regional Webinar August 2021 

Page 89

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/uec-sitrep/urgent-and-emergency-care-daily-situation-reports-2021-22/
https://www.homecareinsight.co.uk/home-care-worker-recruitment-and-retention-harder-than-ever-before-ukhca-finds/
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Documents/Standards-legislation/CQC/Safe-staffing/Calculating-the-cost-of-recruitment.pdf


14 
 

more of a role in arranging people’s care when they are self-funded, and addressing the gap in costs between 
them and those who are eligible for LA funding and access care at LA negotiated rates.  
 
In preparation for this, we need to conduct and consider the findings from Market sustainability and fair cost of 
care exercise, ensuring the end result is a stable, diverse market with sufficient supply.  
 
5.2 Local issues  
From consultation detailed in section 4 above, the following issues with the market and current model have 
been pulled together into themes. 
 
Provider/ Market Issues 
 
5.2.1 Fragmented Market 
The current Home Support market is fragmented, with 82 organisations with 218 number of contracts between 
them who have been accredited at various points over the last decade or longer. This large number of different 
types of providers has often been the result of offering choice to Service Users however has meant that 
contracts are layered over each other as an increasing number of frameworks/ contract types are introduced. 
Section 2 above provides the detail of these. 
 
To date, the Council operates four different types of contracts for long term support, which were all introduced 
at different periods over the last nine years and continue to be utilised. With the Council’s brokerage teams 
taking a tapered approach to selecting organisations from current to old contract type based on their capacity 
to accept the support package/s.  
 
This has resulted in the ISF 1 contract having the largest share of the market at 34% of available hours and the 
locality contract taking just 29% of the available package hours 
 

 
Data taken as a snapshot on 27 July 2022 
 
Further work will be undertaken to map commissioned contract types by hours across the localities 
 
5.2.2 Disparate locations 
- Providers may not be able to create economies of scale 
- There is less ‘concentration’ of service users so that the effectiveness of the localities is diminished 
- The previous evaluation process meant that some local providers had to move from the area where they 

were established, to a new location they were less familiar with. 
 
5.2.3 Market failure 

ISF 1 Non IPSAC IPSAC Locality

Commissioned Contract Types by weekly Hours

Page 90



15 
 

- When setting up the Locality contracts previously, a far larger number of Service users stayed with their 
current provider than anticipated, so that the ‘indicative numbers’ in the tender were much lower than 
expected. Many providers were slow to start up and ten defaulted on their contract, meaning that the area 
had to be re-tendered immediately. 

- In the last 24 months, five service providers have withdrawn from the delivery of home support provision 
for OP/PD/SI. This has been largely attributed to staffing difficulties, with one provider leaving the market 
due to their own personal circumstances. 

- In the last 12 months, three providers have defaulted on their contracts. This was due to poor levels of 
performance, with recovery plans being introduced. 

- Conversely, there are some Providers who now have such a large number of packages/ hours that we 
could become too reliant on them which poses risk- it becomes difficult to manage under-performance - 
Providers can go in to default with few or no consequences-  and we cannot afford for them to fail if there 
is likely no alternative when we retender. 

 
5.2.4 Throughput between providers 
- The introduction of STEP has impacted on the flow of packages to Locality with the individual staying with 

the STEP provider for long-term support via an ISF. The levels of long term support picked up by Locality 
providers has been much reduced since 2019. 

- There is currently no incentive for Providers to enable people quickly or pass packages on to other 
providers. 

- When Locality Providers do not pick up the package in the area, this is then advertised on Connect To 
Support. Other providers can then pick this work up but there is only a general onus of them to do this, and 
difficult/ complex/ night packages which are less attractive may take weeks to be picked up. 

- Providers are sometimes competing against each other in one area as they have had to step in to different 
locations. 

 
5.2.5 Discharge to Assess 
The pandemic accelerated the direction of travel for people to be assessed outside of an acute setting. This 
approach was implemented quickly as a necessity, but now needs to be built into the business as usual.  
- Due to the earlier discharge we are seeing people requiring Home Support (Pathway 1) but who are likely 

to have higher, complex needs resulting in an increase in package size and often double-ups. DTA 
processes have put significant pressure on Providers due to issues around the quality of discharge 
information, the quick response time needed, their ability to access service such as Occupational Therapy 
and larger packages of support decreasing in size suddenly after DTA funding is ended.  

- Short-term packages often involve the same amount of back-office time to set up as a long-term package, 
which makes them financially less attractive and can act as a disincentive.  

- Where BEST are unable to meet demand, STEP and Locality (or others) may potentially pick up. Both 
contracts require Providers to meet all new ‘demand’ for service within 4 hours and 2 hours respectively 
(the latter being where this includes people being discharged from hospital with on-going support needs) 
but rarely meet these short timescales.  

- Providers do not have the capacity to be agile and responsive to rapid response packages or taking 
packages out of hours. This is generally due to rotas developed one week in advance, and workforce 
issues which means they are unable to pivot quickly. 

- Discharges from hospital for end of life care are sent to providers who are not able to navigate the fast 
track pathway resulting in additional assessments and poorer care for the individual 

The impact of this is a back- up in hospital discharges, ideally there would be a steady, manageable stream 
rather than ebb and flow. 
 
5.2.6 Reablement 
The STEP service that was introduced to supplement BEST has worked well to support the flow out of hospital, 
however has caused an impact on the wider system 
- STEP were commissioned as an intermediate service, with time and task clauses within their contract  
- The specification does not require them to work to the same standards as BEST, nor do they have access 

to the same level of resources.  
- This can result in a second rate service to the individual (compared to BEST). Statistical analysis across 

BEST, STEP and the wider homecare market show that there is a small difference in the amount of positive 
outcomes across each areas, but when the positive outcomes are analysed it is notable that BEST have 

Page 91



16 
 

the largest percentage (67%) who are able to self-manage without a package of care. 
- STEP services have had issues with recruitment resulting in the wider Home Support market being asked 

to fill the gap in service 
- Data analysis is not robust enough to draw definitive conclusion due to the small cohort of people within 

the BEST service as opposed to BEST and the wider homecare  
- Reablement support on DTA can cover a range of tasks from visits to ensure medication is taken through 

to enabling an individual to undertake tasks independently 
 
5.2.7 Service lines 
Often people leaving hospital require a temporary increase in hours over their normal package. If this is 
classified as reablement, it is funded by the Council for up to 6 weeks. On discharge BEST will take on the 
whole package as enablement even if they had an existing package before 
- This means the entire package is free to the individual as the council is unable to claim a client contribution.  
- BEST are delivering previously assessed support needs (rather than just reablement) to the individual. This 

situation is being considered internally to understand the most appropriate way to ensure the individual is 
supported by their original provider, so that BEST can deliver just the reablement aspect of a package.  

- Home support service lines are not being ended in a timely manner by the social worker, this is causing 
issues for BEST when a package is referred to them.  This is also causing a discrepancy between the 
hours we commission and the hours we deliver as commissioned hours are inflated due to the line not 
being ended. 

 
5.2.8 Parity of Costs 
There is a discrepancy in the market between different providers for intermediate care. STEP providers are 
currently paid £20.60 p/h as a reflection of the increased monitoring of the changes during the initial period of 
support to people identified as requiring assessment and package adjustments, as well as more frequent 
communication with the Council’s Reviewing Teams. However, STEP cannot meet the demand, so not all 
packages were being picked up within timescales, increasing pressure on the hospitals/ BEST. As part of Winter 
Resilience, all providers were given an interim uplift for this work, paid from DTA funding. This has now stopped 
and the different rates have recommenced.  
 
5.2.9 Hospital Retainers 
There is a hospital retainer scheme where by Providers are paid at the hourly rate for up to four (4) weeks to 
keep the package open whilst a person is in hospital. This has been previously praised by the CQC peer review 
that took place in 2018/19, however Providers are often not taking back the original package, due to the 
increased size of package. (see also DTA at 5.2.6) 
 
 
5.2.10 Non-social care activity 
There are packages of care that include non- regulated activity such as domestic support, shopping and social 
inclusion. These are funded at the same price as personal care. They can also be included as part of a 
reablement package without any charge to the individual for 6 weeks. During consultation it raised that locally 
these are partly responsible for the increasing home support hours however is difficult to monitor due to lack of 
discrete service line.  
 
5.2.11 Brokerage Systems 
We currently have 2 Brokerage Teams: For general reablement and DTA support, the BEST Duty Team can 
place with STEP Providers but also use the rest of the market to pick up the work as needed. Support Options 
Team broker for long-term work on Connect to Support. If Locality providers do not pick up for their area, 
Support Options will follow up and/ or use the rest of the market to support.  
- BEST team work 7 days a week and contact the providers directly to place enablement packages and push 

the packages towards them. This is resource intensive but due to the urgency is often faster.  
- Support Options place packages on Connect to Support for providers to pick up packages., however 

Providers do not always check CTS frequently. Support Options then use a lot of resource following this 
up having to then constantly phone and email Providers, and check/ update CTS.  

- This has created somewhat of a competing situation where the general market may be approached by 
BEST and feel they have no need to check CTS.  

Page 92



17 
 

- Connect to Support – placement system is used for the placement of OP and PD/SI support packages. It 
also includes LD/MH when the existing placement methods have been exhausted or providers cannot be 
identified to meet the requirements of the support package. The local CCG have adopted the same platform 
recently but the level of implementation/utilisation and impact on Providers needs to be understood further 
with the CCG. 

 
5.2.12 Working Hours 
There is a disconnect between staffing hours for the Provider market (including back- office) the BEST Team, 
hospital teams and the needs of Service Users. Provider back office and Support Options generally work office 
hours Mon-Fri, where BEST work longer shifts with some availability through evening (and overnight). Hospitals 
are 24/7 as are Service User needs.  
- When hospitals discharge late in the day (especially Fri pm to Monday) it is often difficult to put support in 

place.  
- New packages often do not start until Monday 
- It is difficult to put in quickly a short-term intervention to react to a temporary situation eg urine infection 
- This is likely more of an issue regarding short-term work: when Support Options have trialled working 

weekends and bank holidays – the results were 95-99% down time for Support Options as no or very few 
referrals were coming through – so staff were paid, but with no work to do 

 
5.2.13 Locality Boundaries and ‘Challenging’ Areas* 
In the last tender, smaller service delivery areas were created to align the provision with internal operational 
localities. This aimed to expand the potential work pool by allowing for the recruitment of staff that may not 
drive. Generally, the move to smaller areas has had a lot of positives (see section 4.1) however the effectiveness 
of this has been diluted by the market fragmentation and they do not fully utilise a CLS approach and link to 
Area teams/ hubs. 
 
Future commissioning will review the boundaries, in particular around Health areas to ascertain if any 
adjustments need to be made to existing locality areas. 

 
5.2.13.1 Ilkley/ Burley/ Menston  

These areas continue to be challenging. They cover a significant geographical area that is not walkable 
across the whole locality, and as much of the area is rural or very rural there are poor public transport links.  
Whilst some other locality providers have been successful in recruiting carers who live locally, this has not 
been so successful in the Ilkley locality, probably due to the demographics in that area, which in most parts 
is far more affluent than most other areas of the district, and possibly with an older demographic 
 
Data suggests the vast majority of providers operate around Bradford City Centre, whilst fewer numbers 
appear in the centre and towards the boundaries of the district. This indicates that providers are seeking to 
operate in the urban areas of Bradford District where we see a higher population of people but not 
necessarily older age adults. Over the winter periods, it has become increasingly apparent that we 
experience a shortage of supply in more rural parts of the district, e.g. In Addingham, Ilkley, Menston and 
Burley and Wharfdale, provider options were so low that a grant had to be introduced towards the end of 
2021, with only one organisation coming forward for this.  The MoonBoots pilot (paying for people and fuel 
so that walkers could be driven to around rural areas) was successful but came at a high cost. 
 

5.2.13.2 South  
South Constituency providers on the whole have been new to the District and have taken a long time to 
establish, or have not fully established – this has started to impact on BEST in 2020 with long term 
placements taking longer than normal to place, meaning that people were staying with BEST longer in this 
area compared to other areas (Ilkley aside) 

 
Non- personal care Home Support Hours 
 
5.2.14 Sitting Service 
During Covid-19 the Timeout sitting service has only been able to offer a limited service.  In most cases this 
has meant that people who have a current home support service have not been receiving their usual Timeout 

Page 93



18 
 

service (priority has been given to people who are receiving no other home support services) or new services 
have not been offered if home support is in place. 
 
BEST colleagues have identified that this has led to an increased demand for home support providers to deliver 
‘sitting services’ to support carer breaks. This has an impact on the budget but also has an impact on service 
capacity and hospital discharge.  

 
5.2.15 Domestic/ Social Hours 
Home support contract Providers are delivering for social inclusion, shopping, cleaning etc. and we are unable 
to establish how much of the contract is delivering this type of work – packages that include these types of tasks 
mask the true picture of positive outcomes for enablement 
 
5.2.16 Nights 
Night Roaming/task and time visits are included in the existing agreements for the locality providers. The volume 
of work is inconsistent and deemed as unviable because demand is very low for night support across the whole 
district and providers cannot attract staff to work on a night call basis paid for on task and time. When packages 
are placed on CTS they are generally not picked up.  
 
5.2.17 New Provider Requests* 
When new packages of care are sent to the provider market to be picked up the providers are sometimes unable 
to accommodate the times that an individual wish to receive their care which can cause difficulties with the 
relationship between individual and provider company.  There is often a mismatch in expectations between 
providers and individuals about what constitutes a late call which can result in the individual in expressing a 
wish to change providers. 
 
Consideration needs to be given to how we communicate with social workers, individuals and providers to 
ensure that expectations are managed to be realistic with a focus towards conflict resolution and not an 
immediate move towards a change of providers. 
 
The change to package form is used to both amend packages and end packages and requires the same level 
of detail for both.  The amount of detail required is contributing to the forms not being completed in a timely 
manner which then causes financial and time challenges to backdate changes. This process has been reviewed 
and a pilots for a new approach are in place. 
 
5.2.18 Staffing 
In addition to the general pressures that are being faced nationally as described in section 5.1 above, some of 
the specific issues noted in Bradford are:  
- As a result of the workforce challenges, Providers are more likely to pick up packages that are more straight-

forward to deliver, so more complex packages are not always picked up in a timely manner 
- Some staff are moving from one sector to another as the opportunities for career progression are limited by 

the current time and task model 
- Staff are moving out the sector into Health as there is no clear pathway/ opportunities within Bradford sector. 

When people are recruited to more senior roles e.g. care coordinator, care manager and RM but not 
sufficient people entering the system 

- Having staff who can drive is often essential to delivering services and maintaining capacity within provision. 
Due to the pandemic there is increase demand driving tests meaning availability is limited with dates being 
offered three to six months from booking. Bradford Providers regularly raise this as an issue, particularly in 
more rural areas with poorer transport links.  

- Providers report a lack of integration on the frontline between health and social care.  Staff continue to feel 
under-valued and second class to NHS. Costs of internal recruitment and no accommodation available.  
 

Further detail and the Workforce Strategy is in 6.5.6 below 
 

5.2.19 Sector recruitment  
Social Care is not the only sector struggling to recruit and retain staff (including Nursing Home staff). Initial 
discussion with BDCT colleagues highlighted a shortage of district nurses- there is the potential here for 
opportunities to work together to address overall capacity issues. 

Page 94



19 
 

 
5.2.20 Ethical Care Charter  
The Ethical Care Charter highlights how poor terms and conditions for workers can help contribute towards 
lower standards of care for people in receipt of homecare services. The charter includes a number of practical 
recommendations to ensure that carers travel time is funded, that they do not have to rush from one client to 
the next, and that residents should keep the same carer as far as possible. 
 
The new contracts set out to address the issue of very short call provision (15 minute visits) by phasing these 
out, in line with the Unison Ethical Care Charter. In 2021/22 a 7.2% uplift was applied to contract home support 
rates in recognition of the need to improve the terms and conditions of staff in the sector. In a recent survey 
97% of providers reported increasing staff wages as a result of this uplift.  
 
In August 2021, a survey was carried out which included key questions about the Ethical Care Charter. 35 
providers responded to the survey. 63% of the providers that responded to the survey stated that they were 
meeting stage one of the Ethical Care Charter. The barrier considered for not meeting stage one was put 
forward as being unable to meet mileage cost (23p per mile). 43% of providers that responded to the survey 
stated that they were meeting stage two of the Ethical Care Charter, with barriers put forward for those not 
meeting stage two as being the uncertainty of work and the Council’s uplift not sufficiently allowing for this. 29% 
of the providers that responded believed they were meeting stage three of the criteria. The barriers put forward 
for not being able to meet stage three were a lack of funds within the organisation to be able to pay the real 
living wage, an unsustainable hourly rate payed by the local authority when compared to the UKHSA and 
insufficient care fees paid to them for staff to be able to work full shifts and offer improved terms and conditions. 
 
5.2.21 Cost of living  
The sharp increase in cost of living has exacerbated difficulties in the workforce. Feedback from the Provider 
Snap Survey and BCA express concerns regarding the rising cost of fuel, general cost of living and competing 
with other markets eg retail and hospitality, and supports the national issues detailed in section 5.1.2). In 
addition to this, providers reported,  
- Neighbouring Authority Leeds has committed to have specified a minimum payment to staff of £10.50. Some 

staff have left to work over the border and a Provider who works in both reports that this has created a divide 
in the team as Bradford staff are paid less.  

- Some staff are worried about using their cars for work due to the rise in petrol costs. This will have a high 
impact in the more rural areas where we already struggle.  

- Lack of car drivers is further exacerbated by the cost of learning to drive, car, insurance and petrol (see also 
5.2.17) 

- No payment for Covid19 absences 
- The cap on universal credit and hours that people can work.   
 
5.2.22 Procurement and Accreditation 
- The financial limits places on providers as part of the previous due diligence meant that some new-start-

ups to the area were awarded, where already established providers where not awarded business. 
Observations by the Contract team have noted that local providers will ‘see out’ rough patches, possible 
due to a commitment to the area. They are also more engaged in Service Improvement and forums.  

- The evaluation process meant that some current providers/ local providers had to move from the area 
where they were already established, and a new entrant to the market took over. It generally acknowledged 
that Providers and their staff perform better in areas they are familiar with, as well as facilitating better 
outcomes for service users due to their knowledge of community links.  

- There is currently no mechanism for new Providers to be added strategically (although this could increase 
market fragmentation) 

- Some providers are on more than once framework e.g. Locality Contracts and ISF Framework and some 
providers who we still place with have not had been through any recent accreditation e.g. the previous 
IPSAC framework. This means that we have carried out different due diligence on some Providers, some 
of whom will not have undergone any recent assurance.  

- There is also a ‘backdoor’ approval process whereby Providers who have been accredited by Health are 
added to the Council’s payment system and may deliver jointly funded packages.  

Page 95



20 
 

- Some of the recent tenders for Localities where there has been market failure, have been awarded to 
Providers who are already struggling. They have been slow to start up and in some cases still under- 
performing.  

- Each time there is a new tender/ a provider fails, there is a risk ok staff being lost to the Social Care sector. 
In addition, staff do not always TUPE to the new provider which makes it difficult for providers to pick up 
the full packages needed as there is no guarantee of workforce.  

 
6. Evidence and best practice – what others are doing, alternative service models etc. 
 
6.1 Policies and Direction of travel 
 
 
National 
- Hospital Discharge and Community Support11 
- The Health and Social Care Approach to Winter Pressures12 
- Health and Care Act 202213 
- People at the Heart of Care: Adult Social Care Reform White Paper14 
- Market Sustainability and Fair cost of Care Fund 2022 to 202315  
- Levelling Up the United Kingdom16 
- Home First/Discharge to Assess17 
- Unison’s Ethical Care Charter18 
- Social Care Reform and Independent Review by Baroness Cavendish19 
- The Health Foundation How ageing affects health and care need in England20  
- Future of an Ageing population21 
- REAL Centre Making Health and Care Services More Sustainable22 
- Think Local Act Personal – The Asset Based Area23 
 
Internal 
- Home First 
- Commissioning strategy 
- The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy24 outlines the key priorities for implementing the ‘Better Health, 

Better Lives’ priority of the Bradford District Plan.  
 
6.2 Alternative Models  
 
 
Policy-makers have outlined their ambitions to provide joined-up care closer to home and enable people to 
remain independent and in their own homes. Home Support/ Care is a central component of meeting these 
ambitions. Against a backdrop of varying quality of care and rising demand, some innovative models and 
approaches to commissioning25 and delivering home support are emerging. 

 
11 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospital-discharge-and-community-support-guidance 
12 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-health-and-social-care-approach-to-winter 
13 https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3022 
14 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper 
15 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance 
16 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom  
17 https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-health-improvement/systems-
resilience/overall-approach/discharge-to-assess  
18 https://www.unison.org.uk/content/uploads/2013/11/On-line-Catalogue220142.pdf  
19 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-reform-an-independent-review-by-baroness-cavendish  
20 https://www.health.org.uk/publications/our-ageing-population  
21 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/future-of-an-ageing-population.pdf 
22 https://www.health.org.uk/what-we-do/real-centre  
23 https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Latest/The-Asset-Based-Area-/  
24 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.pdf (bradford.gov.uk) 
25 New-models-of-home-care.pdf  

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospital-discharge-and-community-support-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-health-and-social-care-approach-to-winter/the-health-and-social-care-approach-to-winter
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/3022
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-health-improvement/systems-resilience/overall-approach/discharge-to-assess
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-health-improvement/systems-resilience/overall-approach/discharge-to-assess
https://www.unison.org.uk/content/uploads/2013/11/On-line-Catalogue220142.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-reform-an-independent-review-by-baroness-cavendish
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/our-ageing-population
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816458/future-of-an-ageing-population.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/what-we-do/real-centre
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/Latest/The-Asset-Based-Area-/
https://jsna.bradford.gov.uk/documents/Other%20key%20public%20health%20documents/Joint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategies/Joint%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202018-23.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-12/New-models-of-home-care.pdf


21 
 

 
The extent to which these approaches have been adopted and are widely used varies in lots of ways and for a 
number of reasons. Despite some being long established in policy rhetoric, such as outcomes-based 
commissioning, the extent to which finding examples of them in practice is limited. Traditional approaches to 
commissioning are commonly cited as a barrier to spreading innovative models of care. 
 
Some alternative models of providing care at home – for example, Shared Lives and the US Capable 
programme – have robust evidence to demonstrate improved quality and/or impact. Others show great promise 
and the following direct extracts from the Kings Fund New Models for home are provided for reference below. 
 
6.2.1 Wellbeing Teams 
Self-managed teams that focus on person-centred care and supporting people in their communities, inspired 
by the Buurtzorg approach. Care is based on a support sequence co-designed with the person to deliver their 
priorities. This sequence is repeated every six months to ensure that people are able to live well at home and 
are connected to their community. It involves moving through the following steps: 
 

- self-care – a health coaching approach focused on what can be done to make the individual feel more 
confident in how they are managing their care at home 

- digital or assistive technology – this may include remote sensors or facilitating video calls with family 
members who do not live nearby 

- community – this may include lunch clubs or falls clinics 
- wellbeing teams are the final step in the sequence. 

 
Wellbeing teams are small, self-managed and neighbourhood-based. Individuals choose their own team using 
video introductions and one-page profiles, with a guarantee of no more than four people. They design an ideal 
week for the person, where visits have an indicative time related to what they are trying to achieve in that visit. 
Reduced travel time and lack of hierarchy provides low back-office costs. Wellbeing teams work closely with 
Community Circles to provide support beyond formal services. Wellbeing teams are being developed in a range 
of formats, including with local authorities incorporating reablement teams, or teams that are based in GP 
surgeries 
 
Locally this model could be aligned with a community led support with Area teams or a wider integrated 
approach, but which will be a significant culture shift and require a collaborative agreement to move towards 
that new way of working 
 
6.2.2 Outcome Based Commissioning 
Moving to outcomes-based commissioning requires investment and time to realise benefits as well as new ways 
of working. The onus is on providers to take financial risk and this may be less attractive for some providers. 
One of the barriers to implementing outcomes-based commissioning is that outcomes are difficult to measure, 
which means that providing assurance for commissioners is more complex. Technology and digital approaches 
to care management may enable a more outcomes-focused approach to care – for example, with programmes 
that enable capturing of data about individuals (see ‘Co-ordinated care planning’). Conversely, existing technical 
approaches such as electronic call monitoring, which may be used to provide assurance based on time, can 
often act as a barrier to adopting new cultures of trust and relationships that enable outcomes-based 
approaches. Outcomes should be measured against progress towards personal goals.  
 
One potential challenge with outcomes-based approaches is that they could lead providers to cherry-pick 
individuals who will provide good outcomes. This is linked to complexities of measuring outcomes and linking 
payment to results. Outcomes-based contracts themselves will not hold providers to account for achieving 
improved outcomes for service users, and ongoing constructive relationships between providers and 
commissioners will be required. 
 
Locally we need to consider how to build in incentives or requirements to address potential issues about 
packages not being picked up but also an incentive to reduce the package, e.g. through informal or community 
support or re-able the person where possible. Care will need to be taken to ensure that this does not create 
perverse incentives or destabilise the market through unintended consequences. 
 

Page 97



22 
 

6.2.3 Integrated health and social care community-based teams 
Working with services beyond social care such as district nursing, occupational therapy, housing and other 
public services offers an opportunity to maximise assets and ensure that people’s experiences of care are co-
ordinated and person-centred 
 
Integrated community teams bring together community health, social care and other professionals. They exist 
in many forms: some use stratification and case management approaches aimed at specific populations, others 
are based on principles of placed-based teams such as the Buurtzorg example of Autonomous team working, 
while others still are aligned with GP practices. Key elements include shared assessments and care planning, 
which have the potential to reduce duplication and improve co-ordination of care. There is potential for 
alternative approaches to workforce and traditional roles – for example, having more generalist or flexible roles. 
Some approaches are commissioned jointly by the local authority and the CCG. The important elements are 
that working together enables care that is focused on meeting all of a person’s needs 
 
Locally, an integrated approach could open up the possibilities for a career pathway for workers within the 
organisation that they work for and putting in place suitable packages of remuneration to acknowledge differing 
skills and workloads within the career pathway, providing better parity with Health.  
 
‘The effectiveness of new care models is very dependent on whether those implementing them really 
understand that they are about new models and not about organisational re-structuring.’ 
 
6.2.4 Assistive Technology 
While some new models, such as technological adaptation, may be considered to have potential to reduce 
demand or usage of formal care services, there is little evidence to date that this is happening. Cost saving may 
be an unrealistic aim of some or all new models of home support, particularly if home support budgets are 
considered in isolation and in the short term. 
 
While there are multiple examples of technologies and tools that may be very effective at promoting 
independence, preventing falls and helping to manage risks, the impact these have on changing the approach 
to statutory home support services is limited and there is a question about the extent of demand for them. These 
technologies do not remove the need for care services. They should be viewed as an enabling tool for care 
workers and service users where new ways of working have been developed, as a preventive tool and in 
supporting informal carers. 
 
Issues with assistive technology include a lack of ongoing support for the use of the technology, inappropriate 
choice of equipment for personal capabilities and circumstances at the assessment stage, and a failure to keep 
its use under constant review. 
 
Home automation and advanced telecare: A home automation package, including a light path that comes on 
when someone steps out of bed, gas and smoke sensors, fall alert devices, alarms, and 24/7 remote telecare 
call centre assistance. An evaluation found that it contributed to a reduction in falls, reduction in hospitalisation, 
reduction in depression, and carer productivity (Carretero 2014).’ 
 
Locally this will need a two pronged approach and would be dependent upon the robustness of the existing 
digital infrastructure. A locality based approach could facilitate implementation to address differing infrastructure 
requirements. 
 
Carer marketplaces  
Examples such as SuperCarers and Care.com aim to reduce cost and promote consumer choice by linking 
self-funders directly to individual care workers. Care.com is in part funded by Google Capital and also operates 
across childcare, petcare and cleaning, among other sectors. They may offer greater choice and cheaper 
service provision. However, these are introductory platforms that do not provide services directly and are not 
CQC registered. 
 
To facilitate development within the district time and support would need to be put in to developing the PA 
market and existing micro providers and supporting self-funders to access that market with confidence. This is 
out of scope of the re-tender but could work alongside it.  

Page 98



23 
 

 
6.3 National Good Practice/ Examples 
 
 
Wellbeing teams in Calderdale and London.  Equal Care Co-op26 is an example of a company who is 
working to set up wellbeing teams working in circles of support. Equal Care first established in London and 
have been placed on the Home Support Approved Provider List in Calderdale where they now have 
established an office base and presence 
 
Outcomes-based commissioning in Wiltshire: Wiltshire is an example of a large-scale change in 
commissioning approach, which involved reducing 90 individual contracts worth £14 million to eight 
outcomes-based contracts with four providers worth £11 million. Wiltshire's Help to Live at Home service27 
is an outcomes-based model for commissioning domiciliary care with payment-by-results on rehabilitation. 
Since its launch, it has enabled the council to place fewer people every year in long-term care and to make 
significant financial savings 
 
Systems thinking in Gwynedd Council 
Systems thinking considers systems as whole entities, rather than looking at their individual components. This 
enables complex relationships and their effects to be examined. Applying systems thinking approaches 
requires a fundamental shift from thinking in a step-by step, linear way to a circular, more holistic way that 
views complex problems as interrelated. Gwynedd Council28 introduced systems thinking to develop a new 
way of working in 2022 with a 5 + 4 year contract.  It has taken up to 6 years to develop and change prior to 
implementation and were supported by Vanguard Systems Thinking 
 
Carer Marketplace in Devon 
Devon have developed Humans of the Peninsula29 which aims to connect people to join their dedicated 
network for both paid and unpaid opportunities to support people throughout the Peninsula to make life a bit 
better for everyone. Tasks advertised are such as clearing the fridge, shopping, looking after the home such 
as cleaning and laundry, paying bills, cooking, giving people prompts to take meds, making appointments and 
providing companionship, all to ensure a person’s wellbeing needs are met, so they can remain well in the 
community. This project has been built up during the pandemic capitalising on the interest in volunteering 
opportunities during that time. 
 
Helen Sanderson in Leeds 
Leeds are implementing the Helen Sanderson teams model and also moving away from a finance model to 
try and have a flexible service – they will be piloting something soon. Leeds are looking at annualised hours, 
so people can have flexibility through a month. Also integrating with district nursing so may take on some 
preventative visits. May also pay provider as a team rather than hours. Leeds has taken 2 years of planning 
and pilots to reach this stage in implementation whilst having support from the Helen Sanderson organisation. 
 
Isle of Wight Personal Assistant Initiative 
Personal assistants (PAs) can enable people to be more independent and in control of their lives. The Isle of 
Wight Council has worked with partners to establish a personal assistant market that is well placed to support 
residents in their own homes and reduce avoidable admissions to care homes. 
 
The council has used PAs30 to avoid and reduce care home admissions by increasing the number of PAs 
across the island, focusing on rural localities whereby historically home support capacity was limited and 
resulted in care home admission. Providing training to PAs to support complex needs, for example, manual 
handling training, meds training etc Implementing a specific PA scheme related to support hospital discharge 

 
26 https://www.equalcare.coop/  
27 https://www.local.gov.uk/adult-social-care-Wiltshire's Help to Live at Home service. 
28 https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/Adults-and-older-people/Home-Care-Project.aspx 
29 https://www.humansofthepeninsula.co.uk/  
30 https://local.gov.uk/isle-wight-personal-assistant-hospital-discharge-initiative-and-pa-hub. 

Page 99

https://www.equalcare.coop/
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/efficiency-and-income-generation/demand-management/case-studies/adult-social-care-0#:~:text=Wiltshire's%20Help%20to%20Live%20at%20Home%20service%20is%20an%20outcomes,to%20make%20significant%20financial%20savings
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Health-and-social-care/Adults-and-older-people/Home-Care-Project.aspx
https://www.humansofthepeninsula.co.uk/
https://local.gov.uk/case-studies/isle-wight-personal-assistant-hospital-discharge-initiative-and-pa-hub%23:~:text=Personal%20assistants%20(PAs)%20can%20enable,avoidable%20admissions%20to%20care%20homes


24 
 

to home and in addition utilised PAs to support crisis situations in the community whereby care home 
admission was often the default position. 
 
6.4 Regional overview 
 
 
Yorkshire & Humber Region 
The Yorkshire and Humber 31 meeting in March 2022 captured the regional position for local authorities and 
where each of them are in the commissioning process with regards to their immediate area. At the time, 8 out 
of 15 Local Authorities in the Yorkshire and Humber are recommissioning their Home Support in the next 
year. Some discussion was held about the differences across each area and the number of providers that 
work across different local authorities.  
 
Barnsley are looking to do a joint cost modelling for a flat rate or bandwith 
 
North Lincolnshire have a base rate with rural and complex additions but welcome consideration of a 
regional contract. They are also looking to increase technology usage 
 
Leeds are moving away from a finance model to try to have a more flexible services with consideration of 
annualised hours and integrating with district nursing to take on some preventative visits. Also considering 
paying providers as teams not hours. 
 
Rotherham are looking to undertake a joint contract with Health.  Looking at a flexible model, particularly 
around a trusted assessor model to increase capacity and the ability to decommission care packages 
 
East Riding looking at a large open framework with an ambition to move from task and finish to outcomes 
based that supports the market 
 
North Yorkshire are moving from an approved provider list linking in PAMMS work and outcome based 
approaches 
 
Sheffield looking towards a locality based model and piloting neighbourhood and outcome based work 
 
York have an outcome based specification and rapid service in place that is not able to expand with providers 
who are stretched and some leaving the market 
 
Kirklees have moved to a principal provider per neighbourhood with that one having 70% of the market 
 
Wakefield 
The local authority Commissioners proposed a transformational contract over several years which would 
allow flexibility to adapt to a culture shift within the Council and Providers. Their Procurement team were 
positive; however, the legal team would not endorse the proposal which resulted in the team running out of 
time to deliver a step change. Two contracts were then put in place over short timescales to facilitate change 
every couple of years to get to the culture change envisaged. 
 
Y&H ADASS Homecare Group 
Suggestions have been made by the participants of the Y&H ADASS Home Care group about moving 
towards universal terms and conditions with basic standard clauses that are region wide to support providers 
whilst still enabling a tailored package that would work for individual authorities. This is being considered by 
the Y&H ADASS Homecare Group as a positive suggestion.  
 
 
6.5 Internal Good Practice 
 

 
31 Yorkshire and Humber ADASS Homecare Group 22-23.docx" 

Page 100

file:///M:/Commissioning/CURRENT%20SERVICES/HOME%20SUPPORT/1.%20PREP%20AND%20DEVELOPMENT/7.%20OTHER%20LA%20EXAMPLES/Yorkshire%20and%20Humber%20ADASS%20Homecare%20Group%2022-23.docx


25 
 

 
6.5.1 Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) 
Bradford stats are top in the country. Historically, Bradford Districts and Craven have low levels of delayed 
transfers of care (DTOCs).  Bradford is ranked 7 nationally and 3 compared with statistical neighbours, with 
current performance at 3.6 per 100,000 population. The NHS England target is for Bradford to perform better 
than 3.8 per 100,000 for all delays.  This has only been achievable by all parts of the system pulling together, 
but notably 
 
- Pre-pandemic Bradford already had in place a discharge model that included Enablement Coordinators 

and Trusted Assessors which help facilitate a faster discharge.  
- Bradford has the Bradford Enablement Support Team (BEST) an Outstanding in-house reablement team 

(BEST), and the Home Support Reviewing Team (HRST) which can both work with people effectively and 
then reducing packages quickly.  

 
6.5.2 Localities 
In the last tender, smaller service delivery areas were created to align the provision with internal operational 
localities. This aimed to expand the potential work pool by allowing for the recruitment of staff that may not drive 
from the local area and reduce journey time. Generally, the move to smaller areas has been welcomed.  
 
6.5.3 Partnership working 
There are generally good relationships across the system. The introduction of the Capacity meeting has 
helped bridge understanding across the system and Service Improvement Board and provider forums offer 
opportunity for dialogue with Providers. There have been a couple of ‘Quick Wins’ meetings where Providers 
have shared ideas which Commissioning has been able to develop, or their own good practice and 
innovations, in order to build resilience across the sector and BEST and Support Options have worked to 
‘group’ packages together for Providers.  
 
Some of the comments from the Qualitative Interviews include 
- Change is already happening and there is appetite for improving further 
- Co-production, partnership working and increased communication are the key areas teams are working 

on 
- We have good foundations to build upon and expand on 
- There is recognition that change will not happen in isolation and teams are ready to take further steps 

into co production 
- Co-location has been very positive for understanding other team pressures 
 
6.5.4 Community Led Support in Bradford 
Community Led Support seeks to change the culture and practice of community health and social work 
delivery so that it becomes more clearly values-driven, community focused in achieving outcomes, 
empowering of staff and a true partnership with local people.  It has a person-centred flexible support service 
which supports people to take control of their lives, and do the things they want to do. Ideally working closely 
with the people they support, their families and carers to deliver a wide range of supported leisure, learning, 
and employment opportunities.  
 
6.5.5 Providers’ response to Covid and DTA 
Providers have been tested significantly since the start of the pandemic, taking on short term support packages 
and supporting discharge to assess model.  
 
6.5.6 Recruitment and retention 
The Bradford Workforce Strategy  
Skills for Care is a workforce development body that the Council has commissioned to undertake the Bradford 
Workforce Social Care Strategy.  The aims, key priorities, and objectives of the Bradford Workforce Strategy 
are detailed in the pdf document below.  

Bradford Workforce 
Strategy .pdf  

Page 101



26 
 

 
Advertising Strategy  
The Council have employed various methods of advertising to support recruitment in the adult social care 
sector.  
 
- The Council have distributed leaflets and posters encouraging people to join the adult social care sector 

to local units across the Bradford District to support recruitment in local areas.  
- The Marketing and Communications Team, for the Health and Wellbeing department, are making 

magnetic car signs that will signpost individuals to job vacancies, i.e., the Bradford Cares Website. The 
magnetic car signs will be attached to Council vehicles used for social care.  

- The Council are using master adverts to advertise vacancies in adult social care. Previously, managers 
were responsible for advertising vacancies for their own service area. Master adverts filter vacancies by 
job role, rather than service area. For example, the Council may advertise a vacancy for an Enablement 
Assistant. The advert will list the service areas that are recruiting for an Enablement Assistant, as 
opposed to each service area advertising for an Enablement Assistant. Master adverts are being used to 
streamline the job hunting and recruitment process. 

- The Council are arranging for ambassadors to visit schools and speak to students about career pathways 
in social care. Students will have the opportunity to learn about the benefits of working in social care. 

 
 
Social Care Academy Model  
Initiatives to support recruitment and retention are being planned ahead of autumn and winter when service 
pressures are expected to increase. The BCA are working with the Council to develop a more strategic approach 
to recruitment. 
 
The Social Care Academy model was built on existing projects and infrastructure. The flowchart below lists the 
range of services working together to support recruitment and the ways people are being supported with job 
hunting and career progression opportunities. The model intends to encourage students and young people to 
join the adult social care sector by making access to training, qualifications and work placements more 
convenient. There is opportunity for more funding into the Social Care Academy as a result of the Prince’s Trust 
£40,000 grant. 
 
 

 
 
The Bradford Cares Recruitment Portal 
The Bradford Cares Recruitment Portal was developed by the BCA and the Council to allow the Council and 
independent care providers to advertise their job vacancies and inform individuals interested in working in the 
adult social care sector of the variety of jobs available.  

Page 102



27 
 

 
Independent care providers, who are BCA members, can contact the BCA admin and request a job vacancy 
form. The provider will complete the vacancy form and return to the BCA admin. The BCA will add the 
vacancy to the job portal and update the provider if they have success with recruiting using the Bradford 
Cares Portal.  
 
Bradford Cares offers a streamlined approach to recruitment and job seeking as it helps match job seekers 
with care providers who have job vacancies.  
 
The Bradford Cares Recruitment Portal can be accessed using this link: https://bradfordcares.co.uk/  
 
 
SkillsHouse Jobseeker Pathway 
Jobseekers are encouraged to contact SkillsHouse. SkillsHouse will provide the job seeker with an application 
form and support them with completion. SkillsHouse use value based recruitment to assess job seekers and 
ensure only appropriate applicants are chosen. Jobseekers are directed to the relevant job seeker categories 
based on their experience and their interests in care work. Job seekers are expected to complete the 
recruitment pathway, by following whichever route into social care that is best for them. SkillsHouse will 
support job seekers with completing of the Care Certificate. SkillsHouse will ensure that applicants are fully 
understand what is expected of them as part of the recruitment pathway.  
 
The different job seeker categories can be found in the flow chart below.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103

https://bradfordcares.co.uk/


28 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5.7 Quick Wins 
We invited members of the Service Improvement Board for the Home Support Services alongside internal 
colleagues, to discuss ways the council can support providers over the winter period with packages coming out 
of hospitals, whilst recruitment and staffing is challenging. 
 
 
There were a number of suggestions brought forward, and providers were asked to prioritise those which they 
felt would be the most beneficial and achievable. Successes included, parking passes for Home Support staff 
(on par with District Nurses), access to volunteer –driven 4X4 vehicles for emergencies and sharing of staff 
benefits 
 
7. Proposals for New Ways of Working  

 
Below are 4 new ways of working which draw on the research detailed in section 6. These are not mutually 
exclusive, for example self-governing teams will need to be community-based, utilising a strength-based 
approach to support.  
 
We need to be brave, we need to think long-term, we need to trust 
 
7.1 Self-Governing Teams 
These are self-managed teams that focus on person-centred care and supporting people in their 
communities, inspired by the Buurtzorg and Helen Sanderson approaches as detailed in section 6.2.1. 
 
It is a move away from time and task to more outcome – based results therefore also incorporate Outcome 
Based Commissioning detailed in 6.2.2. as well as a Community Led Support approach. It will involve a 
substantial culture change for Providers but also Social Workers with a view to working to outcome focussed 
care and support plans.  
 
 
 
 

Potential Features  Potential benefits 

Small, self-governing teams which are 
neighbourhood based 

 Increased staff retention- more valued/ 
trusted, guaranteed income, set hours 

More emphasis on developing self-care, 
community links, unpaid support, AST 
before delivering personal care.  

 Reduction in budget 
Security of Hours 

Consistent, recognisable staff.  Better outcomes for people.  

Builds on CLS approach  More personal and person-centred 

Move from time and task to outcome 
based 

 More flexible and able to respond to 
quickly 

Page 104



29 
 

Move to permanent contracts/  Could everyone have some level of 
reablement? 

Shift patterns (no split shifts)  Staff more valued/ trusted – staff 
retention 

Utilise non-drivers.  Opens up recruitment pool.  

  Job Security 
Note – the benefits are not necessarily aligned to the features 

 
7.2 Integrated Teams 

 
- These would be based in the community and be more integrated with Heath and Social Care Teams as 

detailed in section 6.2.3  
- This could range from working more closely with Social Workers and/ or co-location to fuller integration 

with Health colleagues  
- These Locality boundaries are (for the most part) running close to Area Team boundaries and could be 

potentially mapped against Primary Care Networks.  
 

 
Potential Features  Potential Benefits 

Build on 5 Area team Localities and/ or 
12 Bradford and District community 
partnerships 

 Better experience for Service Users/ 
continuity of care 

Co-locations  Fewer complaints and requests for new 
provider.  

Joined-up, holistic approach.   Reduced staff turnover 

Better links in to VCS and informal 
networks 

 Reduction in commissioned support 

Reduced travel time.   Bigger pool of potential workers 

Utilise non-drivers.   
 

Established providers with a good 
knowledge and links to the local area 

 
 

Note– the benefits are not necessarily aligned to the features 
 
7.3 Skilled workforce/ career of choice 
 
This is reimagining the workforce so that the Home Support staff can be skilled – up/ specialise in different 
areas.  
 

Potential Features  Potential benefits 

Career progression/ opportunities within 
smaller teams 

 More attractive to potential staff 

Specialities: range from domestic, 
personal care and healthcare* 

 Care priming market for Health 

Page 105



30 
 

Apprenticeships  Better retention 

Different rates of pay/ better remunerated  More esteemed career 
 
More Skilled Up workforce 

Note– the benefits are not necessarily aligned to the features 
 
 
7.4 Technology 

 
This is the incorporating elements (or more) of that detailed in Assistive Technology at 7.4  

 
Potential Features  Potential benefits 

ECM  Greater independence for Service users 

Info sharing  Reduced spend – fewer calls 
Don’t have to keep telling the same story 

Telecare  Prevention, early intervention when 
trends show intervention required and 
greater independence for the service 
user.  
Increased peace of mind for the family 

Assistive Technology/  
Technology Enabled Care (TEC)  

 May be less intrusive  
Free up staff time  

Note – the benefits are not necessarily aligned to the features 
 
8. What is our appetite for change? Feedback from DMT 

 
 
A workshop was held with DMT. As part of this, an exercise discussing what was in scope/ out of scope took 
place, with some clear and some still to be explored. 
 
There was also a lot of appetite for the above new ways of working, and a high-level prioritisation exercise 
was completed which indicates when different aspects of the models should be rolled out. This will be 
considered in the next stage.  
 
 
9. Next Steps 
 
 
Model Development 
- Discussions to be held with other Commissioned Areas to develop a firmer picture of services in-scope (or 

in principle) 
- Commissioning to bring back a firmer proposal to DMT to include: 

- Outline plan and model 
- Recommendations for contract type 
- Options Appraisal re procurement 
- Risk and Issue log 
- Decision logs 

- Dependent on commitment and resource from all partners 
 
 
10.  Authors and Approvers 

Page 106



31 
 

10.1 Author Alex Lorrison, Jacqui Turner, Rominder Dhothar  
Date: 18/08/2022                                                  
 
 
 
  

Page 107



32 
 

Appendix 1 
Consultation themes from 1 to 1 meetings with managers across the system 
 
Key Positives 

• Change is already happening and there is appetite for improving further 
• Co-production, partnership working and increased communication are the key areas teams are 

working on 
• We have good foundations to build upon and expand on 
• There is recognition that change will not happen in isolation and teams are ready to take further 

steps into co production 
 
Issues/theme Detail How we can 

mitigate/solve/address 
Issue Area –  
Hospital/ 
Procurement/ 
Commissioning 

Flow of patient 
journey 

Challenges throughout 
the whole system 
 
Patients are being 
discharged from hospital 
to make way for those 
who are waiting to be 
admitted and can 
sometimes risk being 
readmitted 
 
Patients being 
discharged to BEST and 
they are struggling to 
then make space by 
discharging in to the 
provider market 

Solution is system wide and will 
be impacted by all the measures 
put in place to address issues 
noted below 

System wide 

Locality 
Contracts 

Providers are unable to 
take 100% of the 
individuals due to staff 
capacity 
 
Restricts choice for 
individuals about 
providers 
 
Challenges if there is a 
provider breakdown 
 
Been propping up with 
layers of additional 
contracts 
 
Providers given locality 
contracts where they do 
not usually have a 
presence 
 
Larger companies are 
finding it difficult to enter 
the market 

Move from locality with only 1 
provider and consider a shared 
option of 70/30 or other so 
providers can flex between each 
other in the locality areas or a 
provider in one area and 
neighbouring localities can 
provide for the 30% 
 
Ensure providers can 
demonstrate the positives of their 
local presence or an ability to be 
locally present and able to meet 
demand within a set timeframe – 
this becomes easier with a 
shared locality 
 
Move from legacy contracts to 
new provider contract – can only 
be done quickly and efficiently if 
we get the capacity and flow right 
 
Work closely with provider 
market to keep stability and 

Commissioning – 
tender, tender 
questions and 
specification clauses 
 
 
Some input from 
Procurement and 
Legal 
 
Consultation input 
from providers 
 
Input from SW and 
BEST re 
assessments to 
transfer to the new 
providers 

Page 108



33 
 

Issues/theme Detail How we can 
mitigate/solve/address 

Issue Area –  
Hospital/ 
Procurement/ 
Commissioning 

 
Smaller companies are 
struggling to meet 
capacity demand 
 
Too much change 
causes instability in the 
provider market due to 
staff uncertainty 
 
Providers can go in to 
default with few to no 
consequences as the 
tender process is 
considered lengthy 

capacity in place during any 
transitions - need to work within 
the legal and procurement 
framework when doing this 
 
Will all individuals need to be 
assessed to transfer?  If staying 
with same provider no 
assessments and prioritise those 
who will be changing, BEST 
assessment will sufficient for 
transfer. Will need to consider 
procedure and SW message 
needs to be rigorous 
 
We need to take action when 
providers go in to contract default 
in a timely ways 

End of Life 
Pathway on 
Discharge from 
Hospital 

Discharges from hospital 
for end of life care are 
sent to providers who 
are not able to navigate 
the fast track pathway 
resulting in additional 
assessments and poorer 
care for the individual 
 
BEST not always being 
able to pick up in the 4 
hour guideline 

Providers to liaise closely with 
BEST to work together to move 
the individual to the fast track 
service using the OT specialist 
within the BEST team 
 
Reviewing the discharge process 
and potential for co-producing 
internal standards to work too 
 
https://chshealthcare.co.uk/ 

Commissioning with 
specification clauses 
for working with 
BEST and 
developing 
knowledge and links 
to the Fast Track 
service 

BEST – flow and 
capacity issues 

struggling to be able take 
cases from the hospital 
and at the other end to 
move people on in to 
home care providers 
 
Receiving inappropriate 
referrals eg UCR for 
Mental Health support or 
for where enablement 
element not required 
which takes time to 
redirect 

BEST to be fully staffed 
 
A flexible STEP contract or 
clause in specification to step up 
and step down for BEST peaks 
and troughs.  Better flow would 
resolve this too 
 
Communication and training 
across the teams to raise 
awareness and understanding of 
appropriate referrals and 
pathways to ensure better patient 
care and support 

Commissioning with 
Specification 
 
communication ?? 

Hospital 
Discharge and 
BEST  

BEST not picking up 
packages quickly 
enough for the hospital 
 
BEST finding the 
hospital delays to be 
challenging for pick up 
 

Co-location has been very 
positive for understanding other 
team pressures 
 
Trusted assessor model works 
well in Bradford and would be a 
solid base for co-producing 
internal standards for discharge 

Hospital and BEST 
collaboration 
 
Can we do capacity 
modelling? 

Page 109

https://chshealthcare.co.uk/


34 
 

Issues/theme Detail How we can 
mitigate/solve/address 

Issue Area –  
Hospital/ 
Procurement/ 
Commissioning 

Hospital teams not 
joined up which can 
cause pressures with 
clunky discharges 
 
Discharge on pathway 
one is the biggest 
challenge for hospital 
(now moved to home 
first model but old 
pathway one cohort still 
a challenge) 
 
Hospitals putting people 
where there are spaces 
and this results in poor 
care 

pathways which could include 
discharge slots 
 
East Lancs have a set number of 
slots each day for discharge and 
patients get booked in and 
suggested as potential model to 
adapt 

BEST and 
Existing 
Packages 

On discharge BEST will 
take on the whole 
package as enablement 
even if they had an 
existing package before 
 
Providers are not taking 
back the original 
package, particularly if 
they are unable to 
accommodate an 
increase 

Consider split packages between 
BEST and provider during 
enablement process with option 
for BEST to step down and 
provider to step up where 
appropriate to maintain continued 
support for the individual 

Commissioning 
through specification 
clauses 
 
Closer collaboration 
with BEST and 
Providers 

STEP Contract T&Cs do not have any 
enablement aspects and 
positive outcomes are 
not as high as BEST 
 
Links with flow – BEST 
had capacity issues so 
STEP introduced who 
had capacity issues and 
home care introduced 
 
 

Assisted Lives do good 
partnership working with BEST – 
pull this in to future contracts 
 
Specific clauses around working 
in co-production with BEST, 
consider areas of co-location for 
specific points during the transfer 
of the individual to a STEP 
service 
 
Consider if STEP service should 
be additional step up step down 
service or built in to the main 
contract.  How much is required if 
BEST is not carrying vacancies 
 
BEST OT assessor will facilitate 
a more timely ability to move 
person on to a chargeable 
service after enablement has 
finished 

Commissioning and 
procurement – T&Cs 
and Specification, 
tender questions 
 
 
BEST, in particular 
OT assessors 

Page 110



35 
 

Issues/theme Detail How we can 
mitigate/solve/address 

Issue Area –  
Hospital/ 
Procurement/ 
Commissioning 

S243 – changes 
to packages and 
cessation of 
packages  

Currently no incentive to 
work out issues prior to 
provider breakdown 
 
Providers submitting 
S243 increases months 
after they have 
commenced and 
requesting backdated 
payments 
 
S243 increases in 
provision being paid for 
months without an 
assessment occurring  
 
Support Options 
spending a substantive 
amount of time to unpick 
issues each week and to 
check backdated 
payments which could 
be utilised more 
effectively to reduce 
other pressures within 
their team 

Put in place processes that 
incentivise open communication 
and trust to resolve issues when 
first raised 
 
SW to work proactively to 
support individual and provider 
communication and manage 
expectations of call times 
 
BEST dedicated OTs to carry out 
rapid assessments to approve 
increases to packages 
 
Cease backdated payments for 
increases due to late submission 
of S243 by provider 
 
Having staff who are reflective of 
communities and who are 
culturally capable and supportive 

Commissioning 
through specification 
clauses 
 
Procurement 
 
Communication with 
providers and SW to 
support resolving of 
issues at first 
instance 
 
Collaboration 
between BEST and 
providers 

Communication 
and 
understanding of 
roles across 
teams 

Teams along the whole 
system – know their area 
but not clear on what it 
available from other 
teams in the process 
 
Area highlighted - 
Inconsistent messages 
from SW and lack of 
understanding on their 
part about how their 
decisions impact on 
other teams 

Co-location 
 
Co-production 
 
Work shadowing 
 
Central hub for information and 
sign posting available across the 
whole system 

Hospital 
 
BEST 
 
Providers 
 
Commissioning 
 
Contracts 
 
Procurement 

Providers Hospital retainers being 
paid but not taking 
person back, especially if 
there is an increase 
 
Being able to step up 
and step down support 
to react to a temporary 
situation eg urine 
infection 
 
Recruitment and 
retention issues for 
provider staff 

Suggestion of considering Time 
Out model of annualised hours to 
support step up and step down 
situations 
 
Look at fair cost of care and 
providers signing up to Ethical 
Care Charter 
 
Potential for exploring mix of 
contract types for provider staff to 
improve staff retention including 
shift work 

Commissioning 
specification and 
T&Cs clauses 
 
Procurement 
 
Providers 

Page 111



36 
 

Issues/theme Detail How we can 
mitigate/solve/address 

Issue Area –  
Hospital/ 
Procurement/ 
Commissioning 

 
Providers do not have 
the capacity to be agile 
and responsive to rapid 
response packages or 
taking packages out of 
hours 

Providers and 
Home Care 
Tasks 

Home care contract 
delivering for social 
inclusion, shopping, 
cleaning etc. and we are 
unable to establish how 
much of the contract is 
delivering this type of 
work – packages that 
include these types of 
tasks mask the true 
picture of positive 
outcomes for 
enablement 
 
Providers are cherry 
picking contracts that 
they have staff skills to 
deliver so more complex 
packages are not always 
picked up in a timely 
manner as providers do 
not always have the skill 
set available to deliver 
that support 

Consider additional payment 
lines on ContrOCC to enable 
analysis of support types – will 
require SW to ensure they select 
the correct payment lines when 
inputting a package 
 
Split costs for differing levels of 
skills within the contract  
Enabling requires longer to carry 
out than doing for and will need 
to be addressed within call times 
 
Need to skill up providers to 
undertake more complex work or 
support health for enablement 
packages 

Support Options 
 
Commissioning 
 
Providers 

Staff recruitment 
across Providers 
BEST and Health 

Some staff are moving 
from one sector to 
another as the 
opportunities for career 
progression are limited 
by the current time and 
task model 

A more holistic view of career 
progression and training to 
undertake different types of tasks 
within sectors could increase the 
opportunities for individual staff 
within areas to flex up and down 
to roles that are a good fit with 
their ambitions and skill sets. Eg 
training workers to take bloods 
and increase pay in line with 
skills 

Providers 
 
Commissioning 
 
Hospitals 
 
Health 
 
BEST 

Support Options 
and BEST 
brokerage 
systems 

Have 2 brokerage 
systems  
 
BEST contact the 
providers to place 
enablement packages 
and push the packages 
towards them 
 
Support Options place 
packages on Connect to 

Review the two systems to work 
out how they can be streamlined 
to work in partnership and reduce 
potential for provider issues  

BEST and Support 
Options 

Page 112



37 
 

Issues/theme Detail How we can 
mitigate/solve/address 

Issue Area –  
Hospital/ 
Procurement/ 
Commissioning 

Support for providers to 
pull packages 

Support Options  constantly first point of 
call for queries 

Set up a central information 
portal for FAQs to reduce the 
amount of queries and recurring 
queries 

Support Options 
Commissioning for 
sign posting 

 
 

Page 113



38 
 

Appendix 2 
Home Support Survey Summary - Providers 

 
The survey was sent to all providers currently delivering Home Support for Bradford via the Commissioning 
Inbox on 10 June 2022.  A reminder was sent on 17 and 20 June.  The Bradford Care Association also 
circulated the email to provider encouraging them to respond to the survey.  The closing date for 
responses was 6pm Monday 20th June 
 
There are currently 82 providers who deliver services for Home Care and we had 25 responses giving a 
30% response rate.  The survey was designed so that it could be anonymous but allowed for details should 
anyone wish to put themselves forward to be contacted further and 16 providers left contact details. 
 
What type of Home Care contract(s) do you hold or deliver in the Bradford District? (please tick all 
that apply) 

 
 
 
What length of support do you deliver? 

 
 
 
What types of support do you deliver? (please tick all that apply) 

 
 
 

Page 114



39 
 

Outside of workforce, what are your biggest challenges? 
 
Challenges  Biggest 

challenges 
Top two 

Organisational costs/overheads 4 3 
Family intervention in care eg giving medication 1  
Staff pay 1 3 
Compliance with red tape/recruitment 4 2 
Recruitment 5 6 
Digital Innovation 1 1 
Location of calls 1 1 
Fuel costs/ cost of living 7 6 
Accurate information from Bradford colleagues 4 2 
Consistency of SW 1 1 

 
Specific areas that have been highlighted as issues around working practice are 

• Family intervention, sometimes meds are given before care staff arrive so the Dossette box has an 
empty slot which we have to then chase to find out why which is time consuming 

• Setting new employee quickly so they can join the team 
• getting correct and accurate information regarding potential residents 
• Chasing payments with Support Options 
• poor hospital discharges 
• dates for transfer not being passed on to the various agencies people who need to know 
• Assessment with inaccurate or out of date information. 
• not recognised by Bradford Council in comparison to the bigger companies 
• having a regular social worker for people being supported if their needs change.  

 
 
Specific areas that have been highlighted as issues around the contract are 

• Travel and location of calls 
• Voids in properties in areas that are not desirable to people looking at vacancies 
• Not having a contract with Bradford Council 
• lack of support from the council 
• Processes of tendering for small businesses  
• lack of information and direction provided to care providers who are not on the Bradford Council 

framework 
 
What is working well? 
 
Working Well  Biggest impact Top two 
Carer/service user relationships  4 3 
Internal team working 6 4 
Staff and staff retention 5 4 
Investing in staff - training and career pathway 5 6 
Digital solutions 4 4 
The geographic placement of packages  3 1 
Recruitment 2 2 
Support from Bfd 3 1 
Staff pay 1  

 
Specific areas that have been highlighted around supporting staff are 

• Training programme - New in house programme specifically designed for our company 
• We have invested in a career pathway that provides front line staff the opportunity to develop within 

the business 
• Staff on line training 

Page 115



40 
 

 
 
Specific areas that have been highlighted around digital solutions are 

• Electronic systems e.g. real time care records and training platform. 
• Care management app, electronic system is going well, as contributes towards making the service 

more effective 
• Technology has made life easier using mobile Apps 

 
 
Specific areas that have been highlighted around the Local Authority are 

• The geographic placement of packages 
• Communication with the local authority regarding adjustments and reassessments 
• Working closely with Best and the professionals - sometimes they do understand our predicament 

 
 
It is recognised that workforce is one of the most pressing issues generally for Home Support, what 
do you feel are the specific challenges you have encountered recently in this area? 
 
Specific Challenges   
Recruitment 12 
Pay 8 
Cost of living 8 
Non drivers 4 

 
The biggest issue identified is the recruitment of staff and the barriers of unsocial hours, low pay and the 
rising costs of living that are affecting the ability of staff to use their own vehicles due to the rising fuel 
costs.  One provider has mentioned they have been subsidising the cost of petrol for their employees 
 
 
Specific areas that have been highlighted are 

• People not wanting to join care and not being able to drive 
• Petrol costs - staff threatening not to use their cars for work 
• There is no integration on the frontline between health and social care 
• Staff continue to feel undervalued and second class to NHS 
• Recruitment in Bradford is the biggest challenge and there is little support from the Commissioning 

team, apart from pressure 
• inability to recruit staff who can drive 
• Non drivers applying for driver roles 

Page 116



 
 

 

Report of the Director of Legal and Governance to the 
meeting of the Health and Social Care Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee to be held on 6 October 2022 

K 
 
 
Subject:  Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Draft Work Programme 2022/23 
 
 
 
Summary statement:  
This report presents the Committee’s work programme 2022/23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 Portfolio:   
 
Healthy People and Places 
 

Report Contact: Caroline Coombes 
Phone: (01274) 432313 
E-mail: 
caroline.coombes@bradford.gov.uk  

   
 
 
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 8/

mailto:caroline.coombes@bradford.gov.uk


Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

  

1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report presents the Committee’s work programme 2022/23. 
 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is required by the Constitution of the 

Council to prepare a work programme (Part 3E – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules, Para 1.1). 

 
 
3. Report issues 
 
3.1 Appendix A of this report presents the work programme 2022/23. It lists issues 

and topics that have been identified for inclusion in the work programme and have 
been scheduled for consideration over coming year. 

 
3.2. Best practice published by the Centre for Public Scrutiny suggests that ‘work 

programming should be a continuous process’1. It is important to regularly review 
work programmes so that important or urgent issues that come up during the year 
are able to be scrutinised.  In addition, at a time of limited resources, it should also 
be possible to remove projects which have become less relevant or timely.  For this 
reason, it is proposed that the Committee’s work programme be regularly reviewed 
by Members throughout the municipal year. 

 
4. Options 
 
4.1 Members may wish to amend and / or comment on the work programme at 

Appendix A.   
 
5. Contribution to corporate priorities 
 
5.1 The Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

2022/23 reflects the priority outcomes of the Council Plan, in particular, ‘Better 
Health, Better Lives’ and ‘Living with Covid-19’2.  It also reflects the guiding 
principals of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Bradford and Airedale 
‘Connecting people and place for better health and wellbeing’. 

 
6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 That the Committee notes the information in Appendix A and considers any 

amendments or additions it may wish to make. 
 
6.2 That the Work Programme 2022/23 continues to be regularly reviewed during the 

year. 
 
 
 

 
1 Hammond, E. (2011) A cunning plan? p. 8, London: Centre for Public Scrutiny 
2 Our Council Plan: Priorities and Principles 2021-25 https://www.bradford.gov.uk/councilplan 

Page 118

https://www.bradford.gov.uk/councilplan


Report to the Health and Social Care Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

 

7. Background documents 
 
 None 
 
8. Not for publication documents 
 
 None 
 
9. Appendices 
 
9.1 Appendix A – Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee work 

programme 2022/23 
 
 

Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A Appe 

Democratic Services - Overview and Scrutiny 
 Health and Social Care O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Caroline Coombes tel - 43 2313 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Thursday, 24th November 2022 at City Hall, Bradford 
 Chair's briefing 09/11/22 Report deadline 14/11/22 
 1) Shipley Hospital / Keighley Healthcare Estate TBC This may be two separate reports  Helen Farmer / Robert  Last update on Shipley Hospital  
 / items Madden received 5 March 2020 
 2) Implementation of 'host commissioner'  TBC Iain Macbeath / Michelle  Resolution of 21 October 2021 
 arrangements Turner 
 3) Covid-19 update Update Caroline Tomes Resolution of 18 Nov 21 
 4) Community Diagnosis Hubs Update on plans to deliver additional  Helen Farmer 
 diagnostic capacity to deliver a faster  
 service and require fewer visits for  
 patients to access a range of  
 diagnostic tests 

 Thursday, 15th December 2022 at City Hall, Bradford 
 Chair's briefing 29/11/22 Report deadline 05/12/22 
 1) Mental wellbeing To include information on the reviews  Sarah Exall / Kris Farnell Resolution of 16 Dec 21 
 of IAPT and older people 
 2) Re-imagining day services To include information on the co- Gareth Flemyng Resolution of 18 Nov 21 
 production partnership and people with 
 lived experience be invited to attend 

 Thursday, 19th January 2023 at City Hall, Bradford 
 Chair's briefing 05/01/23 Report deadline 09/01/23 
 1) Cap on care costs / contributions policy TBC Jane Wood Care Act 2014 allowed for a cap on  
 care costs but implementation was  
 postponed.  Amended by the Health  
 and Care Act 2022 and now expected  
 to be implemented in 2023 
 2) Cancer Outcomes of the lung cancer pilot  Janet Hargreaves Resolution of 13 June 2019 (postponed 
 programme and update on cancer  from April 2020) 
 waiting times target performance 

 23rd September 2022 Page 1 of 2 
 

P
age 121



 Health and Social Care O&S Committee 
 Scrutiny Lead: Caroline Coombes tel - 43 2313 
 Work Programme 
 Agenda  Description Report  Comments 
 Thursday, 16th February 2023 at City Hall, Bradford 
 Chair's briefing 01/02/23 Report deadline 06/02/23 
 1) Respiratory Health in Bradford District Update Public Health Resolution of 22 November 2018 to  
 have an update in 2 years 
 2) Safeguarding Adults Strategic Plan and Multi- Update TBC Resolution of 6 September 2018 
 Agency Safeguarding Hub 
 3) 0-19 Children's Public Health Services Update on performance with Bradford  Contact: Liz Barry Resolution of 23 June 2022 
 District Care Trust 

 Thursday, 23rd March 2023 at City Hall, Bradford 
 Chair's briefing 08/03/23 Report deadline 13/03/23 
 1) Adult Autism The Committee has resolved its  TBC Resolution of 17 March 22 
 expectation that 80% (256) of the  
 projected number of assessments  
 will have been delivered by March 2023.   
 Report to also include a plan to ensure the 
 sustainability and continued improvement  
 of the service 

 23rd September 2022 Page 2 of 2 

P
age 122


	Agenda
	5 UPDATE ON PRIMARY CARE - GENERAL PRACTICE
	6 ASSESSMENT AND DIAGNOSIS OF AUTISM IN ADULTS IN BRADFORD DISTRICT AND CRAVEN: UPDATE ON PROGRESS AND CHALLENGES
	Appendix 1    Projected activity for 100 assessments project
	Appendix 2   Letter to patients re next steps
	Appendix 3  BANDS adult autism assessment process
	Appx 4
	Appendix 5 Neuro Diversity Group Project Plan Sept.22

	7 HOME SUPPORT REVIEW: UPDATE AND COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS
	2022.09.15 Home Support Review_HSOSC

	8 HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23
	Work programme app A


